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CORPORATE PROFILE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited and its subsidiaries manufacture and distribute
quality dairy products in China. It is one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in
China, with MENGNIU as its core brand. Mengniu's diversified products range includes
liquid milk products (such as UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula
and other dairy products (such as cheese). Mengniu’s liquid milk products ranked first, in
terms of sales volume and sales value, among similar products in China in 2013, according
to China Industrial Information Issuing Centre. By the end of December 2013, the Group’s
annual production capacity reached 7.77 million tons. In March 2014, Mengniu became
a Hang Seng Index constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy product
manufacturer.
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HIGHLIGHTS
=

2013 2012 Change
—E-=F ZE—fF 2E)
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Restated* %
ARETR AREEF T
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=1+—HLFE 4 i Epaisd
Revenue A 43,356,908 35,999,990 20.4%
Gross profit ESAl 11,697,245 8,949,998 30.7%
Profit attributable to owners of the KAEHEB AEEFE
Company 1,630,925 1,303,101 25.2%
Net cash inflow from operating activities K& EKELHFHESTA 3,283,679 1,881,484 74.5%
Earnings per share (RMB) SRABFI(ARKEIT)
— Basic —HAK 0.904 0.737 22.7%
— Diluted — s 0.896 0.737 21.6%

Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2012. According to the revised
requirements of IFRS 11 on “Joint Venture Arrangement”, Mengniu's
investment in Mengniu-Arla joint venture has been adjusted from
based on the proportion of investment to recognition using the equity
method.

The Chinese government has initiated policies to facilitate
industry consolidation, set higher entry barriers, investigate
monopolistic practices on imported milk formula products
and relax the one-child policy. These policies support the long
term healthy development of the industry and create immense
opportunities for leading enterprises such as Mengniu.

Mengniu has actively adjusted product portfolio based on the
market situation, embarked on the development of the yogurt
and milk beverage businesses with stronger growth potential,
and reduced the proportion of raw milk-based products.
The Group enhanced its profitability through restructuring
of its brands, allocating more resources to key brands, and
integrating sales channels. These efforts have steadily boosted
the Group’s revenue and profit.

The ratio of milk sources provided by scaled ranches and farms
has reached 94%, ensuring product safety from the source.

Mengniu has increased shareholding in Modern Dairy and
invested in YST Dairy to better assure quality milk sources.

Mengniu has signed a framework agreement with Danone
Group to integrate and restructure both parties’ chilled dairy
business in China and jointly develop the chilled product
business through a joint venture.

Mengniu has acquired Yashili to capture the swift growth
opportunities in the domestic pediatric milk formula market.

Data from Nielsen Company, a market research firm, reveals

that Mengniu’s liquid milk and chilled yogurt retained their
throne in terms of market share in 2013.
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HIGHLIGHTS =

Revenue by Product Mix (For the year ended 31 December)
REMESZBWA(BEZE+T=-A=1+—HLFE)

Liquid Milk Ice Cream Milk Formula Other Dairy Products
R A 5% ARG

21773
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Revenue by Product Mix in Liquid Milk Segment (For the year ended 31 December)
BRENEMRE T WA (BE+=-A=ZT—HLFE)

\ UHT Milk Milk Beverages Yogurt
UHT#A FLERE 232
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{ For illustration purpose, it included 50% of revenue of the joint AAEHE HBEAL AT ELE50%H UL
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

TERIER KK

The Group
Became a pilot enterprise for the “Food Safety Traceability System”
introduced by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology

Received the “Best Investor Relations during a Corporate
Transaction” award at the /R Magazine Greater China 2013

Received the “The Asset Triple A Award — 2012 China’s Most
Promising Company” and the “Excellence in Management and
Corporate Governance 2013 — Titanium Award” from The Asset
magazine in Hong Kong

Became the only company receiving Weibo's “Outstanding
Contribution to Charity for the Year Award”, thanks to the strong
influence of the campaign “Mengniu Cares” within the Weibo
community

Received the “2013 Top Brand with the Best Social Responsibility
Practice” award from the Organising Committee of the China
Business Leaders & Media Leaders Annual Conference

Management

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, was honoured with the “Outstanding
Entrepreneurship Award” at the 4th Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship
Awards from Enterprise Asia

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, garnered the “2013 China Corporate Social
Responsibility Award for an Outstanding Entrepreneur” from
the Xinhua Net and the Research Center for Corporate Social
Responsibility, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences

Mengniu Brand
Elected as the “Favourite Brand of PARKNSHOP Award” by Hong
Kong supermarket chain PARKNnSHOP

Mengniu Products

Milk Deluxe garnered the “Gold Award of Dairy Products” at the
7th BioFach China, co-hosted by China Green Food Development
Center and NiUrnbergMesse Group

Yoyi C received two honours, the “Rising Star” and “Mother’s
Favourite Brand Award” at the “14th Favourite Brands Awards” by
Hong Kong supermarket chain Wellcome

Yoyi C retained the top position in the “Lactic Acid Bacteria Drinks
C-BPI"” compiled by the Chinese Enterprise Brand Research Center

Champion was ranked first in the “Yogurt C-BPI Brand” category by
the Chinese Enterprise Brand Research Center

Oushi Infant Milk Formula received the “Products with Stable
Quality” certification from the China Dairy Industry Association

REH

KATEIEHR RRnEL2 BB R IER
B E

(IR Magazine)2013 K EE[ P ER FHEER
BEBIRIR

BEBCH E ) M [ The Asset Triple A
Award-2012& H7B P Bk |8 R[2013F &

ERRNRE - KRB

BRI REOTH INBRAMBRE S - SRS
FEASBRE ] A —RENRE

BEPECEEMBEHEEHMTFSHATSEE
[2013FEREHSE(TmAE I KE

&I fE
BEREF LT RETHO LR BERT ALY
¥E 1 2 DU R [ 17 2 SE R 58 |

BEFF LT ETEREP T @RISR EE
B MEMEFEMIEFRO[2013FEF L ET
SETHRODERE]

5 F m e

EEBAEEMPERIBEREMmEAE]

%7&

Bz F R E R
miENE—%]

5[ 1t 2847 52 A 7 0 SR R B P B o T X W & 7R
B[ o E R E m TR

¥ MmO A B 45 C-BP

hESEURARAT —T-=FFE 5




10 MAJOR EVENTS OF MENGNIU IN 2013
—E-SEERFTABH

M Initiating value-added cross-departmental collaboration project
ar (Project V)
RBERSHEEEERR (VER)

In light of the surge in raw material costs in 2013, departments of operation,
marketing and R&D joined forces to establish Project V to optimise internal costs.
Cross-departmental collaboration brought enormous economic benefit to the
Group.

FE2013F REVRESBRAKNE LROER - L& - Ly RFERFERRKL
TVIEE - BEREKA  BBERGIRE - RAKBEANE T EANLERE ©

20/4 Disaster relief in Ya’an City, Sichuan Province
R | 22 B 3K
Immediately after the outbreak of the Magnitude 7 earthquake in Ya'an City, Sichuan
Province, Mengniu donated more than 10,000 cartons of milk and a cash amount of RMB10
million. Mengniu had also sent a rescue team of volunteers to offer a helping hand on relief
work in the disaster area.

Pl e B A T AR - SRAIRAEE10,000/8 4 IR AR 1,0008 LR - Wk EREE
PRGBS —REEENR - 20E -

BAREE

8/5 Reinforcing its leading position in the raw milk sourcing by increasing
shareholding in Modern Dairy

BIFRAYCE - BILHRELES C 5 ;

Mengniu became the single largest shareholder of Modern Dairy, the largest dairy (= 5\ !

breeding company in China, with its stake rising from 1% to 28%. Mengniu’s milk _
out 04°% RALEEEE

sources provided by ranches and scaled farms reached about 94%, with a goal to reach
100% by 2015.

SERBPERAN DT RECERRUENRG - RREM1%8E28%  RARRK ;ﬁ’?’%‘ﬁ“ﬁ
HEE AR - 4B AREL - SOEDHIRERAZELN4% - BIRR20155 2

RIE IR 100% JRIRRAL - 41 ©

20/5 Speeding up the development of yogurt business in China through collaboration with
COFCO Group and Danone Group

54~ fIREE - DANONESE B F iR 3% R P BB 555

Mengniu, COFCO Group and Danone Group entered into an agreement, whereby Danone Group becomes a
strategic shareholder with approximately 4% of Mengniu's shares through the establishment of a joint venture
with COFCO Group. Meanwhile, Mengniu and Danone Group would merge their chilled yogurt business in China
and establish a joint venture, engaged in the production and sales of chilled yogurt. With the synergies created
by the introduction of Danone Group’s globally-leading technology in quality control and innovation capabilities,
Mengniu would be able to provide consumers with a wider range of quality yogurt products in China.

54 - FEEE KDanoneE B H F A - Danone R EMBETBEBKIAELE  FERTOI%EN - KA
SEMERACR ¢ AR - S4BEDanone kB & 0F BIMERB N X - MRAEQREHERRY - 45
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29/5 Organising a charity campaign - “Looking for Teachers with the Most
Beautiful Hearts in Rural Areas”

[EREEBNHE DRED
Supported by the extensive efforts from all of its staff and business partners, Mengniu
organised a charity campaign “Looking for Teachers with the Most Beautiful Hearts in Rural
Areas” in 22 provinces and cities across the country, along with a number of charity events
such as “Have a Lesson in My Hometown"”, “Happy Gift”, “Public Lessons by Teachers in
Rural Areas” and “Care from Ten CEOs for Teachers with the Most Beautiful Hearts in Rural
Areas”.
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Launching Mengniu'’s first-of-its-kind UHT yogurt Just Yoghurt 3 1 /5
BERERRSMAT LT

Just Yoghurt, the first-of-its-kind UHT yogurt of Mengniu, was launched. In recent years, UHT yogurt

products have been considered by the industry as a dairy category enjoying ever-growing potential

in China, which is expected to reach a value of over RMB10 billion by 2015. As one of Mengniu'’s

opportunity brands, Just Yoghurt can better meet consumers’ demand for healthy food at present days,

and is set to be blessed with unlimited market potential.

ST ERERBEIDAZ LT  LFR - FREFRERNRBENIROFEEE - Be120155 M52
FEARMI00EITUAL - EARFNKEREY —  HBERABRRALERARNEBR - YRR

HMAIE R ERERE o
Building a leading platform of infant milk formula through a controlling interest in Yashili 1 8/6
BERELR  TEERXBYROHFE

Mengniu made a general offer to Yashili at a consideration of HK$11.4 billion. Both parties will leverage their respective
advantages in products, brands, channels, etc. through resources integration and complementary synergies, thus
accelerating the high-end milk formula business. The PRC government is committed to enhancing the quality and safety
of infant milk formula, while encouraging the market consolidation and thus raising industry competitiveness. Against
this backdrop, the cooperation between Mengniu and Yashili is of remarkable significance.

SELNAMERTARENBHEEKERY - ETRBRREANER  fIRRaHER @i  RESTANE
2 MREFHDHEBTR - PEBAHENERNZNHEERD - SBRYZPHERGEME - REEXETEND
Fh o BEEMERT  RTERLIANSERREN -

Initiating the SAP project, implementing an information technology system with the most extensive 22/6
operations coverage within Mengniu to date

RREISAPIEE - RESESEEXBHERENERLER

The implementation of the IT system from SAP, an internationally-leading software supplier, in fields including commercial
intelligence, information management, corporate governance and risk management, more closely links Mengniu'’s business

. strategies and their implementation, thereby optimising operation. The SAP system is pivotal to the upgrade and transformation
‘ | i | of Mengniu's internal system as well as the standardisation of management flows, and can realise the rationalisation of end-to-
end business flows and standards.

SEEPEERE-RNR G ESAPERBEE - FEREE  AFAE RREESZRUNER - CEBBBNNTEREE -
e ERSEBERE - SAPERER TN AATRBE - ERDIZFECOMRBIE - RSN EBREMREORIE

( \

) 7?;(,%&_1#&&::&"’ Setting up a five-tier incentive system Jun
BERIEYRBER

wusssen swsssce | TO incentivise employees’ intrinsic potential in pace with Mengniu’s business
growth, the Group has set up a five-tier incentive system covering the entire
group. This represents a significant evolution of the Group's incentive system in
recent years.

REEBTAEENEETHEAERFRE  AEERE T AEHMEE B2
U 2R TBEERASESEE RN —REE -

Issuing US$500 million bonds, got A- rating - highest in the industry — 21 /1 1
by Standard & Poor’s
BRITSBERES  BEZATFITEA-NRSTIR
Mengniu has closed the book building of its US$500 million 5-year debut bonds issued overseas. This bond
( 7\ issue has received much interest from international investors, with orders from over 200 institutional investors,
and an over-subscription exceeding 5 times. The aggregate subscription amount reached US$3.25 billion. An
international credit rating institution Standard & Poor’s has given an A- credit rating, the highest assigned to
a company in China’s fast-moving consumer goods to date. The bond issue provided Mengniu with overseas

- funds on a long-term, stable basis at a low cost, and also reflected the strong confidence of international
A- Ratlng investors in Mengniu.
SR E RN ETRFHSEETEFNEL I - WREFETEAGREREENSERT - EE8200
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CEO’S STATEMENT
AR HE

The year 2013 was pivotal for Mengniu, eyeing new horizons as
well as evolving and transforming our business model based on the
solid foundation we had built. Further to the reform starting within
the Group in 2012, through various effective initiatives Mengniu
advanced by great leaps in strengthening the groundwork of the
reform, seeking organic growth as well as external cooperation
opportunities with a broader vision. The Group put in place a
system reinforcing internal and external linkage and vertical
integration, thereby framing the basic blueprint for our Five-Year
Strategic Plan and the development beyond.

Looking back into 2013, with the strong support from our major
shareholder COFCO Group, and on the basis of our Five-Year
Strategic Plan, Mengniu embarked on a full-range expansion of our
business portfolio by capitalising on the opportunities arising from
industry-wide consolidation and internationalisation as we forged
a number of strategic partnerships. In May, Mengniu became the
single largest shareholder of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(“Modern Dairy”, stock code: 1117) by increasing the shareholding
interest therein to 28%, thus providing Mengniu with a better
assurance of the quality and supply of premium milk sources.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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CEQ’s Statement & 2E
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In the same month, we embraced Danone S.A. and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Danone Group”) as our international partner,
as both parties agreed to form a joint venture engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of yogurt and other chilled products.
Leveraging Danone Group’s global-leading R&D in yogurt, brand
management and marketing experience, Mengniu will further tap
the huge potential of China’s yogurt market, while bolstering our
technological innovation capabilities. In February 2014, Mengniu
offered Danone Group to increase its interest in Mengniu to 9.9%
through private placement, thus further strengthening the strategic
collaboration between the parties on both shareholding and
operational level. The transaction presents a good opportunity for
COFCO Group, Danone Group and Arla Foods to integrate their
equity interests in Mengniu through formation of a joint venture.
Thanks to the support for Mengniu from our three strategic
shareholders over the past years, we are confident that we can
better seize the opportunities to mature into a global dairy product
enterprise by leveraging their respective strengths.
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CEO’s Statement @&z E

In order to capture the business opportunities arising from the
robust growth in the milk formula market in the PRC, Mengniu
made a general offer to Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”,
stock code: 1230) at a consideration of approximately HK$11.4
billion in June 2013. Subsequently, Mengniu became a controlling
shareholder of Yashili as the two companies joined forces to establish
a leading infant milk formula platform. These initiatives have
been significant steps taken by Mengniu during the course of the
transformation, paving a more solid path for us to remain in the top
spot in China’s dairy industry.

During the year, we have faced challenges brought by the
tightening supply and the hikes in prices of raw milk. We actively
adjusted our product portfolio based on the market situation. We
embarked on the development of the yogurt and milk beverage
businesses with stronger growth potential, and reduced the
proportion of products with over-reliance on raw milk. Through
rationalisation, Mengniu focused on driving growth of key brands.
Profitability was enhanced through the integration of our sales
channels. On the other hand, we reinforced our leading position in
milk sourcing by increasing our shareholding equity in Modern Dairy
and becoming the cornerstone investor of YuanShengTai Dairy Farm
Limited (“YST Dairy”, stock code: 1431).

As for the internal systems, our quality management system has
benchmarked against international standards. We have safeguarded
the quality of our products through the “four carriages”, including
a centralised quality and safety management system together with
three quality management centers of milk sources, operations
and sales respectively. With the introduction of Arla Foods’
advanced ranch management expertise and the adoption of
European standards, we have beefed up our ranch technology and
management. Through the establishment of the joint venture with
Danone Group, the commencement of streamlined management
plus the application of its extensive globalised management
experience, we have been continuously enhancing our operation
and management standards.
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Mengniu’s past success would have been impossible without
the unstinting efforts of employees and our well-established
corporate culture. During the year, enterprise-wide efforts were
made on fulfilling the Group’s responsibility to the community, as
most readily seen in the all-out efforts made by our local staff on
assisting the disaster relief efforts at the frontline of the disaster
zone immediately after the outbreak of the earthquake in Ya'an
City, Sichuan Province in April. Each and every one at Mengniu
is committed to upholding and practicing the corporate culture
of “Sunshine, Nobility, Responsibility and Innovation” to make
Mengniu a trusted brand, and we are really proud of that. In 2013,
we spurred our employees into ongoing contributions to Mengniu’s
sustainable development by formulating a comprehensive incentive
scheme, including a restricted share award scheme in which
restricted shares are granted to core management and outstanding
employees at various levels. This serves as an incentive to give them
a sense of ownership, thus forming a solid base for us to take
Mengniu to a higher level of growth.

The organisational restructuring and the changes in workflow have
imposed higher requirements for Mengniu’s management model
and efficiency. Over the past year, with the standardisation of
our workflow and information data along with the investment of
huge resources in installing a powerful SAP intelligent information
management system, the effectiveness of our operation was
boosted, and our workflow has been continually optimised.

As the Internet has become an essential sales channel, social media
are in widespread use among consumers around the globe and
information spread at an unprecedented speed. We have also
initiated e-commerce and digital marketing activities as we explore
new capabilities through transformation, so as to capture new
opportunities emerging from market development trends.

Strengthening the communication with consumers was also one of
our top priorities. During 2013, more than 1,000,000 consumers
toured Mengniu’s factories and ranches. On the Internet, Mengniu
has established more direct and highly efficient communication with
consumers through a number of interactive platforms including
“Mengniu CS Weibo” and “Your Question, Our Responsibility”.

CEQ’s Statement & 3E
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With our committed effort over the year, Mengniu has received
many accolades as well as wide recognition. As a testament to
our strong presence in Hong Kong’s capital market, Mengniu was
selected into Hang Seng Index on 10 March 2014. Our products
have been warmly received by consumers, winning us numerous
awards within and outside China. Milk Deluxe garnered the
gold award at BioFach in Nuremberg, while Yoyi C was granted
the “Mothers’ Favourite Brand Award” and the “Rising Star” in
the 14th Favourite Brands Awards by Hong Kong supermarket
chain Wellcome. Regarding corporate governance and investor
relations, Mengniu received praise from authoritative magazines
and institutions, notably the “Excellence in Management and
Corporate Governance 2013 — Titanium Award” from Hong Kong
magazine The Asset and the “Best Investor Relations during a
Corporate Transaction” award at the IR Magazine Greater China
2013. On top of that, Mengniu was assigned an A- rating by
Standard & Poor’s, a globally authoritative credit rating institution,
and the best rating ever received by a fast-moving consumer goods
corporation in China. These successes were testimony to Mengniu’s
prudent financial management system, prominent market position
and unrivalled nationwide distribution network. International
investors also showed strong faith in Mengniu. We successfully
completed the book building for the initial offshore issuance of
5-year US$500,000,000 bonds on 21 November, meaning that
international investors have cast a vote of strong confidence
in Mengniu's core competitive edge and future development
strategies.

We are fully aware that Mengniu needs comprehensive and system-
wide reforms, rather than partial changes. Going forward, we
intend to adhere to our philosophy of being “strategically-oriented
and market-driven, while striving for upgrade and transformation
as well as shared growth” and execution of our Five-Year Strategic
Plan. Mengniu will engage in close cooperation with promising dairy
partners at home and abroad. In addition to reinforcing our liquid
milk business, Mengniu aims to consolidate the newly acquired milk
formula platform Yashili and the yogurt business of Danone Group,
initiating a seamless integration at the levels of shareholding,
technology and operation. In terms of building milk sources, we
have increased the proportion of raw milk provided by ranches and
scaled farms to 94% and will continue to optimise the structure of
milk sources in order to manage the costs of raw milk. To support
the scale development of the Group, we plan to allocate funds for
third parties to build small- and medium-sized ranches, with a goal
of diversifying the raw milk supply for Mengniu in the medium
and long run. Mengniu is stepping up market penetration and
expansion of sales channels, so as to build a more comprehensive

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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sales network across the country. By relentlessly striving for
production innovation, we will further adjust our product portfolio,
subdividing product categories, rationalising brands and defining
brand positioning. Resources will be concentrated on the promotion
of key brands.

Mengniu offers tens of millions of consumer quality dairy products
every single day. Recognising our responsibility to satisfy such a
large number of consumers, each and every one of us in Mengniu
is more determined to achieve premium quality, our top priority
of all the time. As we care deeply about the health of consumers,
we never seek business growth at the expense of quality. We are
dedicated to the provision of nutritious and healthy food as we
endeavor to become an innovative fast-moving product enterprise
in China. This is a reflection of our long-held values of “Sunshine,
Nobility, Responsibility and Innovation”.

In contrast to the past, today’s Mengniu has been undergoing
significant changes as we gradually attain international standards
ranging from quality to management. Yet, we remain unchanged
in our unswerving dedication to milk quality: We have been
constantly committed to producing quality milk with every effort,
every change and every step, so that everyone in China can enjoy
health, happiness, growth and well-being. As always, Mengniu
will continue to provide consumers with safe, quality and healthy
dairy products, and to grow side by side with our customers,
employees, consumers, shareholders and all interested parties,
in an effort to create greater value. Looking forward, | hope that
Mengniu will become a well-respected world-class company with
internationalised management standards.

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2014
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MARKET REVIEW

In 2013, China’s dairy cumulative production was about 27 million
tons, a year-on-year increase of 5.2%, while consumption rose by
6.7% to more than 28 million tons. In particular, the consumption
of liquid milk was about 23 million tons, a year-on-year increase
of 6.4%, maintaining growth momentum. As the world’'s second
largest milk producing country, China is also one of the largest
dairy consumers. However, the per capita consumption of dairy
products is less than one-third of the world’s average, reflecting
that China’s dairy industry has a broad scope for development.
With the continued enhancement of China’s per capita disposable
income and the accelerated pace of urbanisation, consumers are
increasingly in pursuit of higher quality and healthier products, a
trend which has benefitted the dairy industry.

Dairy consumption of China’s urban residents is comprised of mainly
liguid milk, making up a major part of the total consumption,
followed by yogurt and milk formula. The development of the
domestic liquid milk market is relatively mature. Meanwhile, along
with the rapid growth of the yogurt market in previous years,
its current consumption accounts for 20% of the dairy market.
Yogurt represents an important direction in the development of the
market, and without doubt will become a new growth point of the
dairy industry.

To restore the community’s confidence in local dairy products, the
PRC government introduced a number of significant measures in
2013 with a view to improve environment for the dairy industry.
During the year under review, nine ministries including the China

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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Charity campaign — “Looking for Teachers with the Most Beautiful
Hearts in Rural Areas”

[SHREEBNHE ] AREE

Food and Drug Administration (“CFDA") and the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology (“MIT") initiated measures
to raise the industry’s entry barriers with an intention to phase
out original equipment manufacturers (“OEM"”) and rationalise
the market. Infant milk formula companies are required by MIT
to comply with Good Manufacturing Practice certification in
international pharmaceutical production. Also, MIIT encourages
infant milk formula companies to conduct mergers and acquisitions,
so that within two years 10 famous dairy giants with annual sales
income over RMB2 billion and intellectual property rights that
are internationally competitive can be formed. The degree of
concentration within the milk formula industry will then be raised to
more than 70%, strengthening the competitiveness of local brands,
which will in turn benefit the long-term positive development of the
industry and bring enormous opportunities for leading players such
as Mengniu.

In addition, the National Development and Reform Commission has
conducted an anti-monopoly investigation on the imported milk
formula products, leading to a fall in the prices of imported milk
formula and the divestment of some foreign dairy companies. This
bodes well for domestic dairy companies. Another measure of far-
reaching significance on the milk industry during the year was the
relaxation of the one-child policy, whereas, a couple among which
either the wife or husband is an only child is allowed to have two
children, thus expanding prospects for the infant milk formula
industry. Moreover, at the end of the year, the CFDA issued a
notice prohibiting the production of infant milk formula by way of
commission, OEM, sub-packaging, etc., thereby further reinforcing
the quality and safety supervision on infant milk formula.
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Mengniu wins Weibo's “Outstanding Contribution to Charity for the
Year Award”
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2013, strategic initiatives undertaken by Mengniu included both
the control of upstream milk sources, as well as the adherence
to international standards through strategic cooperation with
foreign companies, thereby achieving a comprehensive upgrade
from quality control to technology management. These initiatives
involved both vertical and horizontal cooperation among dairy
enterprises. They were reflections of Mengniu’s confidence in
the dairy market with the support of COFCO Group. The positive
response from the capital market was also an indication of the
strong vote of confidence in a series of major investments made by
Mengniu.

In response to the consolidation and internationalisation trend of
China’s dairy industry, Mengniu actively expanded its business and
extended its position along the industry chain, so as to pave a solid
path for its future development. Mengniu has engaged in M&As
and strategic partnerships with a number of top-notch enterprises
within and outside China, thus assuring quality raw milk supply,
expanding the chilled business and establishing a milk formula
platform.

Strategic Cooperation

- Raw milk supply: Modern Dairy and YST Dairy
The Company became the largest single shareholder of Modern
Dairy by increasing its equity shareholdings in Modern Dairy to
about 28% at a consideration of approximately HK$3,177.5
million in May. The Company also became the cornerstone
investor of YST Dairy at US$60 million (approximately
HK$469.8 million) in November. The Group thus has retained
its unparalleled edge in milk sourcing. Based on the size of the
livestock population, both Modern Dairy and YST Dairy are
leading suppliers of raw milk in China. In particular, Modern
Dairy is the largest supplier of raw milk for Mengniu. Given
the present intense situation of milk resources in China, the
increase in equity shareholdings in Modern Dairy and YST Dairy
better assures Mengniu of quality raw milk supply.

18  China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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Chilled business: Danone Group

The Group, through its operating subsidiary, entered into a
framework agreement with Danone Group, the world’s largest
fresh dairy enterprise, dated 20 May 2013 for a joint venture
in relation to the merger and reorganisation of their chilled
dairy business in China and the establishment of a long-term
equity joint venture as the only platform to acquire, invest and
operate the business of chilled yogurt, chilled yogurt drinks
and chilled spoonable dairy based desserts in China.

In addition, COFCO Group, through a joint venture with
Danone Group, transferred a part of the Company’s shares to
a joint venture set up by Danone Group and COFCO Group,
which officially became a strategic shareholder holding
approximately 4% of the shares in the Company. On 9 August,
the Group and Danone Group further entered into an Equity
Joint Venture Contract to set up a joint venture engaging in
chilled business. The joint venture is 80% held by Mengniu
and 20% held by Danone Group.

On 12 February 2014, Mengniu and Danone Group further
boosted their cooperation in share capital. Through COFCO
Dairy Investments Limited, Danone Group increased its
holdings in Mengniu from 4.0% to 9.9% of the enlarged
share capital, involving a consideration of HK$5,153 million
(about US$665 million). The transaction was approved by
independent shareholders of Mengniu on 20 March.

By leveraging Danone Group's global-leading yogurt R&D
technology, brand management and marketing experience,
Mengniu will further tap the potential of China’s yogurt
market. Meanwhile, Mengniu’s technological innovation
capability within the dairy industry will be beefed up, placing it
in a better position to offer consumers a wider array of quality
yogurt products.
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Milk formula business: Yashili

On 18 June 2013, Mengniu announced to make a general offer
to acquire Yashili at a consideration of approximately HK$11.4
billion, the largest acquisition in China’s dairy industry so far.
As at 13 August (the final closing date of the offer), valid
acceptances of the share offer have been received in respect
of 3,196,747,945 Yashili shares, representing approximately
89.82% of the issued share capital of Yashili. To comply
with the minimum percentage of public float prescribed by
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and to maintain Yashili’s
independent operating listing platform, Mengniu, through its
subsidiary, sold 471,135,389 shares of Yashili at HK$3.50 per
share on 11 November, with a total consideration of about
HK$1,649.0 million. Upon the transaction, the number of
Yashili shares held by Mengniu was reduced to 2,725,612,556
shares, representing approximately 76.58% of the issued share
capital of Yashili.

Yashili is one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of
milk formula in China. Its quality imported dairy raw materials,
self developed milk formula products, advanced production
systems and professional marketing team which understands
China’s consumer market will bring significant growth to
Mengniu’s milk formula business, enabling the Group to
capture high growth opportunities in the domestic infant milk
formula market.

As per the announcement dated 6 January 2014, Mengniu
acquired 100% equity interest in Yashili (Zhengzhou)
Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Yashili (Zhengzhou)”) at a
consideration of RMB376.66 million in conjunction with The
WhiteWave Foods Company, a packaged food and beverages
company in North America. Both parties would hold a 51%
and 49% interest respectively in Yashili (Zhengzhou) through
a joint venture. Yashili (Zhengzhou) is mainly engaged in
the manufacturing, packaging and distribution of nutritious
products in China. The acquisition helps Mengniu extend
into the nutrition business with higher profitability, while
allowing Yashili to focus on the milk formula business, thereby
achieving a win-win result. Yashili's independent shareholders
approved the sale of the entire equity in Yashili (Zhengzhou)
on February 18.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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—  Arla Foods Amba (“Arla Foods”)

Mengniu introduced Arla Foods, an European dairy company
as a strategic shareholder in 2012. Through the China-
Denmark Milk Technical and Cooperation Center, Mengniu
has introduced advanced dairy technology and quality
management systems from Denmark. In 2013, Mengniu,
Arla Foods and Denmark’s FOSS Analytical A/S Company
collaborated in joint research to develop “raw milk fingerprint
spectrum” testing technology, which facilitates the effective
monitoring and early warning of abnormal raw milk through
spectral data in screening. This detection technology has been
recognised by the relevant government institutions of the PRC.
This recognition is an indication of the successful development
and application of the technology as an efficient, controllable
new approach that helps assure the quality and safety of raw
milk. The widespread application of the technology in the
industry is under consideration.

On the product front, in light of the rapidly emerging high-
end dairy market and the increasingly stringent expectations
for product quality from consumers, Mengniu has introduced
organic products of Arla Foods gradually. In April, it rolled
out premium Baby&Me Organic Infant Milk Formula, while in
September, Mengniu introduced Arla Foods’ UHT organic milk
in Shanghai and through mainstream e-commerce platforms.
Mengniu intends to introduce a wider diversity of quality
products such as Arla Foods’ cheese and butter.

Quality Management

In 2013, Mengniu reinforced industry chain-wide quality
management by setting up standards and strengthening the end-
to-end quality control capability.

The “four carriages”, namely a quality and safety management
system and three quality management centers on milk sources,
operations and sales respectively, are operationally coordinated.
Discussions are held monthly with focus on strengthening
quality management in various processes. The quality and safety
management system led the three quality management centers to
assess the maturity of regional quality management, in order to
have a good grasp of the quality control level at production, supply
and sales processes.

- Arla Foods
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The quality management centre on milk sources has standardised
ranch technology and improved cow breeding techniques so as to
enhance the quality of raw milk. Meanwhile, it has also set up a
quality management system for the plants and adopted Statistical
Processes Control tools to strengthen its control over production. In
order to solve the problem of “heat stress”, Mengniu has installed
fans and water-cooled air conditioning systems for suppliers in the
southern region, which greatly improves the breeding environment
for milking cows. In addition, Mengniu has organised a centralised
tender on raw milk suppliers and implemented stringent
requirements ranging from fodder to packaging specifications so
that fodder and veterinary drugs can be better controlled and the
food safety problems arising from counterfeiting, license assignment
and restrictions can be eradicated. To further build up quality
assurance, Mengniu’s raw milk suppliers are equipped with self-
inspection capability. Mengniu has implemented precautionary
quality measures for the plants. If raw milk fails to meet the
standards, the suppliers will be notified to take immediate pre-
emptive measures.

Based on the comprehensive quality management model, the
operations quality management center has rationalised its product
processing workflow so as to achieve end-to-end quality control
over the production chain and ensure that raw milk production
and transportation processes are conducted in a completely
closed environment. The raw milk transported to the plants must
pass inspection. Meanwhile, the center has set up laboratory
management standards for raw and auxiliary materials and unified
the management flow for inspection equipment in order to ensure
that all the raw and auxiliary materials used for production fulfill the
requirements.

Mengniu Quality and Safety Monthly Conference
SHEERTERAE
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The sales quality management center has conducted planning
and improvements for the identification, prevention and handling
of quality and safety risks and established the online institute
of sales management system. The platform was launched in
September and covered 11 courses in three categories, in which
sales personnel/distributors can polish their skills, such as market
negotiation, sales techniques and quality management. In respect
to the standardisation of market quality management, Mengniu
has cultivated the awareness for quality management among its
distributors so as to implement effective retail quality management.

With the support from the Government of the PRC and
New Zealand, Mengniu, alongside with COFCO Group and
PricewaterhouseCoopers in New Zealand, signed a cooperation
framework agreement with a New Zealand state-owned enterprise,
AsureQuality Limited — the largest food quality and safety
certification institution in the Southern Hemisphere — proposing the
establishment of a third party independent certification institution in
food quality and safety. It helps Mengniu pioneer the introduction
of international advanced food quality and safety certification, and
promote such certification within the national dairy industry chain
so as to satisfy consumers’ escalating demands for food safety.

Building Milk Sources

In 2013, a supply shortage brought about hikes in raw milk prices,
posing a mounting challenge to dairy enterprises in the PRC. With
regard to supply, dairy farmers, faced with declining profits and a
decreasing inventory of dairy cows, exited at a pace unmatched by
construction of scaled ranches. Restricted import of international
milk formula exacerbated the milk sources shortage across the
country. Meanwhile, the demand for dairy products was spurred by
a gradual recovery of consumer confidence, causing a wider gap
between the supply and demand and an ongoing increase of raw
milk prices. In order to mitigate the cost pressure brought by higher
raw milk prices, Mengniu sped up the construction of its own base
of milk sources. Eight self-built ranches have already commenced
operation, four of which have started milk production. The
remaining four are to follow suit in a staged manner during 2014.
Mengniu plans to kick-start the construction of two additional
ranches in 2014, with a view to further boost its own supply of milk
sources.
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As a leading domestic dairy enterprise, Mengniu shoulders the
responsibility to enhance food safety. It aims to support the
modernised development of dairy farmers, scaling of ranches with
better technical guidance in order to increase the unit production
of dairy cows. Such assistance ensures an improved efficiency for
dairy farmers and product quality at its sources and encourages
consumers’ confidence in the safety of dairy products. After taking
measures of consolidation, milk suppliers of Mengniu decreased
from 3,200 in 2010 to almost 2,000 in 2013, with a ratio of milk
sources provided by scaled ranches and farms of 94%. Mengniu
regards the dairy industry chain as a big family where all market
players thrive or die together and a collection of the best milk
farmers would be favourable to Mengniu. Thus, other than financial
allowances, Mengniu also shares with milk farmers industry-leading
farm operational experience so as to enhance their technological
standards and efficiency.

Sales Channels

Mengniu has established sales operations standards and improved
its distribution and retail sales model. While the Regional Business
Unit ("RBU") covers the 18 major sales regions across the nation,
model markets, such as the Central Business Unit (“CBU") and
“branch company direct operations”, have also been set up as
reference business models for new distributors. The RBU deploys
specialised staff to expand point of sales in third — and fourth-tier
cities to improve product penetration. The CBU deploys supporting
staff to manage retail outlets and distributors to ensure a thorough
implementation of Mengniu’s policies in its retail channels, so that
expenses are utilised in a more specialised and timely manner which
enhances the control over channels and retail outlets. In contrast,
the establishment of branch company for direct operations enables
Mengniu to strengthen its control over brand promotion and
product sales channels in core markets in first- and second-tier cities.

In terms of Mengniu’s focus on modern sales channels, through
standardisation and process management of major hypermarkets,
the service and operating efficiency of retail customers can be
enhanced. Quarterly business review and planning meetings have
been held between headquarters client team and KA teams of
key regions, dealer’'s KA team and retail client headquarters as
well as regional trading departments and retail outlets. Modern
sales channel retailers have been managed systematically at the
levels of headquarters, major regions and retail outlets. Each
level is supported by a corresponding service team, resulting in
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improved communication, service and management quality. The
KA management center and the SAP project team have established
a database, which enables KA management personnel to track
the latest weekly sales data of retail customer outlets, creating a
sophisticated data-based sales management model for Mengniu.

In addition to the establishment of KA business management team,
Mengniu has also expanded its customer base and sales reach
by providing products only for special channels, such as hotels,
catering and aviation.

Branding Strategy

Branding forms the foundation of a business, with quality and
safety absolutely essential to win the trust of consumers. Therefore
Mengniu has devoted significant energy and resources into activities
aimed at securing their confidence in its brands. Towards this end,
it has maintained open, transparent and direct communication with
consumers in order to further understand their needs and concerns.
This effort has also proven to be a key driver for its continuous
growth. Mengniu has built an online communication mechanism
“Your Question, Our Responsibility”, as well as platforms such as
Weibo, CS Weibo and WeChat for consumers to ask questions at
any time. Besides, Mengniu has also opened its plants to visitors
across the country. For instance, through its nationwide promotion
“Enjoyable Visits to Green Mengniu”, consumers can witness
Mengniu’s strict supervision of milk sources, quality management,
inspection, etc.. These initiatives have helped them better
understand how Mengniu has fulfilled its promise, thus increasing
their confidence in Mengniu.

Consumers visit Mengniu'’s plant in Sugian
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Mengniu has categorised its brands into star brands, backbone brands, profit contributor brands and opportunity brands, excluding Junlebao,

Youzhiyou and Yashili

SHHmEGRRAREME  ERRE  FHERREERERE  BERBEE.
Mengniu has also streamlined its product portfolio and optimised
its brand structure in response to market demand. By reducing
the number of brands and categorising them into star brands,
backbone brands, profit contributor brands and opportunity brands
respectively, Mengniu can pool more resources to promote its key
products, thus boosting the profits with clear brand positioning.
Star brands and opportunity brands have posted growth well ahead
of the average growth of Mengniu and the market.

In utilising the media for its branding campaigns, in addition to
traditional channels including TV, newspapers and magazines,
Mengniu has increased the use of digital media, which has
effectively enhanced the return of investment. Currently, Mengniu
has over two million followers in total for its WeChat and Weibo
accounts. On top of tapping different new social media and mobile
network and platforms, Mengniu has also used creative videos for
promotion with the aim to increase its branding exposure and reach.
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Over two million followers at Mengniu’s WeChat and Weibo
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Mengniu’s Suan Suan Ru has become the title sponsor of a
popular music reality show The X Factor on Hunan Satellite TV
to demonstrate its young and energetic branding image. The TV
program has enjoyed a high rating during the same time slot in
China and every episode has ranked first among the age 12 to 19
audience segment, thereby effectively targeting the youth market.
The Group has captured a 41% share of voice as a result of its 25%
share of spending on the title sponsorship, a highly satisfactory
return. This superbly executed marketing campaign has boosted
brand awareness, enabling Suan Suan Ru to win three accolades
at the China Advertising Great-wall Awards hosted by China
Advertising Association, namely the “2013 Advertising Marketing
Communications Award — Gold”, the “Interactive Creative Award —
Silver” and “Media and Marketing Award — Silver”.

Mengniu employed innovative 3D music to portray a unique Latte
experience by correlating its brand with multi-sensory enjoyment.
Latte leverages the surround-sound 3D music to stimulate the ears
as well as the taste buds of consumers, offering consumers a new
sensation far beyond the flat 2D traditional taste and feeling. Since
its launch, the 3D music has recorded a high hit rate and has been
widely shared by consumers across various social media, bringing
consumers superior enjoyment through the superior 3D music
experience. This marketing campaign represents another successful
example of digital marketing.
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Mengniu’s Suan Suan Ru is the title sponsor of The X Factor
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The 3D music of Latte has recorded a high hit rate and has been widely shared by consumers across various social media
PHFIDF R R LI - BHBEREZ D TR RS

E-commerce has experienced substantial uptake in China and
online sales has emerged as an important channel. To tap this
unprecedented opportunity to expand its customer base and attract
young consumers, Mengniu has commenced online sales across a
wide range of major e-commerce platforms. These efforts are aimed
at further boosting market share of its products, while maximising
its value with the lowest operating cost. During the Tmall.com
shopping festival at the week of 11 November, also known as
Singles’ Day, five high-end products, Milk Deluxe, Latte, Just
Yoghurt, Awakening Youth and Banana Organic Milk registered an
outstanding sales performance at Mengniu’s flagship online store.
Tmall.com is China’s largest B2C integrated online marketplace
with more than 400 million buyers.

Management System

Adhering to its Five-Year Strategic Plan and to enhance its
competitiveness, Mengniu has applied the world leading SAP
system to boost its management capabilities in six aspects — precise
marketing and in-depth sales channel management, an integrated
management platform for business and finance, a responsive
synergetic system for production, supply and sales, integrated
quality management and refined quality tracking, rational industrial
planning and efficient management on procurement and logistics.
The aim is to substantially enhance operating efficiency and cut
management costs.

As Mengniu’s most comprehensive informationalisation project,
the SAP system covers milk sourcing, procurement, planning,
production, storage, logistics, sales, sales terminals, marketing,
quality and finance. The SAP projects comprise an Enterprise
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Resource Planning (ERP) System, a Customer Relationship
Management (CRM) System, an Advanced Planning Optimisation
System, a Dealer Management System, a Sales Force Automation
System, a Transportation Management System and a Business
Intelligence System. The projects are being implemented in three
stages, with the first phase focusing on the two sub-projects ERP
and CRM.

The blueprint design of the ERP project has been completed, with
a full pilot run scheduled for the first half of 2014. Mengniu aims
to unify commands for supply chain management plan, process
business information and boost the management capability of an
integrated supply chain through the ERP information platform, with
a view to balancing resources allocation with markets, factories
and ranches as well as monitoring service implementation and
supporting subsequent managerial decisions.

Meanwhile, the CRM project has completed the “Purchase-
Sale-Stock Collection” for all customers in late 2013 and is now
conducting a trial run for “in-depth network management”, with
the full implementation scheduled for mid-2014. The “Lean Sales
Management” system also got underway and is expected to be
applied in late 2014. The CRM project is to extend the value chain
and supply chain system aiming to strengthen sales channels and
market integration. It enhances data analysis, creates synergies and
promotes the management capability across various sales levels and
sharpens the market competitiveness for Mengniu's products.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Mengniu kept making further adjustments on its internal structure,
perfecting its quality management system, extending its sales
network and streamlining its product portfolio, with a view to
reconstructing its brand credibility and boosting customer loyalty. As
the Group has carried out a series of reforms to stimulate organic
growth, in addition to the revenue generated since the acquisition
of Yashili during the year, the Group’s revenue for 2013 grew
by 20.4% to RMB43,356.9 million (2012: RMB36,000.0 million).
Excluding Yashili, the Group’s revenue for 2013 rose by 16.3%
to RMB41,857.8 million. The products with a greater revenue
contribution were Milk Deluxe, Yoyi C and Champion, while Milk
Deluxe, Champion, Yoyi C, Latte, Future Star and Fruit Milk Drink
achieved scale of sales and rapid growth, each recording a double-
digit growth rate.

Yashili’s revenue for the year amounted to RMB3,890.0 million
(2012: RMB3,655.1 million), representing a year-on-year increase
of 6.4%. Profit attributable to owners of the company for the year
amounted to RMB437.6 million (2012: RMB468.5 million).

In August 2013, Yashili was consolidated into Mengniu’s financial
statements, contributing a revenue of RMB1,499.1 million and a
profit of RMB95.3 million to the Group.

Gross Profit

In addition to addressing the increase in raw milk prices, the Group
has endeavoured to enhance the quality of milk sources and
increase the proportion provided by ranches and scaled farms, while
allocating more staff and equipment for quality inspection, which
led to rising costs for raw milk and quality control — an inevitable
industry trend. Nevertheless, the Group has been proactively
grasping the trends of market development. Efforts were made to
adjust product portfolio and develop high-end products with higher
margins. As a result, the gross profit of the Group increased to
RMB11,697.2 million (2012: RMB8,950.0 million), while gross profit
margin reached 27.0% (2012: 24.9%), representing an increase of
2.1 percentage points as compared with last year. Excluding Yashili,
the Group's gross profit was RMB10,918.4 million, while gross
profit margin rose 1.2 percentage points to 26.1% as compared
with last year.

Yashili’s gross profit for the year amounted to RMB2,080.1 million

(2012: RMB1,961.7 million), recording a year-on-year increase of
6.0%.
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Operating Expenses

In 2013, the Group modified its strategies on expenditures in
response to market conditions. As a result, operating expenses rose
to RMB10,134.1 million (2012: RMB7,591.4 million), representing
approximately 23.4% (2012: 21.1%) of the Group’s revenue.
Excluding Yashili, the Group’s operating expenses were RMB9,464.1
million, representing 22.6% of the revenue excluding Yashili.

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 31.3% to
RMB8,168.2 million (2012: RMB6,222.7 million), and its percentage
to the Group’s revenue increased to 18.8% (2012: 17.3%).
Excluding Yashili, the selling and distribution expenses were
RMB7,604.0 million, representing 18.2% of the revenue excluding
Yashili, up 0.9 percentage point as compared with last year.
The increase was mainly attributed to the expansion of the sales
network and a greater investment in sales channels and the increase
in sales staff costs.

Meanwhile, the Group’s escalated efforts in digital media resulted
in an increase in advertising and promotion expenses of 20.0% to
RMB2,710.1 million (2012: RMB2,257.6 million), representing 6.3%
of the Group’s revenue (2012: 6.3%). Excluding Yashili, the Group'’s
advertising and promotion expenses rose by 10.8% to RMB2,502.5
million, representing 6.0% of the revenue excluding Yashili, down
0.3 percentage point as compared with last year.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by 43.6% to
RMB1,965.9 million (2012: RMB1,368.7 million), and its percentage
to the revenue increased to 4.5% (2012: 3.8%). Excluding Yashili,
the Group’s administrative and other operating expenses was
RMB1,860.1 million, representing 4.4% of the revenue excluding
Yashili, up 0.6 percentage point as compared with last year. The
increase was mainly a result of the rise in salaries of management
staff, the grant of restricted shares, the increase in taxes and
the professional agency fees incurred in relation to mergers and
acquisitions.

Profit from Operating Activities and Profit Attributable
to the Owners of the Company

Despite the growth in revenue and gross profit was partially
offset by the increase in cost and operating expenses, the Group’s
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) increased by 27.3% to RMB3,247.4 million (2012:
RMB2,550.6 million). The EBITDA margin grew to 7.5% (2012:
7.1%). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s EBITDA was RMB3,086.5
million, and the EBITDA margin was up to 7.4%.
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB1,630.9 million (2012: RMB1,303.1 million), representing a
growth of 25.2% as compared with last year. Basic earnings per
share amounted to RMB0.904 (2012: RMB0.737), representing a
year-on-year increase of 22.7%. Excluding Yashili, profit attributable
to owners of the Company was up 17.8% to RMB1,535.6 million
as compared with last year, and basic earnings per share rose to
RMBO0.851, representing a year-on-year increase of 15.5%.

Income Tax Expenses

In 2013, the effective income tax rate for the Group was 16.6%,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.4 percentage points over
last year. Excluding Yashili, the effective income tax rate rose to
17.0%, representing a year-on-year growth of 2.8 percentage
points. The increase in income tax rate was due to the gradual
reduction of tax incentives enjoyed by the Group.

Capital Expenditure

As of the end of 2013, the total capital expenditure (CAPEX) of
the Group amounted to RMB12,596.5 million (2012: RMB2,263.1
million), a 456.6% increase as compared with last year. Excluding
Yashili, the total CAPEX of the Group was RMB12,374.6 million.
The CAPEX was mainly used in: land, construction of production
plants and procurement of equipment amounting to RMB2,508.1
million; purchase of biological assets amounting to RMB359.0
million and the equity investments expenses amounting to
RMB9,729.4 million (among which, RMB2,536.6 million for Modern
Dairy and RMB6,795.6 million for Yashili). The Group has adopted a
prudent policy in its CAPEX so as to lay a solid foundation for future
development.

During the consolidation period of Yashili, its CAPEX amounted to
RMB221.9 million, mainly used on the construction of the plant in
New Zealand.

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resource

The Group’s net cash inflow from operating activities increased
to RMB3,283.7 million (2012: RMB1,881.5 million). The increase
was primarily attributable to the tightened credit limit extended
to customers in addition to the higher revenue and profit of the
Group.

As of 31 December 2013, the Group’s net borrowings (cash and
bank deposits net of total bank loans and bonds) amounted to
RMB4,595.5 million (31 December 2012: net cash of RMB5,178.3
million). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s net borrowings was

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013

KAREEARBLFIBEAARKE16.309E (=
T——F: ARB13.031EBT)  B8EF L7
252% - BRERBFNABARME0904T(ZF
——F: AR¥0.7377L) ° Rt EFA22.7% -
TEWHEH  A2RMBEABRGFNBAEARE
153561870 * BEF EF17.8% @ BRELREF
ABAREE0851 L AL EFA15.5% °

FriEBi X

REB - =FHMERBEUHEE16.6%
Bt EFA2 AEF DR TEWLEF - KEBAHE
RAWRE17.0% R EA28EE D2 - AR

AEBZZEERREZERL - FriSH R AT
hn e
BARYH

HEZ_T =K A5EEFAITEBEAAR
125965 T (- ——4F : ARMK2263118
TT) C BEFE FFH456.6% o AR AEE
BARYT HEmEAEAREK123.746B T - EAZH
FERRLIH  £EBEREHERZR  EARE
25.08V187L : BAEMEEZEARE3.5901ET
AR AR E ST HE A RIE97 29418 T (Heh AJRIRA
WERIELTF D REARE 25366 T REARE
67.9561870) - NEEREIERZME AR TR
BARREERIT T ERE -

AHHELTFERE  BEANEATHAEARE
22191870 © T2 ARERINFR TR -

EAXREE - RBESRIKEER
AEELEEBRMEENRSFRAEMEA
R¥32837BT(ZFE——F : AR 1881518
TL)  FEREWARBFGE DIRAWERE L -
BTHEPHNREEEERE -

REFR-Z—=F+-"A=+—H2F8&(R
© RIRTTHERINBRIBITERRESBRE) AARE
45955 (ZE——F+=-_A=+—1 : Fhia
ARMS1.7831B7L)  TEHIH - AEEZFE



Management Discussion and Analysis B2 B & 2 #

RMB5,204.0 million. The change was primarily attributable to the
increase in equity interest in Modern Dairy, the acquisition of equity
interest in Yashili and the equity investment in YST Dairy, involving
a total cash consideration of approximately RMB9,701.5 million.

As of 21 November 2013, the Group successfully completed
the book building for the first offshore issuance of 5-year
US$500,000,000 bonds. The proceeds of the bond issue would be
fully used to repay a bridge loan incurred due to the acquisition of
Yashili. Resulting from the equity investments in Modern Dairy and
Yashili, the Group’s outstanding bank loans and bonds as at 31
December 2013 surged to RMB11,697.0 million. Excluding Yashili,
the Group’s outstanding bank loans and bonds amounted to
RMB11,495.5 million (31 December 2012: RMB573.8 million).

On 12 February 2014, Mengniu announced to place shares to
Danone Group for estimated proceeds of HK$5,153.0 million
(approximately US$665.0 million), which would be fully utilised to
pay the related outstanding amount of loans for the acquisition of
Yashili and other outstanding corporate debts in order to improve
Mengniu'’s capital structure.

The total equity of the Group was RMB18,011.1 million as of 31
December 2013 (31 December 2012: RMB13,121.1 million), while
the debt-to-equity ratio (total bank loans and bonds over total
equity) was 64.9% (31 December 2012: 4.4%).

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB160.4 million (2012:
RMB39.16 million), accounting for approximately 0.4% of the
Group’s revenue (2012: 0.1%). Excluding Yashili, the Group's
finance costs were RMB150.3 million, representing a 0.4% of the
revenue excluding Yashili, up 0.3 percentage point as compared
with last year.

Products

As upmarket spending intensifies and diversifies within the
PRC, coupled with a shortage of raw milk supply, Mengniu has
proactively adjusted its product portfolio to achieve a stable growth
of market share for its basic products. At the same time, it has
increased the percentage of high-end products and diversified
its products. Mengniu has strengthened the yogurt and the milk
formula businesses which have enormous potential, while reducing
the proportion of products over-relying on raw milk.
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Data from market research firm Nielsen reveals that Mengniu’'s TS XEERRZLARNEBIBET » 4 KE
liquid milk and chilled yogurt retained their throne in terms of PIRIEKERTN —E—=EMTIBNEEEEET
market share in 2013. During the year, star products, such as Milk 58— - TR » F@ér » ExnC BEENSHERE
Deluxe, Yoyi C and Fruit Milk Drink, achieved substantial increase RIS EREILIBAE @ BHES|ETE - ME R
in sales and continued to be top-sellers while the new UHT Yogurt @& IESHIS FEAIRE o

product, Just Yoghurt, was well-received by the market.

Mengniu's businesses are categorised into liquid milk, ice cream, AREBEKD ARELD -~ AN - 08 R EAEL
milk formula and other dairy products. The performances during &5 @ FRXRIFLAT
the year are as follows:

Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MERR FAEM

Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB37,902.8 million (2012: RMB32,336.0 million), accounting for 87.4%
of Mengniu’s total revenue (2012: 89.6%)

REE WARARE379.028B T (ZFT—=4F : AR¥323.360B7L) " (hEFRKRANGT 4% (=T —=
F :189.6%)

UHT milk Revenue amounted to —  Launch of Prime Ranch Pure Milk during December in nine

UHTY; RMB22,053.3 million (2012: provinces, including Shandong, Henan and Jiangsu, with
RMB19,705.5 million), a Quick Response code (“QR code”) that enables tracking.
accounting for 58.2% (2012: The product was available nationwide in February 2014.
60.9%) of the liquid milk QR code scanning enables consumers to track milk sources
segment revenue and understand managerial details of ranches, ensuring
WABARKE220.533ETL(=ZF quality and satisfying consumers’ escalating demand for
—Z4%F : AR¥197.055(E7T) - quality
EREHWARNSE2% (ZF - FTZHAEWUR AE IHSNEECRELDER_ESBA
——%F :60.9%) BRRIEERSGAFY  WRZF—NF - AEE2H -

/ﬁE%ﬁﬂﬁT++_%@ﬁ%Lﬁﬂ%ﬁ THRERBENEEA
REERDHLSEE o mEREEEHTIRERAR
““E’JEI

—  Cooperation with Arla Foods to introduce organic whole
milk, low-fat milk and fat-free milk. The flagship store
on Tmall.com is established to expand sales channels for
e-commerce and facilitate a multi-channel sales model

— EHdArla Foods& {EHEH A# AR - BRI R BG4
- WHBRABEAEES  ARETFTHERE  REZ
REEERA

— A packaging upgrade for Cereal Breakfast Milk and the
launch of Red Bean and Black Bean Cereal Breakfast Milk

Milk Deluxe Arla Foods Organic . ) . ) .
Km Pure Milk in mid-April. The new package focuses on food ingredients

Arla FoodsHEREF) and emphasises the nutritional values, which target young

white-collar workers and students in first- to third-tier
cities. Sales soared after the packaging upgrade

— BNEEOEAL  WRMATHELAR  BHEEY -
FERRARERM  UREEGNEEEE  FH—
IR HEMEE - BEARBHERRER
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Highlights
FREE
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A3 250

Prime Ranch Pure Milk Awakening Future Star Kid Milk
radze 7o ms ] Youth Milk AKEZERRFY)
JREL T

Milk beverages Revenue amounted to

FLELHY RMB10,425.5 million (2012:
RMB8,038.5 million), accounting
for 27.5% (2012: 24.9%) of the
liquid milk segment revenue
WABAREE104.255@TT(=ZF

—Z—F : AR¥80.385187T) -

{&&%wﬂ&kﬁn75%(_7
——F :249%)

Fruit Milk Drink Suan Suan Ru Latte Yoyi C
HEH i7iE) Tt BaC

Full launch of two high-end functional milk products for
the elderly, Strengthener and Energiser under the brand
Awakening Youth. They address the needs for strong
bones and cardiovascular system and advance a young
and spirited brand image. Resources were allocated
for promotion in key regions. Mengniu co-hosted the
“China Bone Health Campaign” with the China Health
Promotion Foundation to cultivate the concept of bone
health in key cities in the PRC. A year-long promotion
stimulated an ongoing growth in market share and sales
for Strengthener

BER  ZEEMREmNEFN—F FT REFFT 2
EET  DhlimEER&ROCMERRNTR  TEFES
EANmETR  ARESER NEHREHERE - &
iRt EceBaMRITEREIR]  £2RHEH
W EREREEES  KE—FNEE  F/FPNm
SORRERA - HERTEER

Future Star is made from prime ranch milk sources and
meets the needs for four nutritional aspects — outstanding
intelligence, strong bones, healthy digestion and balanced
diet — for the healthy growth of kids. The product was a
popular choice among parents and kids and its market
share continued to increase with above-average growth

AXKEFBEBYCZTIR - MEENER - BRKEA - BSE
(25T - HEIERINALER R  BYHRERFKE - ARIB
BNREEE - MHHERE LA B RELETISTIKE

A full packaging upgrade for Latte. An unprecedented
sales growth was recorded on Tmall.com in the shopping
campaign during the “Double-11" week, spurring a rapid
sales growth for Latte for the year

THFEREZEAR  EREAET —ARETE HEHE
RBA @ HEIF2FNHEERRER

Launch of nutritional milk drink Fruit Fiber Suan Suan Ru
in early April, registering a stable sales performance

LRI NRRBEEIRHARNT AV LT - HERE
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Product
category

Financial performance

MBERR

Revenue amounted to -
RMB5,424.0 million (2012:
RMB4,592.0 million), accounting

for 14.3% (2012: 14.2%) of the
liquid milk segment revenue
WABAREKS42401BTT(ZF
—Z—%F : AR¥45.920187T) -
HREBPWABNILG3I% (ZF —
—=F 1 14.2%)

EmmiE

Yogurt
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"

Star Product
BEER

X
=

New Product
HER

&

0]
1
BRRHe Ry
Champion Just Yoghurt Future Star Junlebao
a7l A Kid Yogurt ExE
AAERE
PR B
Ice cream Revenue amounted to =
AELA RMB3,023.4 million (2012:

RMB3,171.5 million), accounting

for 7.0% (2012: 8.8%) of =
Mengniu's total revenue
WABARK30.234BTT(=ZZF
—=—%F : AR¥31.715BL) © -
ERFBKRANT 0% (ZE—=
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Highlights
FREE

Launch of a high-end product Just Yoghurt, an UHT
yogurt, targeting mid to high income consumers in late
May. This product is made from quality milk sources and
fermented with lactobacillus without additives, artificial
colour or preservatives. Incorporating advanced Danish
technology ensures the safe preservation of yogurt under
room temperature

HEPRBRAAL  RERAEHEL ST RS NAE -
ERABENRAEREEE  B&H €% R K5
SRR R P H0RRTF

Launch of a new product Milk Stick with plain, banana,
melon and durian flavours in stylish and attractive
packaging that appeals to young consumers
HHHERE  BRERK B ZNALEEOEO
K BRENAE  IaFEEEER

A packaging upgrade of Deluxe and launch of Deluxe
Vanilla Ice Cream Sandwich, the first ice cream sandwich
product in the PRC, grabbing market share in the rapidly
developing mid to high-end ice cream market. The product
targets female consumers who enjoy a mid to high income
and emphasise the quality of life

BREZVRAR WHELFHEZ =R EE ORKKE
M BREAEEN =R KERER - BESERERNT
SmAEMRT S - BEEATSBA - FELAERENLME

Launch of Mood for Green Ice Crystal Cup, made with
pioneering “Ice Crystal” technology in the PRC. The classic
product Green Bean Ice-cream maintained its sales while a
new flavour in condensed milk and red bean, emerged as
a new star product

HERAR E O IE KRR - ERA B A & AIE T KR TR
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MBERER FRENE

Milk formula Revenue amounted to - Introduction of ultra-high-end Baby&Me Organic Infant

B RUIEZ, 1772 .m'llllon (2012: : Milk Formula from Arla Foods in late April with a 100%
RMB441.6 million'), accounting ) .
for 5.0% (2012: 1.2%) of natural and organic formula certified by the European
Mengniu’s total revenue Union, Denmark and China
WA BARK21773BT(=E — REAKSIAArla Foodsi =i #Baby&Me B #E L B 7
—— . ARBAMGET) 7i#  100% RABHET - BRHE  AERPE=K#E
ERFBRARS0%(ZF—= BRE

F:1.2%)
—  Launch of Oushi Super Gold Infant Formula, made from
100% milk imported from Northern Europe with complete
z source tracking. It contains six ingredients that promote
the development of infant s intelligence and health
— WELEHELEEEZIT - FRA100%1CEE O 9
R 2REAEY  2RERSAERRE IR TEEZR

B
Arla Foods Baby&Me Oﬁshi f Yashili Super
Arla Foods Baby&Me B a-golden Stage
BLFER o 2H
Other dairy Revenue amounted to RMB253.5 -  Nationwide launch of the original and strawberry flavoured
products million (2012: RMB130.3 Kids Cheese Sticks (Future Star’s products), which targets
Hih P B m million), accounting for 0.6% kids above three-year-old. It is made from condensed milk
(2012: 0.4%) of Mengniu’s total essence and is rich in calcium and vitamins
revenue — BEREEERNAKEZEZELRTEZEEZH LT -
WABARM2535EBITL(ZF ER-RALRERE  REZEFNEE  SE2=EE
—Z—F : AR¥1.3031ET) - K #efih e
HRFBRARN0.6%(ZE—=
F:04%) —  Fermented in each individual cup, fresh cheese European

Fermented Milk is made from quality fresh milk without
any preservatives or artificial colours, thus offering a purity
of taste. It was one of the country’s best-selling cheese
products, accounting for the highest sales volume among
Mengniu’s cheese products

- , — HEIBEAZEATEEEEFTI  KMENREE - T
Kids Cheese Sticks European European 5?131]11 Bﬁﬁ%%“ﬂ *D}\Iéﬁ ! H@EZ\@J—E ! R#%hq:%%l%ﬁﬁﬁ%

I 5T B R Fromage Frais Fermented Milk = ek o, ER N R P (=R
e R et BELBBHES - FELERBRODEER

! For illustration purpose, it included 50% of revenue of the joint
venture Mengniu Arla and before equity accounting adjustment.
RAEHA - L BEEE A REHT R4-50% U A RV s 3R AT
Bk -
FESFUEERAT T =—FF®% 37
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Mengniu’s products are available in four overseas markets, namely
Hong Kong, Macau, Mongolia and Singapore. During the year, Fruit
Milk Drink Strawberry and Fruit Milk Drink Peach debuted in these
four overseas markets, while Milk Deluxe and the plain and aloe
flavored Yoyi C were launched in Hong Kong with huge success.
Currently, Mengniu products cover more than 1,000 points of sale
in Hong Kong alone.

PRODUCTION

Mengniu’s layout of production capacity is based on market
potential and product strategy. As of December 2013, Mengniu
has 31 production bases across the country, with a total production
capacity of 7.77 million tons (as of December 2012: 7.58 million
tons). The enhancement of production capacity was mainly realised
through the optimisation of the existing production equipment and
technology, as well as the combination of Yashili's capacity.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As one of the leading dairy manufacturers in China, Mengniu
believes in giving to and caring for the community. While focusing
on the production, it also put active efforts on fulfilling its corporate
social responsibility, particularly evidenced by a few aspects
including environmental protection, public activities and joint
partnerships.

— Environmental protection

In support of resources conservation and sustainable
development, Mengniu remains committed to the protection
of water resources and recycling. Each of Mengniu’s plants is
equipped with a sewage treatment facility, which is subject
to on-line monitoring. The discharge treatment meets the
national grade 1 standard, and is used for the green irrigation.
In 2013, the total volume of sewage treatment reached 17.47
million tons. Through full recovery and recycling of reclaimed
water, 1.92 million tons of water has been saved annually.

Mengniu also made efforts on implementing the in-depth
treatment and reconstruction project relating to Mengniu's
high-tech sewage treatment plant. Thanks to the improvement
of sewage treatment technology as well as the recycling of
water, the operating costs of production reduced. The analysis
of water quality, the techniques collection and the verification
of the project have been completed on schedule. The
construction and renovation of the project would commence
in 2014.
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Wastes produced in the process of production are mainly
renewable and recyclable paper packaging materials, which
are recycled and reused upon collection and processing by
outsourcing to garbage handling companies. In addition,
Mengniu embraced the low-carbon environmental philosophy
by participating in a large-scale charity tree-planting activity
“Carbon Reduction with Forest Wood”. In respect to the
construction of sizeable ranches, Mengniu made efforts on
conducting biogas power generation and organic fertiliser
projects, effective solutions to the cow excrement pollution of
the environment. These efforts have been a positive example in
the construction of large ranches in China, thereby achieving
huge social and economic benefits.

Charity events

While promoting environmental protection, Mengniu also plays
an active role in charity activities, which is an important way to
contribute to the community. Immediately after the earthquake
in Ya'an City, Sichuan Province on 20 April 2013, Mengniu
promptly sent a rescue team to the disaster zone providing
relief supplies and donated RMB10 million. In response to the
earthquake in Dingxi City, Gansu Province, Mengniu formed
a rescue team of 35 volunteers who gave their assistance to
victims. Building on the experience in disaster relief in the
earthquake in Ya'an, the volunteers again provided manpower
and supplies to victims in the stricken areas. Moreover,
Mengniu has quickly acted and provided donations for disaster
relief including the floods in Zhaoyuan County, Heilongjiang
Province as well as the typhoon in Zhejiang Province and
eastern area of Guangdong.

To give a much-needed boost to the challenging education
situation faced by rural teachers and children, Mengniu
continued to play the role as a charity partner of the large
charity event — the third “Looking for Teachers with the
Most Beautiful Hearts in Rural Areas” in 22 provinces across
the country with the efforts from all of its staff and regional
business partners. This activity was aimed at looking for,
recommending and praising outstanding rural teachers.
Meanwhile, Mengniu also organised a number of events such
as "Have a Lesson in My Home Town”, “Happy Gift”, “Public
Lessons by Teachers in Rural Areas” and “Care from Ten CEOs
for Teachers with the Most Beautiful Hearts in Rural Areas”.
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Mengniu has established the “Blue Sky Green Land Fund”,
to which Mengniu will make donations as a match of the
participation of consumers in its charity activities. All funds
are used for the prevention and control of air pollution, as
well as the protection of natural habitats and biodiversity.
The activities have received strong support from more than
1.5 million consumers. Specifically, in September, Mengniu
hosted the “Sweeping Haze Together” charity experience
activity, supported by more than 40 volunteers who cleared
bird droppings and rubbish in Shanghai Chongming Dongtan
National Nature Reserve to protect the wetland. This activity
provided in-depth environmental experience and education.

Partnerships

Mengniu integrates the fulfillment of corporate social
responsibility into its strategy, operation and management
in an effort to encourage various departments including milk
sources, R&D, quality, production and marketing to map out
their planning for social responsibility. Also, Mengniu prompts
its upstream and downstream industry partners to play a more
active role in charity events. Collaborating with 58 business
partners, Mengniu organised the “Exchange of Calories”
running charity event, in which, the calories consumed by
volunteers in running were exchanged for gloves. Mengniu
together with its partners donated a total of 100,000 pairs
of gloves to rural children, and sent an extra 100,000 pairs
to various regions across the country, spreading warmth to
children in winter. Apart from fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility in respect to charity events, Mengniu also bears
the responsibility towards the related interested parties.
Mengniu remains committed to mitigating the risk exposure of
upstream and downstream enterprises by providing financial
and technical support to upstream raw milk suppliers and
by joining forces with downstream distributors in market
research. With this integrated “Cooperation and Development
Model” in place, Mengniu can share “each and every drop of
happiness” with the relevant interested parties.
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Mengniu’s consistent efforts in fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility have enabled it to significantly elevate its brand
image, receiving an overwhelmingly positive response from
different sectors of the community. Mengniu was the sole
enterprise winning Weibo’s “Outstanding Contribution to
the Charity for the Year” award. It also garnered several
honors, including the “2013 Corporate Social Responsibility
Case Award” from People’s Daily Online, the “2013 China
Business News Good Practice Award of China Corporate Social
Responsibility Ranking”, as well as the “2013 Top Brand with
the Best Social Responsibility Practice” award at the China
Business Leaders and Media Leaders Annual Conference.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group employed a total of about
38,000 employees in China and Hong Kong, including around
6,100 from Yashili. Total costs of employees (excluding salaries
of directors and senior executives) amounted to approximately
RMB2,725.5 million (2012: RMB1,896.6 million). The increase in
total cost of employees was mainly due to the rise in the number
of employees, average salaries, social security costs as well as the
grant of restricted shares.

To achieve Mengniu’s Five-Year Strategic Plan and inspire
employees to realise their full potential, the Group has put in
place a five-tier incentive system, including personal performance
incentives, group benefit sharing incentives, group over-turnover
incentives, group appraisal incentives and group restricted share
award scheme, which are aimed at motivating employees to grow
in step with the Group and share the fruits of its success. According
to the restricted share award scheme adopted by the Board on 26
March 2013, Mengniu would allocate no more than 5% of the issued
share capital for the scheme. The scheme combines the interests of
shareholders, employees and the Group, with common interest in
the Group’s long-term development.
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With the expansion of Mengniu’s platform and the addition of
more outstanding domestic and international partners, the Group
has been focusing on the Five-Year Strategic Plan. To fuel future
growth over the longer term, Mengniu is committed to bringing
up a new generation of leaders. In respect of human resources
planning, the Group has set up a core management team. The
senior management team comprises employees with professional
know-how, innovation and ambition. Middle-level managers with
seasoned experience and distinctive capabilities from various sectors
as well as newly-joined staff of Mengniu with lesser experience
but higher education are to be grouped into different teams. In
addition, Mengniu recruits outstanding graduates every year. The
year 2013 marked the inauguration of the campus recruitment
program. With the implementation of its human resources plan,
Mengniu is taking gradual steps to build up a stronger and more
professional team of employees.

PROSPECTS

With the gradual restoration of customers’ confidence in the
domestic milk formula products, the dairy industry is anticipating
exciting opportunities ahead. With the imposition of limitation
on infant milk formula purchases around the globe, there is a
re-adjustment in the supply-demand structure of China’s milk
formula market, such that the purchasing sentiment for domestic
brands is resuming on a rational basis. Moreover, in light of the
determination of the PRC government to restore consumers’
confidence in domestic dairy products, we envisage wider policies
to further regulate the domestic dairy product market is expected,
fuelling the positive development of the industry and presenting
massive opportunities for leading players such as Mengniu.

In view of the maturity of the liquid milk market, Mengniu will step
up the development of its high potential yogurt and milk formula
businesses. According to the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences,
the birth rate in the PRC is likely to be buoyed by the relaxation of
the family planning policy at a moderate rate of approximately 6.3%,
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equivalent to the birth of 1 million extra infants annually. This ®&mME ' K& BZESNEERGRE @ B ARE
should help drive the demand for the infant milk formula market R&#E @ IES2NEIHHELHLE -

in the near term. In the long run, Mengniu will be taking steps to
adjust its product structure and expand the proportion of the infant
milk formula business in line with its overall business strategy.

In 2013, the “metamorphosis” Mengniu set out to achieve was
initiating reform, while the “metamorphosis” for 2014 is to be
focused on “revolutionary innovation”. To this end, Mengniu put
forward the four guiding principles: “revolutionary innovation”,
“strategic integration”, “management for efficiency” and “open
and transparent communication” to achieve an upgrade in
Mengniu’s partnerships and continuous professional advancement
of managers, thereby realising a “lean management” and enabling
its people to be entitled to the five-layer incentive scheme and thus
share the benefits of growth.

With ever-changing market conditions, the primary focus for
Mengniu is to accomplish “revolutionary innovation” in marketing,
operational system and product development. In terms of
marketing, the seven key factors that Mengniu will be focusing on
include the parent brand, growth and profit, geographical division,
communication from TV to digital media, an optimal market
operation system, innovation and milk sources. It will also maintain
close interaction with its consumers, by which its brand value is to
be re-defined. As to operational system, Mengniu will adopt an
020 (Online to Offline) model to enhance its marketing efforts.
Mengniu would fully implement its ERP system in pursuit of greater
efficiency in its integrated supply chain management. In terms of
product development, Mengniu would strike a balance between
seeking gross profit margins and sensitivity to raw milk sources.
Specifically, it intends to develop more products less susceptible
to milk source issues, e.g., yogurt and nutrition businesses, along
with a greater emphasis on fashionable and diversified product
packaging.
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With a number of strategic co-operation projects implementing in
2013, greater effort would be dedicated to strategic integration in
2014, which includes the exploration of a wider range of synergies
with Yashili, the formulation of a five-year strategic plan, the
strengthening of the professional work force, and the initiation of
organisational reform. Meanwhile, Mengniu would also work with
Danone Group (through the joint venture company) to optimise its
brand and product mix, exerting stronger promotional efforts on
Yoyi C, Champion, BIO and other brands with higher profitability
and brighter growth prospects, as well as to further enhance its
operating efficiency.

Technological progress and technical upgrade are of fundamental
importance to the long-term development of an enterprise.
Mengniu will cement stronger technical co-operation with
Arla Foods, an international partner to introduce streamlined
management in production and operation, implement ranch quality
management system, and develop new testing techniques on raw
milk. These three research projects are expected to start in 2014.

Mengniu will continue to extend its scope of sophisticated
management through the implementation of the SAP system and
working closely with its strategic partners to achieve management
efficiency. As for internal communication, Mengniu upholds the
values of “sunshine, nobility, responsibility and innovation”. It
strives to realise “open and transparent communication” by building
up a synergetic cross-system and cross-regional corporate culture,
so as to raise the time-to-market capability of its organisational
structure.

Milk sources development presents a major challenge for the
industry. Mengniu remains focused on strengthening its leading
position in milk sources. While assuring the quality of milk sources,
it is also working on the regional development of milk sources,
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shifting from a highly diversified distribution to a more focused
network, mainly in the northeastern, northern and northwestern
areas of China where there is a relatively low downstream
processing capacity but raw milk quality is relatively high, and
which features lower costs and high production volume. In essence,
Mengniu intends to assist third party dairy farmers to establish small
to medium-sized ranches and scaled farms with not more than
1,000 milking cows, thereby further diversifying the channels for
milk sources, improving the milk source structure and reducing the
overall cost of raw milk.

Mengniu will actively explore new distribution channels. It will
prepare sales personnel from regional offices as well as from
distributors to grasp a better understanding of the new sales
channels through operational standardisation in its principal
customer procedures and systems, so that a better sales
performance, a stronger capability in execution and innovation may
all be realised.

Mengniu firmly believes that the crucial keys to resume consumers’
confidence in domestic dairy products are to provide a guarantee
on product quality and safety, as well as to put in place an open
and transparent operation model that offers consumers a fabulous
experience and assurance of quality. Mengniu resolves to strive its
utmost to make a difference and take all necessary action, in an
effort to become the most professional dairy enterprise in China
and remain focused on delivering products of superior quality, so as
to turn Mengniu into a century-old enterprise.
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Executive Directors

Ms. Sun Yiping, aged 46, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO") of the Group and an executive Director of the
Company in April 2012. Ms. Sun graduated from China Agricultural
University (formerly known as Beijing Agricultural Engineering
University) with a Bachelor’s degree with specialisation in food
engineering and a Master’s degree with specialisation in agricultural
products processing engineering. She also holds an Executive Master
of Business Administration degree from the Olin School of Business
of the University of Washington in the United States. She joined
the COFCO Group in 1993 and was involved in the management of
COFCO Group’s investment in Coca-Cola bottling business. In 1997,
she became the deputy general manager of Swire Guangdong
Coca-Cola Limited and the general manager of Hainan Coca-Cola
Beverages Co., Ltd. in 2002. Ms. Sun concurrently became the
general manager of Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. in
2005. Prior to joining the Group as CEO, Ms. Sun was the deputy
general manager of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed in Shenzhen (Stock Code 000031). Ms. Sun currently serves as
a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors
of Yashili. Throughout her 20 years of work experience, Ms. Sun
has acquired extensive management experience in the sale and
marketing of branded food, processing of food and oil, and real
estate as well as more than ten years of extensive management
experience in the fast-moving consumer goods industry.

Mr. Bai Ying, aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company in July 2008 and is a Senior Vice President in
Operation of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Bai graduated with a
Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School. Mr. Bai was the Vice President
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the general manager of UHT milk
division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working in the
dairy industry for almost 20 years and has extensive management
experience in the dairy business. In 2010, Mr. Bai was elected as
“Progressive Staff of Hohhot” and “Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region Labour Model” for the second time. Mr. Bai was elected as a
committee member in the third session of the Standing Committee
(Enlarged) meeting of the Third Young Federation of the Central
Enterprises held on 12 October 2013.

Mr. Wu Jingshui, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company in March 2010 (resignation with effect from 26
March 2014) and is a Vice President (Finance) of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Wu also served the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company from March 2010 to August 2013. Mr. Wu graduated
from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute, majoring in industrial
enterprise financial accounting and holds a Master’s degree from
Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and a Master of Business
Administration degree from China Europe International Business
School. He also holds a PRC senior accountant qualification. Before
being appointed as the Vice President (Finance) of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu in April 2008, Mr. Wu served as the Financial General
Manager of the liquid milk division and the Chief Financial Officer
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of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive experience in
financial management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a “Labour
Model (Progressive Staff) of Hohhot.” Mr. Wu currently serves as
a non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd., a
company listed in Hong Kong.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009 and the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Ning is
currently the chairman of COFCO Corporation and COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, a non-executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong (Stock Code 0506), a non-executive
director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong (Stock Code 0606), a non-executive director
of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock
Code 0906), and an independent director of Huayuan Property
Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai (Stock Code 600743). Mr.
Ning is also a director of BOC International Holdings Limited, an
independent non-executive director of Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited and an independent non-executive director of BOC Hong
Kong (Holdings) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock Code
2388). Mr. Ning was a director of Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company
listed in New York, from 27 August 2008 to 2 March 2011. Before
joining COFCO Group, Mr. Ning held various positions such as vice
chairman, director and general manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Ning has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business
restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning graduated from
Shandong University in China with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics
and from the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a
Master of Business Administration degree in Finance.

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2009 and a Vice Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Yu is currently the
president of COFCO Corporation and a director of COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, a non-executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of China Foods Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong, an executive director and the chairman of the board
of directors of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong and a non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of directors of Modern Dairy. Mr. Yu was a director
of Glory River Holdings Limited, convertible bonds of which are
listed and quoted in Singapore, until May 2013 and the chairman
of COFCO Meat Investment Company Limited until August 2013.
Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University
of International Business and Economics in Beijing and an Executive
Master of Business Administration from China Europe International
Business School.

Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 56, is a non-executive Director of the
Company, one of the members in the team founding Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the founder of Laoniu
Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated from Inner Mongolia University
with a degree in Administration and Management and obtained
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a Master’s degree in Enterprise Management from the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences Graduate School. With his extensive
experience and insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys
a high reputation in the industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected
as one of “China’s Most Influential Business Leaders” for the
fifth consecutive year, and was honoured the “2007 Hong Kong
Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He was on the
list of “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” published by the Ministry
of Civil Affairs of the PRC in 2007 and ranked third in the “2007
Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and received the first and only “Lifetime
Achievement in Philanthropy Award” presented by the “China
Philanthropists List” in 2010. Mr. Niu was an independent non-
executive director of Alibaba.com Limited, a company previously
listed in Hong Kong and withdrawn from listing in June 2012,
until 21 June 2012, and was an independent director of Shanghai
Metersbonwe Fashion & Accessories Company, a company listed in
Shenzhen, until 22 April 2011.

Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009 (resignation with effect
from 26 March 2014). Mr. Ma is currently a vice president of
COFCO Corporation and the chairman of COFCO Meat Investment
Company Limited. He is also a non-executive director of China
Foods Limited and COFCO Land Holdings Limited (formerly known as
The Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited), both companies listed in
Hong Kong, and a director of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a
company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Ma graduated from the University
of International Business and Economics in Beijing with a degree of
Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Ma has extensive
experience in corporate finance, investment, strategic planning and
management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Finn S. Hansen, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2012. Mr. Hansen graduated
from Haderslev Business College in 1986 with a Bachelor’s degree
in Commerce. He joined Arla Foods in 1977 and has held several
management positions within Arla Foods’ international business
group, including a three-year position in Canada and more than ten
years in various countries in the Middle East. In 2006, he became a
senior vice president with responsibility for Arla Foods’ activities in
the Middle East and North Africa. Mr. Hansen was appointed as an
executive vice president in 2012, with the overall responsibility for
Arla Foods’ activities outside Scandinavia, Germany and the United
Kingdom.

Ms. Liu Ding, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a Vice Chairwoman of the Board of Directors of the Company
in January 2013. Ms. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University
with a Bachelor’s degree in History and holds an Executive Master
degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. Ms. Liu was appointed as a non-executive
director of China Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, on
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28 March 2011. Ms. Liu joined COFCO Corporation in April 2005
and is currently a director and the head of the Communist Party
Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO Corporation. She was a
director of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shenzhen, until 21 July 2011. Prior to joining COFCO Corporation,
she was a deputy director of the Propaganda and Education Bureau
of the Propaganda Department of the Chinese Communist Party. Ms.
Liu has more than 20 years of experience in legal affairs, general
management, governmental relations, public relations, corporate
culture development, organisation development and propaganda
and education.

Mr. Christian Neu, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in September 2013. Mr. Neu joined Danone in July 1986,
where he was initially engaged in sales and marketing activities and
later became the general manager of various local and regional
companies of the Danone Group. Between November 2007 and
January 2011, he was the president of the baby nutrition division
and a member of the executive committee of the Danone Group.
Since February 2011, Mr. Neu has been a strategic consultant of
the Danone Group. Prior to joining the Danone Group, he served in
the sales departments of various international companies including
Procter & Gamble, the Ferrero Group and Lindner & Fischer GmbH
from 1979 to 1986. Mr. Neu has over 30 years of experience in
the management of fast-moving consumer goods with outstanding
performance particularly in sales, marketing, integrated management
and international business management. He graduated with a
Bachelor’s degree from Fachhochschule Saarbricken University in
Germany with a major in Sales and Marketing in 1979 and obtained
a Master’s degree in Marketing Management from University of St.
Gallen in Switzerland in 1993. Mr. Neu currently serves as a director
of Yakult Honsha Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 48, was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in February 2004 and is a
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao
was redesignated from a non-executive Director of the Company to
an independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September 2002
and is currently a director and Managing Partner of CDH China
Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a Bachelor’s
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degree in Mathematics from Shandong University and a Master’s
degree in Engineering from the No.2 Research Institute of Ministry
of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves
as a non-executive director of China Shanshui Cement Group
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong and a director of Joyoung
Company Limited and a director of Henan Shuanghui Investment &
Development Co., Ltd., both companies listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao
was a non-executive director of China Yurun Food Group Limited
from 13 April 2005 to 22 September 2012.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 40, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive Director of the Company to an
independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently a partner of KKR Asia
Limited focusing on private equity transactions in the Greater China
region. Mr. Wolhardt is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified
Management Accountant and received a Bachelor’s degree in
Accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in
the United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive
director of Modern Dairy, and an independent non-executive
director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive director of
United Envirotech Ltd, a company listed in Singapore, from October
2011 to August 2012.

Mr. Liu Fuchun, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in May 2009 (resignation with
effect from 26 March 2014). Mr. Liu is a graduate of the Beijing
Foreign Trade Institute and is a senior commerce specialist. Prior to
his retirement in 2007, Mr. Liu acted as an executive director and
the CEO of COFCO Corporation. He served in various departments
of the COFCO Corporation, including the finance department,
business planning department, general office and oils and fats
department, the representative office of the COFCO Corporation in
the United States and Top Glory (London) Ltd., a member of COFCO
in the United Kingdom. Mr. Liu was the deputy consulate of the
Chinese Consulate-General in Vancouver. Currently, Mr. Liu serves
as an independent non-executive director of DaChan Food (Asia)
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, an independent non-
executive director of Modern Dairy, and an independent director of
China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd., a company listed in
Singapore.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr.
Zhang is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school
of management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
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Astronautics and is a senior engineer. Mr. Zhang is the chairman
of Unibank Media, and is also an independent director of SYSWIN
INC., which was listed on the New York Stock Exchange until April
2013, and an independent director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital
Group. Mr. Zhang previously served as a director and president of
AirMedia, which was listed on NASDAQ, and is experienced in the
management of media operations and initial public offering.

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in January 2013 (resignation
with effect from 26 March 2014). Mr. Yan is the founding
managing partner of SAIF Partners (“SAIF”). From 1994 to 2001,
he was the managing director and head of the Hong Kong office
of Emerging Markets Partnership, the management company of
AIG Asia Infrastructure Funds. From 1989 to 1994, he worked
in the World Bank, the Hudson Institute and Sprint International
Corporation as an economist, a research fellow and a director for
strategic planning and business development for Asia Pacific Region
respectively in Washington, D.C. From 1982 to 1984, he was a chief
engineer at Jianghuai Airplane Corporation.

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Nanjing
Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the Master Program
in the Department of Sociology of Peking University from 1984
to 1986 and received a Master of Arts degree from Princeton
University in International Political Economy in 1989. Mr. Yan also
studied advanced finance and accounting courses at the Wharton
Business School in 1995.

Mr. Yan holds a number of directorships in listed companies. He
is (a) an independent non-executive director of China Petroleum
& Chemical Corporation (SinoPec), China Resources Land Limited,
CMPC Holdings Limited and Fosun International Limited; (b) a non-
executive director of Guodian Technology & Environment Group
Corporation Limited, Digital China Holdings Limited, China Huiyuan
Juice Group Limited and eSun Holdings Limited (all listed in Hong
Kong; in addition, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is also
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and
New York Stock Exchange); (c) an independent director of Giant
Interactive Group Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange); and
(d) a director of Acorn International Inc. (listed on the New York
Stock Exchange), ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ) and China Digital
TV Holding Co., Ltd. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange). Mr.
Yan was a non-executive director of MOBI Development Co., Ltd
from January 2003 to August 2013; a director of Shenzhen Eternal
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Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on the Small and
Medium Enterprise Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from
October 2006 to June 2013; a non-executive director (from October
2006 to April 2013) and the chairman (from May 2012 to April
2013) of NVC Lighting Holding Limited respectively; and director
of Global Education & Technology Group Ltd. (which was formerly
listed on the NASDAQ) from March 2007 to December 2011, the
shares of which were withdrawn from listing on the NASDAQ in
December 2011.

Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew, aged 60, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company in April
2013. Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor’s degree in science in 1974. He worked for Ernst & Young
for over 33 years before retiring from the firm in January 2010. He
served as the managing partner of the Beijing office from 1997 to
2000, the Quality & Risk Management Leader of the China firm of
Ernst & Young in 2004 and 2005, managing partner of Assurance
and Advisory Business Services (“AABS”) for Greater China from
2005 to 2008, and the Far East managing partner of AABS in
2006 and 2007. Mr. Wu became a member of the management
committee of the China firm of Ernst and Young in 2005. He was
the regional managing partner of Hong Kong and Macau from
July 2008 to December 2009. He is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Wu is an independent non-executive director, chairman of the
audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of SPT Energy Group Inc., a
company listed in Hong Kong.

Dr. Liao Jianwen, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 26 March 2014. Dr. Liao
received his Bachelor of Engineering from Northeastern University
in July 1988, his Master of Economics from Renmin University of
China in February 1991 and his Ph.D of Business Administration
from Southern lllinois University at Carbondale in August 1996. He
is an Associate Dean and Professor of Managerial Practice, Strategy,
Innovation and Entrepreneurship at the Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. His professional experience spans across North
America and Asia. He was a tenured associate professor at the
Stuart School of Business, lllinois Institute of Technology during
2006 to 2012. Additionally, he held various visiting professor
positions at Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (2001),
China European International Business School (2002) and Peking
University (2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011). Dr. Liao is primarily
engaged in cross disciplinary research in strategy, innovation and
entrepreneurship, and in particular the interactions between new
economy and traditional economy. He has won several awards for
his research and teaching, including the research grant awards
from the US Small Business Administration (2007, 2008) and the
Excellence in Teaching Award in 2009 at Stuart School of Business
at lllinois Institute of Technology.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013
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Senior Management

Mr. Lu Jianjun, aged 37, is the Chief Administrative Officer of
the Company and the deputy CEO and the Secretary of the Board
of Directors of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Lu graduated from
Inner Mongolia Normal University with an Art degree in Chinese
Language. Mr. Lu joined the Group in June 2000, and took up
a number of top management positions such as CEO Office and
Board office. Mr. Lu served as the Chief Administrative Officer of
the Company and the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu in 2009, with the responsibility for the office
management of the board and the audit department as well as
investor relations. He is currently responsible for strategies and the
management of the tender system. With his working experience for
more than 10 years, Mr. Lu has accumulated extensive management
experience and gained unique insight into the industry.

Mr. Yao Haitao, aged 51, is the Vice President of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and
Economics College with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School. He also holds an accountant
qualification. Mr. Yao joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003 and
took up a couple of positions including Deputy General Manager of
the liquid milk division, Assistant to President and Vice President of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu during his term. He has solid experience in
administrative management. Mr. Yao currently serves as the deputy
chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association.
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Mr. Liu Shengli, aged 48, was appointed as the Vice President
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu group and the director of sales
department in September 2012. Mr. Liu was graduated from
Dalian Ocean University. During his term of office, he pursued
further studies in Hubei University of Technology and China Europe
International Business School, obtaining master degrees in the Light
Industry Technology and Engineering and business administration.
Mr. Liu joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2002. He served as the
Assistant to the President, the General Manager of the marketing
department of UHT milk division and the General Manager of
ice cream division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been
working in the dairy industry for almost 16 years and has extensive
management experience and advanced management concepts in
the dairy industry. Mr. Liu was hornored as a “Labour Model of
Hohhot” of Inner Mongolia in 2010.

Mr. Jesper Fournaise Colding, aged 43, a Vice President of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Colding obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Macro Economics and a Master of International Marketing from
Southern Denmark University and Denver University in USA. Before
joining Inner Mongolia Mengniu he was the Senior Vice President
of Arla Foods in Global Categories and Operations from September
2009. From January 2007 he worked as the General Manager
of Royal Unibrew Baltic countries, a leading beer and beverage
company in the region. From 1994 to 2007, Mr. Colding had taken
various roles within sales/marketing in P&G and worked in leading
roles in Denmark, Sweden, and Norway before he worked as an
Associate Director in P&G Malaysia/Singapore. He has extensive
experience in sales/marketing and general management and a
record of building strong organizations and results. Mr. Colding
joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2012 and is responsible for
managing the Marketing Division. In December 2013, Mr. Colding
was awarded the “Innovation Personality of China’s influential
Brand of 2013" at the Organizing Committee of China Corporate
and Media Leaders Annual Conference.

Ms. Wu Wennan Bessie, aged 45, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company in September 2013. She joined
the Group in November 2012 as an investor relations officer and
was subsequently appointed as the senior financial controller of
the Group, with the responsibility for overseeing investor relations,
financial management and financial disclosure functions. Ms.
Wu graduated from the University of International Business and
Economics with a Bachelor of Economics in International Business
Management. Ms. Wu worked as the vice-president of finance
in Air Media Group Inc. (NASDAQ:AMCN) and in Unibank Media
between 2006 to 2012. Before that, Ms. Wu consecutively served
as the financial controller of Dongguan Hujing Holiday Country
Company Limited, a group member of HWL and the assistant
general accountant of Shenzhen Fountain Corporation. From 1994
to 1996, Ms. Wu worked as an auditor in a CPA firm in Hong Kong.
She became a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) in 1997 and a fellow member of the ACCA in
2002.
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Ms. Zhai Mei, aged 51, joined the Group in 2012 as the assistant
vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, with the responsibility
for public affair management system. In 1986, Ms. Zhai graduated
from Beijing University of Chemical Technology with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Machinery. Ms. Zhai worked for Coca Cola
as the general director of division of community affairs and public
relations in Great China, with almost 20-year experience in public
relations. She had accumulated working experience in public
relations for various fields, such as corporate communication,
risk management, state media and community affairs, as well as
expansive industrial network and resources. Her effective hands-
on approach of several public relations crises was well-received
by the public. In 2013, Ms. Zhai was awarded the “PR Personnel
of the Year in China” for her over-a-year efforts on leading brand
communication and institution restructuring for Mengniu.

Mr. Wang Yansong, aged 46, joined the Group in February 2012
as the assistant vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, with
the responsibility for quality and safety management system. In
1990, Mr. Wang graduated from the food mechanical engineering
department of Beijing Institute of Light Industry with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Engineering. In 1990, he joined Beijing Refrigerator
Compressor Factory as a production line technology engineer.
In 1995, he worked as a quality engineer for Beijing Embraco
Snowflake Compressor Company Limited. In 1997, he was
employed by Kimberly-Clark (China) Personal Hygienic Products
Co., Ltd and took up roles including programme control engineer,
production manager, product development engineer and quality
manager. In 2001, He was a technical service manager (North
China) for Coca-Cola (China) Beverages Limited. In 2009, he
worked as a technical operation manager (Asia-Pacific Region) for
Coca Cola. Prior to taking up the duty of overseeing the Group’s
quality, Mr. Wang had accumulated 20 plus years of experience in
quality control for fast-moving goods.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 41, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong Main Board listed company and he also
served in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBE®E

The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board of Directors (the
“Board"”), sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are beneficial to
the Group and its shareholders. The Company is committed to
improving those practices and maintaining its ethical corporate
culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code, except that certain Directors were unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") held on 7
June 2013 and extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") held on
16 July 2013 due to unavoidable business engagements and other
commitments outside of Hong Kong. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Investor Relations and Communications”.
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The Board

As at 31 December 2013, the Board comprised sixteen Directors,
including three executive Directors, namely, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr.
Bai Ying and Mr. Wu Jingshui, seven non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr.
Ma Jianping, Ms. Liu Ding, Mr. Finn S. Hansen and Mr. Christian
Neu and six independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jiao
Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Liu Fuchun,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Wu Kwok Keung
Andrew. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Sun Yiping. Each
of Mr. Yu Xubo, Ms. Liu Ding and Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)
is a Vice-Chairman of the Board. Subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2013 and with effect from 26 March 2014, each of
Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Liu
Fuchun had resigned from the Board, and Dr. Liao Jianwen had
been appointed to the Board.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting of performance
and management targets, evaluation of business performance
and supervision of management’s performance. The management
is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board
for the management and operations of the Group. The role of
the management is to implement the strategies and directions
determined by the Board and to work within the framework of
any written procedures and instructions laid down by the Board. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
board committees as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 48 to 57 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

During 2012, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt have been re-designated from non-executive Directors
to independent non-executive Directors with effect from 12 April
2012. Notwithstanding their positions as non-executive Directors
and a director of the board of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), the main operating
subsidiary of the Company, the Board considers Mr. Jiao and Mr.
Wolhardt to be sufficiently independent to act as independent non-
executive Directors as, prior to their re-designation, Mr. Jiao and
Mr. Wolhardt did not have any executive function or any day-to-day
or operational management role in the Group, except for attending
meetings of the Board, the relevant board committees (the “Board
Committees”) and the board of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and
carrying out supervising and monitoring functions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their
independence and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the definition of the
Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

() toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate

Governance Report).
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Directors’ Trainings

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has arranged in-house trainings for
Directors in the form of seminars and reading materials with
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the
Directors. During the year, a seminar was provided to all Board
members for updates of the Listing Rules by legal advisor. A
summary of trainings received by Directors during the year
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according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

Type of trainings

Directors BE =R
Executive Directors BITES
Sun Yiping BRFE A C
Bai Ying BB A C
Wu Jingshuit REKH A C
Ding Sheng (resigned on 1 September 2013) TEMRZZE—=FLA—8&T) A, C
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Ning Gaoning g2aE A, B, C
Yu Xubo TIER A, C
Niu Gensheng HiRAE A C
Ma Jianping* Bt A, C
Liu Ding (appointed on 10 January 2013) MT(R_ZT—=F—A+HEZT) A, C
Tim @rting Jgrgensen Tim @rting Jargensen

(resigned on 1 September 2013) (N=—ZT—=FHhA—B&T) A, C
Finn S. Hansen Finn S. Hansen A, C
Christian Neu (appointed on 1 September 2013)  Christian Neu(R—ZE— =% h A — BEZT) A C
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIEHITES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(XEBER) A, C
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A, C
Liu Fuchun® 2EE A C
Zhang Xiaoya sREEDp A C
Xie Tao (resigned on 1 April 2013) FHHE(PR_E—=FNA—HEHIT) A, C
Andrew Y. Yan* (appointed on 10 January 2013) RE#*(R-_ZE—=F— A+ HEZT) A, C
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew PR (R —=FMA—HEZMT)

(appointed on 1 April 2013) A, C

#  Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014 tRCZE-ME=AZRAEE
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A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the
business or directors’ duties

B:  giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C:  reading materials relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities and
regulatory updates

Board Proceedings

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect of
operational issues. The Directors may take independent professional
advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at the
Company’s expenses.

The Board held seven meetings during the year ended 31 December
2013 and two further meetings since 1 January 2014 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and
Board Committee meetings, the AGM and the EGM held in 2013
are set out in the following table.

A HFREEXBIEEREFFOATSR KEH
&/ imiE

B: EfE R hEHEk simiE EEREN

C: HMEHEERBENATRSHATENGHNES
i

EEeRBEERER
ExgEFRLBETHREE  THEBFERD
SRTHMEK SR AN EAERESESR
BAEE ARESAEEETERRESREMR
BRASREIZXRGRRNEEAEEETHENE
e —RME  #ENEGENSERTEHMN
BRREF -EFHAREEFEEMNESRER
ER: BEFUAEEERATEHABLIEXES
R-AMEBTRE  BRBARAARE-

BEeHE T —F+_A=+—HILFESR
TTHERER TR _Z—NFE—F—HEAR
EHHHERTTMAS® SESLENR-Z
—ZFBROZEECRESZETSR  BREHE
FREULBRFRIRSHERFBHNTE

Meeting Attended/Held
L/ 188
Annual  Extraordinary
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Meetings*  Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
Directors Bz EZEeR BNZEE UMZEEE REZEE WREFAE REKAAS
Executive Directors WITES
Sun Yiping b5 i 7 7
Bai Ying HE 17 0/1 0/1
Wu Jingshui* REKH 1l " on
Ding Sheng (resigned on 1 September 2013)  TE(R=E—=FAF—HEHT) 506 0/1 0/1
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ning Gaoning EgE 27 112 0/1 0/1
Yu Xubo TR n 33 01 on
Niu Gensheng ER4E i 01 on
Ma Jianping* SR n 0 0
Liu Ding (appointed on 10 January 2013) WT(R=2-=—-A+A
BZAE) 6/6 0/1 0/
Tim @rting Jergensen Tim @rting Jergensen
(resigned on 1 September 2013) (W=Z—=FNA—HEI) 6/6 7N on
Finn S. Hansen Finn S. Hansen 511 n 1n
Christian Neu (appointed on 1 September 2013) Christian Neu( i =Z—=%A A
—BEZH) 7N 0/0 0/0
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Meeting Attended/Held
HE/BITEE
Annual  Extraordinary
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Meetings*  Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
Directors Ex EZe88" BHZBE HMZSE REZEE RRBETAE RREAAE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFGTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) EHE(XNLEER) 47 33 22 o on
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 47 33 10 0/1
Liu Fuchun* 25 57 blE] 3.3 12 0/1 0/1
Zhang Xiaoya RET i 33 33 22 on on
Xie Tao (resigned on 1 April 2013) HER-T-ZFEMA-RBEL) W 10 10 10 000 000
Andrew Y. Yan* (appointed on 10 January 2013) B#t* (R =2 —=F—A+8
EZH) 5/6 171 0/
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew HER(R-F-=5mA-4
(appointed on 1 April 2013) EZf) 4/5 22 17 0N

* During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and three
other meetings to handle operational-level and investment matters.
According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for
convening a Board meeting is two members.

# Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept
by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only open
for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors for
their records. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group's business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2013,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning, a non-executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Sun
Yiping, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with shareholders and that views
of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company's articles of association. The Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board will be subject to re-election by the shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting or next following general
meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms
of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available for public
inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2013, the Remuneration Committee comprised
four members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr. Zhang
Xiaoya) and the remaining one member is a non-executive Director
(Mr. Yu Xubo). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr.
Julian Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.
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The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of the
Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s workload
and required commitment will be taken into account. In addition,
factors comprising economic and market situations, individual
contributions to the Group’s results and development as well
as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2013. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors and
senior management including terms of letters of appointments;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and recommended to the
Board; and

— reviewed the proposal of granting of restricted shares
according to the Company’s restricted share award scheme,
and made recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2013 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)
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Number of persons

AR (AR%T) N |
0-1,000,000 0
1,000,001-2,000,000 4
2,000,001-3,000,000 3
3,000,001-4,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2013, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr.
Zhang Xiaoya) and the remaining one member is a non-executive
Director (Mr. Ning Gaoning). The Nomination Committee is chaired
by Mr. Ning Gaoning.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value
to the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of directors if necessary.
In the selection process of a candidate to act as a Director, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including,
inter alia, reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience
in the dairy industry, professional and educational background,
and commitment in respect of available time and assesses the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Board had also in August 2013 approved the adoption of the board
diversity policy. Under such policy, board appointments will be
based on merits and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefit of diversity on the Board.
The selection of candidates on the Board is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional or industry experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into
account other factors based on its own business model and specific
business needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will continue to give adequate consideration to these measurable
objectives when making recommendation of candidates for
appointment to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2013 to discuss mainly, the new appointments
of Directors and the resignations of Directors and the update of the
terms of reference by inclusion of board diversity policy.
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen), Mr. Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Wu Kwok
Keung Andrew) in which one possesses the relevant professional
qualifications required under the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
internal controls and auditing. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent
review of financial reporting and by satisfying itself as to the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and as to the
efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2013. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;

- reviewed external auditors’
management’s response;

management letter and

- reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

—  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

—  reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim
announcements of the Company;

— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

—  reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.
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All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages
92 to 93), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group and the Company
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company as at 31 December 2013 and the profit and cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and effective
internal control system, to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness
regularly. Aiming at strengthening the risk management culture of
the Group and minimizing the impacts of the major risks on the
business and earnings of the Group, the senior management of the
Group meets to actively evaluate and review the significant risks
to which the Group is exposed to and reports to the Board on a
regular basis. The Group also appoints external consultants, when
considered appropriate, to review the Group’s internal control,
working systems and workflows, as well as the management
systems, and to make suggestions on system enhancement.

Besides strict implementation of a performance assessment system
and training programs for its staff, the Group has in place a series
of written working systems in respect of business, production,
finance, legal compliance and administration aspects, to ensure the
significant risks, to which the Group is exposed, are contained:

—  Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various business
functions is delegated to respective management within limits
set by senior management of the headquarters or the executive
Directors. The senior management meets on a regular basis
to discuss and approve business strategies, plans and budgets
prepared by individual business units. The performance of the
Group is reported to the Board on a regular basis.

70 china Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013

EREEECHIMIRBMMNEZZEGREN
FREREELEE - EXZ BN TIEMNERD
KMNEEGER AFEAN FESREEEM
EXEIRNREZEEN T RAEFHRAEDL
BRARE -

EEA%E  BAXAZBMBERZRET(FL2H
FREFBEMENBIAZHBENRE) I - EFT
AABRRUAEERARANT B |wEK - WWFH
BRRABE  AAMKRAEBRARRRNZ
E-=F T _A=T—"BNMBIRRRAEEE
EZHLEFENRBINRERE -

R EREE I

SEef R AR REMAMNAREZES -
IREREEMEELBRROER - W E R
ERRGIEEAR AEEZMEEEETHE
T&# BEIGERRIAKRERSZEAR
B FEBICASREZEREEXX  ZEMK
TEERBRUAKEXHERBNAGRZEE I
EEHRAEZTSERBRN - AEEBERERI
FREAR - LAte Rt NS E AR BRI - TREHIEM
miz - UREEBRENE  ARHEEL RGN
e

AEBERI—RIIGAER - £E - M1 5=
RITBETHAMNERLEHE  URHBTHR
REREBEZGIE LR E TIRHEHE - UHRF
AEEEHNERRBRSFAES

- EERB-AKEABMOEMRERE  BiE
EEREREETREXGRBEEZE N - HZxE
NNEBEREBSREEERNTEEZR
i o = AR E TR B E B AT S HE AR A R 75 B
fLPTAR B M55 - sTEIFAE - MAK
BHORBEHERNEETERS °



—  Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks the
risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business according
to their likelihood, financial consequence and reputational
impact on the Group.

—  Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for
each business function, in which approvals, authorization,
verification, recommendations, performance reviews, asset
security and segregation of duties are included.

— Information and communication — The Group’s working
systems document operational procedures of all business units,
as well as authorization and approval procedures for significant
decision making.

— Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-
assessment methodology, continuously assessing and
managing its business risks by way of assessment by the
headquarters of the Group and each business unit on a
regular basis, and communication of key control procedures to
employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board had examined
the internal control system and reviewed the evaluation performed
by the Audit Committee, the management and internal and external
auditors, on the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. No significant areas of concerns were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions and their training programmes and budget and
considered that they are adequate.

External Auditors

The Group's independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Committee will,
prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.
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Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2013 are as follows:

BE_Z—=Ft+-_A=t+—HIEFEXMHE
SN TFLROKEREEBAOERFBOT

2013 2012

—E—-= —ET——fF

RMB’000 RMB'000

Services rendered RENRE ARET T ARBFT

Annual audit FEET 3,800 3,600

Interim review fR R 600 580
Non-audit service FETET AR

Review on continuing connected transactions EHBERERS 40 40

Other professional services HEZER 1,180 760

5,620 4,980

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009. As at 31 December 2013, the
Strategy and Development Committee comprised two executive
Directors, Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr. Wu Jingshui, one non-executive
Director, Mr. Ma Jianping and one independent non-executive
Director, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen). The Strategy and
Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held two meetings
during the year and one meeting since 1 January 2014 up to the
date of this report to discuss mainly the long term development
plans and feasibility of investment projects.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company
Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well
as communication among Board members, with shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and management. For the year
ended 31 December 2013, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings.

Constitutional Documents
During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the Directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2013, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group’s operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’s
information, latest news and reports.

The AGM and two EGM of the Company were held on 7 June
2013, 16 July 2013 and 20 March 2014, respectively. Due to
unavoidable business engagements and other commitments outside
of Hong Kong, certain Directors were unable to attend the AGM
and the two EGM.
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The Directors were available in person for answering questions from
shareholders and investors at the “Questions and Answers” session
of the general meetings:

(i) seven Directors (two executive Directors (including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer), two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (including the chairman of the Audit Committee))
attended the AGM held on 7 June 2013;

(ii) two Directors (1 executive Director (the Chief Executive Officer)
and 1 non-executive Director) attended the EGM held on 16
July 2013; and

(iii) two Directors (1 executive Director (the Chief Executive Officer)
and 1 independent non-executive Director (the chairman of
the Audit Committee)) attended the EGM held on 20 March
2014,

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the shareholders of the Company. The
circular also included relevant details of proposed resolutions and
biographies of the Directors standing for election.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more shareholders of the Company or any one shareholder of the
Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s))
holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition, to convene an extraordinary general
meeting by depositing the written requisition at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory
Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary, specifying the objects of the
meeting, the name(s) and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and
signed by the requisitionist(s).
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the shareholders of the Company
may contact the Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office
of the Company at Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by email to
info@mengniuir.com. The Company will endeavor to respond
to their queries in a timely manner. Shareholders may also make
enquiries with the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

A shareholder of the Company may, during the period commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of any
general meeting and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting, give a notice in writing to the
Nomination Committee of the Board of his/her intention to propose
any person (other than himself/herself) for election to the office
of a Director and a notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. Such notices shall be
sent to Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary, specifying the name and contact details of the
shareholder putting forward the proposal for election of Director
and the name and contact details of the person proposed to be
elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for election
as Director, shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

The board of directors (the “Directors”) presents its report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

Principal Activities and Analysis of Operations
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk products (such as UHT
milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other
dairy products (such as cheese) in China.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities in
China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2013 by business segments is set out in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 94
to 95.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB0.2 (2012: RMB0.16) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB367,053,000 (2012: RMB282,917,000) in total, to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members on Thursday, 12
June 2014.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15
to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 100 to 101 and note
41 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB9,419,397,000 as at 31 December 2013 (2012:
RMB8,003,854,000).
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Donations
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately RMB18,634,000 (2012:
RMB6,029,000).

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 40 and 43 to the
financial statements.

Directors
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2013 were:

Executive Directors
Ms. SUN Yiping

Mr. BAl Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui#

Mr. DING Sheng (resigned on 1 September 2013)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping*

Ms. LIU Ding

Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN

(appointed on 10 January 2013)
(resigned on 1 September 2013)

Mr. Finn S. HANSEN

Mr. Christian NEU (appointed on 1 September 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. LIU Fuchun*

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. XIE Tao

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN*

Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew

(resigned on 1 April 2013)
(appointed on 10 January 2013)
(appointed on 1 April 2013)

# Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014
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Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Wu Jingshui
resigned as an executive Director, Mr. Ma Jianping resigned as
a non-executive Director and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Liu
Fuchun resigned as independent non-executive Directors, all with
effect from 26 March 2014. Dr. Liao Jianwen was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 26 March
2014,

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Yu Xubo and Mr. Zhang
Xiaoya will retire by rotation and Mr. Christian Neu and Dr. Liao
Jianwen will also retire in accordance with the Company's articles
of association and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and that a
confirmation of independence has been received from each of
them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 48 to 57.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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Directors’ Interests, Long and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance) (the “SFO") as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company/Associated
Corporation:

Company/Name of
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EERKRD  HEROREERZE
@ FRERKR
R-T-—=6+-A=t—0 ARAEERE
BITBA BRAA A RAFEEAE (T RLE
% RG] ([ 8% RIS IEG) ) EXVE) 2 K
{7 - R RERED  EECHAZS RS
101 E 3521608 T T B 0 B R 2 e Rk
A EWRBIMS RS - RIEEDHRST
ANEFRTEFX SR ([BEFA )
BRAEADAMBERERXFHARDT (B
F )2 SRR T

ARR/IEEEERAD 2 TR

Percentage of

the Company’s/
Associated
Corporation’s Issued

Total Number of Share Capital

Name of Director Associated Corporation  Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares {ERAQTF] 1HEEE
EsnA DNEHBEEER EEME ERERAY CRITREAZESL
(Note 1)
(BaET)
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 603,209 (L) 0.03%

B3 ZAN/N (EPN:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 448,201 (L) 0.03%

REESE B A

Note: ByeE

1. The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2013 was
1,835,263,447.

(L) Indicates a long position.

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options and
restricted shares under the Company’s share option scheme and
restricted share award scheme, details of which are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted Share Award
Scheme”, respectively below.

1. RZZE—=F+-"A=+—8 " ARARZDETK
D #ABLA1,835,263,447 % ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

Apart from as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ Interests,
Long and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above and in the “Share Option Scheme” and
“Restricted Share Award Scheme” below, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the Company granted to any director, or his or her
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2013, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company whose interests and short positions in
the shares of the Company and of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) are set out above, in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

B EXFIBEEIN RZE—Z=ZF+_A=1+—
H ARAIZREERTETRAERZSBZHME
ATRARBHEMEEEE (EERESFME
{EEPIEXVER) 2 Btfn ~ HHEAR D R EEES - 8
BARBAECEREES MMEIRIIFEIS2ERER
EMERMA - HRBZRETRAMEARNAFM
B X P 2 R mm SRR

ESWERG 2 &R

BRI EXTEEN D - RN REEE Z#
73 R MAR ISR T X B S RIR
BIER R R AT B T IREE SN - RNF REME
B BECAEFIESAZEBHIRKNFTL
BRI KRB AR R RO BN Z N - mEEL
BATREMABREN - BARRFSEEAERA
A FREKFAEFARBE IR B
FEFAESNIMEMEABRTR 2 AREER -

FERRER

R-ZF-—=F+-A=1—R REZHFIHE
{PIZE336IRRTEFE 2 Bk - TERR
(RARB REBEEE(EE LB S MG R
EXVER DR AEA NS AR ER EXH
JIMARREREREBZTHRABRINRARER
0 RABRER D PR SOR BT

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Issued

Number of Share Capital®
Ordinary Shares EARARE BT

Name of Substantial Shareholder FTERRER BB ZBEREAE RAHDLE®
COFCO Corporation FIREERRAT 496,014,022 (L) 27.03%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited FREE(EB)BRAR 495,614,022 (L)@@ 27.01%
Farwill Limited TRERAH 495,614,022 (L)@ 27.01%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited FRILFERERAR 495,614,022 ()@ 27.01%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited FRIFKREERAR 347,600,000 (L) 18.94%
Arla Foods Amba Arla Foods amba 495,614,022 (L)® 27.01%
Prominent Achiever Limited HEBRAF 495,614,022 (L)® 27.01%
Danone SA Danone SA 495,614,022 (L)® 27.01%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd EeeDMBER AR 495,614,022 (L)® 27.01%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 146,149,821 (L) 7.96%
JP Morgan Chase & Co JP Morgan Chase & Co 93,748,201 (L) 5.11%
500,000 (S) 0.03%
88,418,630 (P) 4.82%
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Notes:

(M

COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of
496,014,022 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 495,614,022
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 400,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 400,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is deemed interested in 495,614,022
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill
Limited.

Pursuant to various agreements dated 15 June 2012 and 28 June 2013
which constitute agreements under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO,
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited, Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods Amba, Danone Asia
Pte Ltd are deemed interested in an aggregate of 495,614,022 shares
in the Company.

Of the 495,614,022 shares in the Company, COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited is deemed interested in 347,600,000 shares through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 495,614,022 shares in the
Company through its 71.58% owned subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.
The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2013 was
1,835,263,447.

Indicates a short position.

Indicates a long position.

Indicates a put position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.
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Connected Transaction

On 12 February 2014, Danone Asia Pte Ltd (“Danone Asia”),
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited (“COFCO Dairy Investments”)
and the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to issue and allot 121,236,357 shares
of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”) to COFCO Dairy
Investments, a joint venture company which upon the completion
of the subscription in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Completion”)
will be beneficially owned as to approximately 31.4% by Danone
Asia, approximately 51.7% by COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
("COFCO (HK)") and approximately 16.9% by Arla Foods Amba
("Arla Foods”) (the "Subscription”). Following the Subscription
Completion, Danone Asia’s effective interest in the Company
will increase to approximately 9.9%. The subscription price was
HK$42.50 per Subscription Share. The total consideration of
approximately HK$5,153 million was payable to the Company
in cash and financed in full by Danone Asia. The enhanced
collaboration between the Company and Danone Asia on both
shareholding and operation level would benefit the Company in
securing its leading market position in the dairy industry in China
and providing a better position for the Company to capitalize
on future opportunities. Further, the proceeds raised from the
Subscription were used to repay the loan taken out for the takeover
of Yashili International Holdings Ltd which closed on 13 August
2013 and also part of any other indebtedness of the Company.

The issuance of the Subscription Shares was subject to approval of
the shareholders of the Company. The relevant ordinary resolution
was passed at the shareholders’ meeting of the Company on 20
March 2014.

COFCO Dairy Investments is a substantial shareholder of the
Company and is therefore a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Subscription constitutes a connected transaction
for the Company. The Company confirms it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As at the date of the Subscription Agreement, COFCO
(HK), Arla Foods and Danone Asia, and parties acting in concert
with any of them (the “Concert Group”) indirectly owns, controls
and has directions over approximately 27.02% of the voting rights
of the Company. Upon the Subscription Completion, the interests
of the Concert Group increased from approximately 27.02% to
approximately 31.54%.

For further details in the Subscription, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 12 February 2014 and 20
March 2014, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated 5
March 2014.
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Continuing Connected Transaction

On 20 February 2012 the Company entered into a new Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement with COFCO Corporation, a substantial
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 27.03% in the
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2013 and therefore a
connected person of the Company, pursuant to which the Group
will continue to, subject to the Group’s regular review and at
the Group’s option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation, its
subsidiaries and certain associated companies (collectively “COFCO
Corporation Group Companies”) for a term commencing from 20
January 2012 to 31 December 2014.

The transactions under the new Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Group. The annual transaction amount under the new Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2012
and each of the two years ending 2014 was/is not expected to
exceed RMB600,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products was approximately RMB325,155,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (i) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Bond Issue

On 21 November 2013, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Standard Chartered Bank, Deutsche Bank
AG, Singapore Branch, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited and Barclays Bank PLC, in connection
with the issue of bonds due in 2018 in the principal amount of
US$500,000,000 by the Company (the “Bonds”). The offer price of
the Bonds was 99.456% of the principal amount of the Bonds. The
Bonds will bear interest from and including 27 November 2013 at
the rate of 3.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear.

The Bonds are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured
obligations of the Company which will at all times rank at least
pari passu without preference among themselves and rank at
least equally with the other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

The issue of the Bonds (the “Bond Issue”) was only offered outside
the United States in compliance with Regulation S under the United
States Securities Act of 1933 (as amended). None of the Bonds
were offered to the public in Hong Kong and none of the Bonds
were placed to any connected parties of the Company.

The estimated net proceeds of the Bonds Issue, after deduction
of the underwriting discounts and commission and other
estimated expenses, amounted to approximately US$493 million.
The Company used the net proceeds to refinance outstanding
indebtedness of the Group.

For further details on the Bond Issue, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 22 November 2013.
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Share Option Scheme BT

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) AR RIERM—IBERETEI([HE]) - B @Y
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible HREBEEBKINE TR 28 ER2EEELSE
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’'s &#E « £ :FEINHRITEZBIRENT -
operations. The following share options were outstanding under

the Scheme during the year.

As at As at Exercise period of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31December  Date of share options Exercise
Name or Category of 2013 during during during 2013 grant of (both dates inclusive)® price of
Participant R=B-=% theyear theyear? theyear RZZ-=% shareoptions  BRETHEHM share options
SRERZHER -R-H FRRA ERfEY FREXN TZA=t-B RUBERERE (BRERMX) BRETEER
HKS
BT
Executive Directors
Y783
Bai Ying 1,840,000 - (1,840,000) - - 1882008 18.8.2010 10 17.8.2014 22.03
B% ZEEN\E Z2-ZE\AT/\RE
NRTIA ZE-mENATLEA
3,210,000 - (1,095,0000  (1,284,000) 831,000  23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.2015 24.40
“EThF “E—H#+-A-t=RZE
T-AZ+=R ZF-RE+-A=fZH
3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.201510 9.10.2018 24.10
_T——F “Z-RETATEE
+A+A ZE2-\EtANA
Wu Jingshui® 1,100,000 - (1,100,000 - - 18.8.2008 18.8.2010 10 17.8.2014 22.03
REK —EE)\E ZZ-ZEAATNRE
JNATNA ZZ-MENATEH
1,500,000 - (900,000) (600,000) - 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 0 22.11.2015 24.40
“ETNhF ZE——f+-AZtZR%E
T-A=t=8 ZZ-AFft-A=tzH
2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000  10.10.2011 10.10.2015 10 9.10.2018 2410
—E—F “Z-1ETATHE
TA+H ZZ-\ETANA
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As at As at Exercise period of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31December  Date of share options Exercise
Name or Category of 2013 during during during 2013 grant of (both dates inclusive)® price of
Participant R-B-=F the year the year?® theyear W=E—-=% shareoptions  BRETEHEH share options
SRERLHRR -A-H FRRE  FATER FR%% tZA=t-B  RUBRERN  (BRERWA) BRETHE
HKS
BT
Employees in Aggregate 34,350,904 - (33,968,601) - 382,303 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
EE&: ZEZN\E ZE-TENATNRE
NATAR “E-MENATEA
63,587,395 - (27,553,134)  (33,173,009) 2,861,252  23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.2015 24.40
ZTNE “E—f+-A-t=RE
T-AZtZH ZE-REft-A=tzH
4,070,000 - (574,000)  (2,308,000) 1,188,000  6.12.2010 6.12.2012 10 5.12.2016 22.80
_T-%fF “R-CETZRREE
+=R~A8 “E-%t-ARA
47,400,000 - - (8,900,000 38,500,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t0 9.10.2018 24.10
—T——F Z-IETATRE
TATH ZZ-\E+ANA
162,658,299 - (67,030,735  (46,265,009) 49,362,555

#

Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014

Notes:

Q)

(€)

The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than seven years from
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the Scheme are
set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was
HK$26.35.

As at the date of this report, the total number of the Company’s
shares available for issue under the Scheme (excluding the share
options granted but not yet to be exercised) is 76,306,210 shares,
which represented approximately 4.16% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. Details of the valuation are
set out in note 43 to the financial statements.
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The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Board resolved on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”) to
adopt a restricted share award scheme (the “Scheme”), pursuant
to which existing shares of the Company will be purchased by
the professional trustee(s) (which is/are independent of and not
connected with the Company) to be appointed by the Company
for the administration of the Scheme (the “Trustee(s)”) from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in
trust for selected participants (selected individual being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer,
agent or consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) until
such shares are vested with the relevant selected participants in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, restricted shares held by the
Trustee(s) upon the trust(s) and which are referable to a selected
participant shall not vest in the selected participant if, amongst
others, the selected participant has been terminated by the
Company or any subsidiary of the Company because of, amongst
others, (i) dishonesty or serious misconduct; (ii) incompetence
or negligence in the performance of his duties; (iii) becoming
bankrupt; and (iv) being convicted for any criminal offence involving
his integrity or honesty.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective from the Adoption Date
until the later of (i) the 5th anniversary of the Adoption Date (namely
26 March 2018); and (ii) the date on which the audited financial
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 are
published in accordance with the Listing Rules. The termination
shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected participant
thereunder and the Scheme can be terminated and extended by a
resolution of the Board.

As at 31 December 2013, the aggregate number of restricted shares
of the Company granted to selected participants was 17,569,400,
of which 8,425,800 restricted shares were granted to Ms. Sun
Yiping, the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the
Company.
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Pre-emptive Rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2013, except that the trustee of
the Restricted Share Award Scheme, pursuant to the rules of the
Scheme, purchased on the open market a total of 16,215,000
the Company’s listed securities at a total consideration at about
RMB394.1 million.

Public Float

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has pledged certain bank
deposits, bills receivable, land use rights and certain property, plant
and equipment aggregating to approximately RMB1,104,144,000
(2012: RMB347,306,000). Details are set out in the respective notes
to the financial statements. In addition, the Group has pledged an
aggregate of 2,420,906,271 shares in a listed subsidiary to secure
bank loans.
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Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are set out in
notes 46 and 49, respectively, to the financial statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on pages 283 to 284.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 60 to 75.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2014
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Board of Directors
Executive Directors

Ms. SUN Yiping (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. BAI Ying
Mr. WU Jingshui

Mr. DING Sheng

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning (Chairman)
Mr. YU Xubo (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping

Ms. LIU Ding (Vice-Chairwoman)

Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN

Mr. Finn S. HANSEN
Mr. Christian NEU

(resigned on 26 March 2014)

(resigned on 1 September 2013)

(resigned on 26 March 2014)
(appointed on 10 January 2013)

(resigned on 1 September 2013)

(appointed on 1 September 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chariman)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT
Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya
Mr. XIE Tao

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew

Dr. LIAO Jianwen

Senior Management
Mr. LU Jianjun

Mr. YAO Haitao

Mr. LIU Shengli

Mr. Jesper Fournaise COLDING

Ms. WU Wennan, Bessie
Ms. ZHAI Mei
Mr. WANG Yansong

(resigned on 26 March 2014)

(resigned on 1 April 2013)

(appointed on 10 January 2013
and resigned on 26 March
2014)

(appointed on 1 April 2013)

(appointed on 26 March 2014)
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Secretary)

Stock Code

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319
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Investor Relations Contact
Ms. WU Wennan, Bessie

29th Floor, Block A, IFC

No. 8A Jianguomenwai Avenue
Chaoyang District

Beijing, China

Email: info@mengniuir.com

Website: www.mengniuir.com
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Hong Kong
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Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar
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Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Legal Advisors

As to Hong Kong Law

Sullivan & Cromwell

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China

BNP Paribas

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’

B % AR

Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

et
EY =i

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
Wwww.ey.com

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 94 to 282,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z=F—=F+_HA=1+—HIFE

2013 2012
= —T——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR¥T ARET T
Restated
(g&&Em)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEQEER
REVENUE PN 5 43,356,908 35,999,990
Cost of sales SHE A (31,659,663) (27,049,992)
GROSS PROFIT ER 11,697,245 8,949,998
Other income and gains NS e 5 288,633 249,195
Selling and distribution expenses HE RKHE A (8,168,238) (6,222,749)
Administrative expenses THREA (1,605,791) (1,174,851)
Other expenses EmER 6 (360,125) (193,811)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &% Z&FE 1,851,724 1,607,782
Interest income FEUA 359,295 218,148
Finance costs BhE R A 10 (160,377) (39,159)
Share of profits and losses of: JEAG LA A58 K2 B4 -
A joint venture —faEhE 24 - (66,763)
Associates il 25 153,861 13,855
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM REFREEXRK
CONTINUING OPERATIONS B4 Al I 7 2,204,503 1,733,863
Income tax expense FrfS iz i 11 (366,713) (245,476)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM REFELSEEK
CONTINUING OPERATIONS AERH 1,837,790 1,488,387
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERIEREEL
Profit for the year from discontinued REBERIEREHET 2
operations REFE 12 24,198 429
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A EFE 1,861,988 1,488,816
Attributable to: A& fE(L -
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZ % = /N 1,630,925 1,303,101
Non-controlling interests IR AR R 2 231,063 185,715
1,861,988 1,488,816
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss &r& 18 s

For the year ended 31 December 2013 B#{Z —F—=F+_HA=1+—HILFE

2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR®T T AR®ET T
Restated
(geEuh)
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  AAREEREE A
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ELERER
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED IN RMB (LLERAR® TS
PER SHARE) 14
Basic YN
— For profit for the year — RNEFH 0.904 0.737
— For profit from continuing operations —REFEREER
NS 0.891 0.737
Diluted e
— For profit for the year — NFFHE 0.896 0737
— For profit from continuing operations —REARFELEER
AE 0.883 0.737

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are  ZNG & & 3 IR 3% B 8O 5F 1B 70 B 75 s 2= Y =%
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. 1355 °

HESFAEFRLAR —T=FF% 95



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeEERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z=F—=F+_HA=1+—HIFE

2013 2012
= —T——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR¥T T ARETT
Restated
(geEa)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZS 5 R 5 1,861,988 1,488,816
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Efh ZE Uk~ (E518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be ~ HZEIfEHHESE
reclassified to profit or loss in BEmmEMmEm
subsequent periods: Wz, (B518)
Available-for-sale investments: A ERE -
Reversal of changes in fair value RN B E) O 5 28(b) (98,334) =
Changes in fair value N EE 28(a) (67,347) 61,504
Income tax effect BIRET=02 28(b) 33,051 (10,221)
(132,630) 51,283
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBNE R =5
foreign operations (46,350) 474
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be E & Bif & H =
reclassified to profit or loss in B EmEmEmkE
subsequent periods (E18) 758 (178,980) 51,757
Net other comprehensive income not Bz rgEfoEiE
to be reclassified to profit or loss in B A M 2 E W
subsequent periods e - -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHMEZERE
/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B518) » HKFE (178,980) 51,757
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZARSAE
FOR THE YEAR 1,683,008 1,540,573
Attributable to: LATR & 77 FEAh
Owners of the Company ViIN/NEIEZ PN 1,458,979 1,352,801
Non-controlling interests JEFE IS A% R 224,029 187,772
1,683,008 1,540,573
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2013 R=—ZE—=F+_-F=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
RZB-—=F RZT—-F RZT—_F
+=A=+-H +=ZA=+—H —HA—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARET T ARETTT ARET T
Restated Restated
(f &) (&)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER & 15 9,246,109 7,739,259 6,635,921
Construction in progress FETRR 16 1,275,875 596,812 886,674
Investment properties KEY* 17 115,816 - -
Land use rights + {5 FRE 18 1,048,813 801,191 578,604
Goodwill P 19 5,694,938 482,436 482,436
Other intangible assets Hitfmp & E 20 1,612,293 224,228 223,442
Investments in a joint venture R—HEERFNRE 24 - - 66,763
Investments in associates REEE R RIMIRE 25 2,843,155 77,921 153,352
Deferred tax assets BEFTSHEE 26 155,739 72,093 66,749
Biological assets EYEE 27 36,707 211,686 =
Non-current financial assets FRDCREE 28 1,699,666 563,309 365,167
Long term prepayments REFFERR 31 289,145 299,947 243,942
24,018,256 11,068,882 9,703,050
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other current financial assets HitnehemEE 28 1,744,747 441,377 148,711
Inventories FE 29 2,577,078 1,362,673 1,643,290
Trade and bills receivables EU R R R 30 754,265 855,708 810,391
Prepayments, deposits and AN BReR
other receivables HAth pE U B 31 2,485,297 1,383,611 1,034,538
Pledged deposits REBERFN 32 561,709 51,602 174,430
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHER 32 7,101,580 5,752,041 6,485,269
15,224,676 9,847,012 10,296,629
Assets of disposal groups classified DEBREBHFED
as held for sale BREHERNEE 12 1,096,464 = =
16,321,140 9,847,012 10,296,629
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #2& B #& kiR 5=

As at 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=F+=-H=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
RZE—=F RIZT—=-—F RKRIE—=F
+=—H=+—-H +=-BA=+—8H —HA—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR¥ETT ARETIT ARETIT
Restated Restated
(/& &) (/B &)
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and bills payables MR R ZiE 33 4,761,298 3,629,460 3,653,349
Other payables and accruals H A e FIE &
BiREHR 34 4,354,840 2,550,911 2,727,161
Interest-bearing bank and STEHRITR
other borrowings HitfEE 35 8,461,506 573,777 402,075
Other loans HER 36 92,565 24,915 119,094
Deferred income RIEW 38 19,389 19,056 18,912
Income tax payable ENEEHR 170,483 58,426 103,228
17,860,081 6,856,545 7,023,819
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOMARERFERN
assets classified as held for sale BEEEZEBANAG 12 203,250 - -
18,063,331 6,856,545 7,023,819
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) Eh8i&E (&%) (1,742,191) 2,990,467 3,272,810
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERADAR
LIABILITIES 22,276,065 14,059,349 12,975,860
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and STEHRITR
other borrowings HinfgE 35 3,235,535 = =
Long term payables REERRIE 37 100,678 144,593 188,739
Deferred income RIS 38 200,326 215,740 234,940
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFEHARE 26 64,429 33,051 22,830
Other financial liabilities HthemaE 39 663,959 544,858 480,531
4,264,927 938,242 927,040
NET ASSETS FEE 18,011,138 13,121,107 12,048,820
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #2& B #&ikiR 3=

As at 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=F+—-_A=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
R=B-—= RT——-F RIZT—_F
+=B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —A—H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz AR¥T ARETTT ARETTT
Restated Restated
(i) (&)
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners RRAEE ARG HER
of the Company
Issued capital BETIRA 40 186,476 181,151 181,087
Shares held under Restricted Share BR 11 A% 2= SE B =t 2l
Award Scheme THRAMNRN 40/44 (394,121) - -
Other reserves Hi R 41(A) 10,628,142 8,491,301 8,190,634
Retained earnings REFHE 4,940,421 3,816,793 3,099,337
15,360,918 12,489,245 11,471,058
Non-controlling interests IR R R A 2,650,220 631,862 577,762
TOTAL EQUITY MR 18,011,138 13,121,107 12,048,820
Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
B25E BFEE
Director Director
EE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z=F—=F+_HA=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREREEAEEES

Non-
Issued Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves eamings Total interests equity
EEIRA  HtE  REME ait FEERER S

Nots ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
g ARBTT ARETT ARRTT ARETR ARETT ARETR

Note 41(A)
tsEa1(4)
At 1 January 2012 RZZ-—4-H—-A
As previously reported MERZR 181,087 8,215,634 3,074,337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820
Prior year adjustment BAFEAR - (25,000) 25,000 = = =
As restated mEi 181,087 8,190,634 3,099,337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820
Profit for the year (Restated) REFE(EZ) = - 1303101 1,303,101 185715 1,488,816
Other comprehensive income FEEMEENE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of AR EREARE
available-for-sale 28 IRHE
investments, net of tax = 49,226 = 49,226 2,057 51,283
Exchange difference on AEFIEBRENR
translation of foreign =
operations - 474 - 474 - 474
Total comprehensive income FEZANREE
for the year - 49,700 1,303,101 1,352,801 187,772 1,540,573
Shares issued under equity-settled  RIZEMIRA T8
share option arrangements BRETHEIRD 43 64 12,063 - 12,127 - 12,127
Equity-settled share option IARR (35 (A B A
arrangements ZH 43 - 19,172 - 19,172 = 19,172
Transfer to statutory reserves ERDETRHE = 235,636 (235,636) = = -
Final 2011 dividend declared BER-T——5H
R E 13 - - (350,009) (350,009) - (350,009)
Dividends paid/payable to IR R R R
non-controlling interests R,/ R
REERERE = = = = (79,363) (79,363)
Acquisition of non-controlling IR IEPERR IR R 25
interests - (2,346) - (2,346) (8,367) (10,713)
Derecognition of puttable R RER AR E R
non-controlling interests s 39 = (13,558) = (13,558) (45,942) (59,500)
At 31 December 2012 RZZ——F
+-A=1+-H 181,151 8,491,301 3,816,793 12,489,245 631,862 13,121,107
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &r&a R Z xR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 HE —T—=F+_A=1+—HIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG E PN, T
Shares
held under
Restricted
Share Non-
Issued Award Other  Retained controlling Total
capital Scheme reserves earnings Total interests equity
REMERE
_Emn .
BRARA  RENRGD  AMRE  RENE ait  FERRR s
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wit ARMTT ARMTR ARMTT ARETR ARETR AREBTR ARET:R
Note 41(A)
KizEa1(A)
1 January 2013 RZE—=45-F-H
As previously reported ﬁﬂiﬁ\]ffﬂ 181,151 - 8516301 3745840 12,443,292 628,557 13,071,849
Prior year adjustment BEFEAR - - (25,000) 70,953 45,953 3,305 49,258
As restated L 181,151 - 8491301 3,816,793 12,489,245 631,862 13,121,107
Profit for the year KEFE - - - 1,630,925 1,630,925 231,063 1,861,988
Other comprehensive loss FEEMZEER:
for the year:
Reversal of changes in fair value, ~ EEIR% E"‘“"
net of tax ?I]W - - (58,630) - (58,630) (6,653) (65,283)
Changes in fair value of itEeE }xﬁmdﬁ
available-for-sale 29 Mt
investments, net of tax - - (67,347) - (67,347) - (67,347)
Exchange difference on BEBINERMES
translation of foreign =8
operations - - (45,969) - (45,969) (381) (46,350)
Total comprehensive income /(loss) & 2EE / (B1E)
for the year k] - - (171,946) 1,630,925 1,458,979 224,029 1,683,008
Shares issued under equity-settled 1B EBARR (A5 408
share option arrangements BEZ BT 43 5325 - 1223371 - 1,228,702 - 1,228,702
Equity-settled share option MH;J XEERE
arrangements 43 - - 52,382 - 52,382 - 52,382
Transfer of share option reserve E}ﬁ AT RE
upon forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (95,492) 95,492 - - -
Share purchases for Restricted AR AIERZHE
Share Award Scheme eIk 44 - (394,121) - - (394,121) - (394121)
Restricted Share Award Scheme (R4 R B2 44 - - 151,108 - 151,108 - 151,108
Final 2012 dividend declared BER-E-——&4
KRS 13 - - - (290,488)  (290,488) - (290,488)
Dividends paid/payable to ﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂ’éﬁn/ﬁﬁ
non-controlling interests e/ TR
Hﬁ%&mﬁ%% - - - - - (94257)  (94,257)
Acquisition of subsidiaries i NG - - - - - 460,855 460,855
Capital injection from SRR Wéﬁ TE
non-controlling interests - - - - - 1,012,003 1,012,003
Disposal of equity interests in HE—FIFRARIZ
a subsidiary without RE(RAXE
loss of control ) Me) - - 689,529 - 689,529 611,482 1,301,011
Distribution to non-controlling WFT“M ol
interests a2 - - - - - (146,240)  (146,240)
Acquisition of non-controlling H&ﬂﬁiﬂ“ﬁxﬂﬁiﬁ
interests - - (5,708) - (5,708) 499 (5,209)
Transfer to statutory reserves EBRELTEE - - 312301 (312,301) - - -
Derecognition of puttable KIERRME IR
non-controlling interests s 39 - - (18,710) - (187100 (50,013) (68,723
At 31 December 2013 R-E—=F
+-A=t+-H 186,476 (394,121) 10,628,142 4,940,421 15360,918 2,650,220 18,011,138
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 HZ =T —=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2013 2012
—=E—= T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR¥T ARET T
Restated
(i\«( )
Cash flows from operating activities REEBELTNRESRE
Profit before tax: AT A
From continuing operations REBEBRELEER 2,204,503 1,733,863
From discontinued operations WED MR RS 24,198 429
Adjustments for: TS IBEL AR
Interest income 2 U A (359,295) (218,148)
Finance costs B & k2N 10 160,377 39,159
Depreciation of items of property, ME - R NERETE
plant and equipment 7 1,178,923 972,652
Depreciation of investment properties KEMEITE 7 1,815 -
Amortisation of land use rights b {55 PR AR £ 7 21,748 14,711
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihmi & sy 7 15,096 7,936
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEEYHE BEX
plant and equipment RAiEEE 6 17,496 5,992
Share-based payment expense PARS A7 5 B B S A+t 43 52,382 19,172
Provision for trade receivables and JrE AR 3R K L A UK
other receivables ,MIE??E%{% 6 81,934 31,198
Share of profits and losses of JEIE & SR ZmA
a joint venture JE’;‘T 24 - 66,763
Provision for property, plant and ME - BE KR EEE
equipment 6 9,162 -
Share of profits and losses of associates FEREs &N Tﬂf?&}’éﬂa 25 (153,861) (13,855)
Write-down of inventories to a2 &35 5% E
net realisable value 6 277 1,495
Government grants related to income U A KB 2 B AT f B (16,000) (103,493)
Government grants related to BAEYEEMREZ
biological assets D SEGE) (33,100) =
Amortisation of deferred income 7 I A7 2 2 B 5 (19,385) (19,056)
Foreign exchange differences, net PE & = X8 H 58 5/6 (155,147) 2,393
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 8 [EHE —KE&Z A T
= 5 - (4,384)
Gain on disposal of associates ank==: AN 5 - (50,635)
Gain arising from changes in fair value RN BB EERA
less cost to sell EE WS 27 (4,506) -
Unrealized fair value losses on derivative AERTESMTE
financial instruments 3,192 -
Restricted Share Award Scheme PR 1 P e B T 21 44 151,108 —
3,180,917 2,486,192
Decrease in other financial assets Hib e mEERD
— entrusted loans — & ER 20,444 20,974
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, () (337,582) 268,495
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills FEUBE R R ENEIR R
receivables (340) 73,178 (91,330)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits BRESFZORLD (3 0) 51,602 (12,137)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TES R~ e R EAEY
other receivables /\IEi- il (935,147) (242,617)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEN R R ENEZE
bills payables i*j][l/(/)jzd ) 630,305 (155,989)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and TEIE B A M E A e 5008
other payables 20 CRid) 1,014,080 (75,808)
Cash generated from operations B IREE IR G 3,697,797 2,197,780
Interest paid AR B (133,506) (16,588)
Income taxes paid SANEILG %R (280,612) (299,708)
Net cash flows from operating activities EE XK ELNWFRERE 3,283,679 1,881,484
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &R ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 B#{Z —F—=F+_HA=1+—HILFE
2013 2012
—=E—= —E——4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt =t ARET T ARKETTT
Restated
(g &)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEENRSRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of BEYWHE  BENLENSF
property, plant and equipment IH 27,966 14,696
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets f& & 4 & EFT 15 8 5,000 300
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights = & + 3t {F B #EFTIS FIE 16,098 -
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWE  HENMERE
equipment (746,230) (768,881)
Purchase of biological assets BEEMEE (369,437) (143,893)
Purchase of construction in progress EEITIZE 16 (1,735,259) (1,187,834)
Purchase of other intangible assets H iR & AN 20 (9,669) (3,226)
Purchase of land use rights 3 B ARG N (6,556) (195,146)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments EBEE [t HERE (589,396) (370,258)
Disposal of available-for-sale investments ~ H &R HERE 240,400 400
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE T A A 45 (7,592,334) (5,200)
Capital injection to associates HEENREE (2,536,739) (1,871)
Receipt of government grants related to W B £ UK B [ oE & EE AR 2
purchase of fixed assets 2GRk 4,304 -
Receipt of government grants related to TLEE B AW & EE RN
purchase of biological assets BT B 33,100 _
Increase of long term time deposit K EAF BRTE SR 0 (403,548) -
Purchase of time deposits with original BERIHAA=EANL
maturity of more than three months HY 5 HiTE 50 (802,990) (671,297)
Interest received U BRI 8, 321,286 175,084
Dividends received from associates Uk B B N B AR 12,909 22,398
Dividends received from an AT B 1% E WA AR B
available-for-sale investment 153 153
Disposal of associates el /NGl 679 101,810
Advances to a joint venture AN —REERERIE - (135,000)
Purchase of investment deposits BB Z I (1,280,508) (2,800,960)
Payment of contingent consideration SHARBK (18,000) -
Withdrawal of investment deposits IEIE RN 160,000 2,743,760
Net cash flows used in investing RETEFMAFRESRE
activities (15,268,771) (3,224,965)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &R ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z=F—=F+_HA=1+—HIFE

2013 2012
—E—= —FT——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt et ARET T ARETT
Restated
(geE)
Cash flows from financing activities MEIHEENRESRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans 5+ BIR1TEKFTISHIAE 25,031,718 549,925
Proceeds from bonds issued B #TESFE IR 3,009,796 -
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans &€&t BRTTE K (17,192,137) (288,501)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RITERNRECTER
for bank loans B, () (109,273) 134,965
Dividends paid to owners of the Company XA RQ &#EA AR E 13 (290,488) (350,009)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 3z {5 FE4% AG A SR A 25 RO A% B (94,217) (71,397)
Proceeds from other loans H A B SR FTS I8 40,150 18,500
Repayment of long term payables EEREENFRIE (69,418) (53,712)
Capital injection from non-controlling R R T E
interests 17,693 -
Capital distribution to non-controlling IR AR R = F A
interests (146,240) =
Shares purchase for Restricted Share AR SRR E R 2R
Award Scheme 44 (394,121) -
Shares issued under equity-settled share TRAR LARS A 32 A~ Y B8 A A
option arrangements LZHEE TR G 43 1,228,702 12,127
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W B JE 492 A G B AR 25 (2,409) (10,713)
Disposal of non-controlling interests 4 e IR R BG B AR 2 1,301,011 .
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BEEEELE (FTA)W
activities FRERE 12,330,767 (58,815)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRkBReSEWEM
cash equivalents ORid) 558 345,675 (1,402,296)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F{NEERRESEEY
of year 32 2,917,541 4,322,066
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  [EXRE BRI 2 (HEE)
net 147,673 (2,229)
Cash and bank balances attributable ERIEEEETEEGE e R
to discontinued operations RITEETT 12 (56,299) -
Cash and cash equivalents FERNRERFEESZEY
at end of year 32 3,354,590 2,917,541
Analysis of balances of cash and RERRSEBYEHRIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated RERE B S AR AR P 5 ERAY
in the consolidated statement of He MIRTTHETF
financial position 32 7,101,580 5,752,041
Time deposits with original maturity more  RE|HIR A =1 A A L
than three months TEHITE X 32 (3,746,990) (2,834,500)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REAIREREXRTIIERL
consolidated statement of cash flows ReNREZEEYD 32 3,354,590 2,917,541
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B F5 IR 0 2R

As at 31 December 2013 R =—ZE—=F+_-_HA=1+—H

2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B = AR¥T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MG 15 353 342
Loans to a subsidiary EW—RFAERIE 22 2,476,625 2,657,176
Investments in subsidiaries RFREINIEE 23 11,781,275 5,108,191
Investments in an associate R—REE R AR E 25 2,619,746 -
Non-current financial assets EREEREE 28 302,049 89,642
17,180,048 7,855,351
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other current financial assets EfnsemEE 28 100,000 =
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ JBfFIE - & K&
E At fERRIE 31 840,465 802,202
Pledged deposits RBERIFH 32 469,592 =
Cash and bank balances W NiRTTHETT 32 245,717 751,922
1,655,774 1,554,124
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEB8E
Loans from subsidiaries REFATZER 22 531,322 -
Other payables and accruals Hib eI RERER 49,552 1,629
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STERTREMESE 35 5,794,415 405,425
6,375,289 407,054
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) FRBEE (AE) (4,719,515) 1,147,070
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERREBEME
LIABILITIES 12,460,533 9,002,421
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREAMSE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s ERIT R HEMEE 35 3,010,426 -
NET ASSETS BEE 9,450,107 9,002,421
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Statement of Financial Position Bf#& R R 3%

As at 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=F+=-H=+—H

2013 2012
—E—= —FT——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt =t ARBT T ARETFT
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITIRA 40 186,476 181,151
Shares held under Restricted R I MR E A2 B TSI T
Share Award Scheme FB W 40/44 (394,121) =
Reserves &t 41(B) 9,657,752 8,821,270
TOTAL EQUITY AR 9,450,107 9,002,421
Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
ERE BN
Director Director
EF EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ¥R AR Y R

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the manufacture and distribution of dairy products mainly in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared on a historical
cost basis except for share options, certain available-for-sale
equity investments, biological assets and derivative financial
instruments, which have been measured at fair value. Disposal
groups held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in
note 2.4. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the day that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

NEEHR
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DA ARB I —REEEK - MET
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A
ZEVHRRREREREGHENZES
(FI REFEAEREE J)ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂx

REER(TERMBREED]) RBER

/fﬁ’ﬁ&ﬂé%ﬁmﬁﬁ%‘qﬁﬁﬁ o I IMERIAESL
RAE RS - ERRE - BT A BB
BRE  EWEERTESRIANAAER
B -RHAEFENREANRARAERAR
ERHE AR SHRBEANETIRR - FIERH
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BAMBREBEARARETAE (5
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e FRAREERAEEESERIEE B
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ARRBEBARSHEBRBRRERBD F B
kEEAEteEREEE - MELEES
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12

IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and
IFRS 12 Amendments

IFRS 13

IAS 1 Amendments

IAS 19 (Revised)
IAS 27 (Revised)
IAS 28 (Revised)

IAS 36 Amendments

IFRIC 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures
— Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and
IFRS 12 - Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements
— Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income
Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets — Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of IFRSs
issued in May 2012
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IFRS 13, IAS 19 (Revised),
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 1 and IAS 36,
and certain amendments included in Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle (Include other standards as appropriate), the
adoption of the new and revised IFRSs has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs
are as follows:

(a) IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the
accounting for consolidated financial statements and
addresses the issues in SIC — 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities. It establishes a single control model used
for determining which entities are consolidated. To meet
the definition of control in IFRS 10, an investor must have
(a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The changes
introduced by IFRS 10 require management of the Group
to exercise significant judgement to determine which
entities are controlled.

As a result of the application of IFRS 10, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect to
determining which investees are controlled by the Group.

The application of IFRS 10 does not change any of the

consolidation conclusions of the Group in respect of its
involvement with investees as at 1 January 2013.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BEZEBREE@
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and (b) ERBIBEREEANENFIRATEES

SIC — 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting
for joint arrangements with joint control. It addresses only
two forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations
and joint ventures, and removes the option to account
for joint ventures using proportionate consolidation. The
classification of joint arrangements under IFRS 11 depends
on the parties’ rights and obligations arising from the
arrangements. A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the joint operators have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement and
is accounted for on a line-by-line basis to the extent of
the joint operators’ rights and obligations in the joint
operation. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the joint venturers have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement and is required to be accounted for using
the equity method in accordance with IAS 28 (Revised).

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed
the classification of the Group’s investment in joint
arrangements in accordance with the requirements of
IFRS 11, and concluded that the Group’s investments in
Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu Arla”), which was previously classified as a
jointly-controlled entity under IAS 31 and was accounted
for using the proportionate consolidation method,
should be classified as a joint venture under IFRS 11 and
be accounted for using the equity method. The change
in accounting for the investment in a joint venture has
been applied retrospectively. The opening balances as
at 1 January 2012 and comparative information for the
year ended 31 December 2012 have been restated in the
consolidated financial statements. The quantitative impact
on the financial statements is recognised below:
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOS U RES (continued)

22 ETHE 2R RIFEE@

(b) (continued) (b) (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss: HiFaEmrNTE

2012
—E——4F
RMB’000
ARETTT
Decrease in revenue W AR (79,354)
Increase in cost of sales SHEE R AN IS AN (24,373)
Decrease in gross profit ERMR D (103,727)
Decrease in other income and gains H U A R Mz w2 (816)
Decrease in selling and distribution expenses — $4% M4&E & FR 203,093
Decrease in administrative expenses 1TBUE R A 13,365
Decrease in other operating expenses HEg e RRd 1,675
Increase in operating profit 4828 FI R N 113,590
Decrease in interest income FLEU AR D (164)
Decrease in finance costs A& AR 2,595
Increase in share of losses of a joint venture Eih & & EEEEN (66,763)
Net increase on profit before tax ER R IRAINE L obe B il 49,258
Net impact on income tax expense RN FTE -

Net increase on profit for the year and HARFEFER
total comprehensive income ZHE W A FER)FIE N 49,258
Net increase on earning per share HEARE T &9 FE N 0.026
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSU RES (continued)
(b) (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial

22 B RS RIFEE@

(b) &)
BB MR ZE

position:
As at As at
31 December 1 January
2012 2012
—E——4F —E——4F
+=—A=+—8 —A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT
Decrease in property, plant and equipment 1% - &= K& (152,655) (170,618)
Decrease in construction in progress ERETERD = (429)
Decrease in land use rights o Hh {5 A AR (6,252) (6,403)
Decrease in other intangible assets HEhEmpEERY (1,749) (1,445)
Increase in investments in a joint venture A& 2 ERRE LN - 66,763*
Decrease in total non-current assets FERBEEREMD (160,656) (112,132)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills TEWBER R ZE
receivables 20 Gt A>) 54,235 (25,367)
Decrease in inventories FERL (57,225) (41,957)
Increase in prepayments, AR Eme Rk
deposits and other receivables E At FEURIB IS AN 115,155 16,115
Decrease in pledged deposits RESFROR D = (859)
Decrease in cash and bank balances W& RRITET R (26,349) (37,806)
Increase/(decrease) in total current assets  RENEELAE
#m, O ) 85,816 (89,874)
Decrease in trade and bills payables FERBRR R ZHR A (49,405) (31,197)
Decrease in other payables and accruals E b FUE K&
RIRE AR (74,693) (35,340)
Decrease in interest-bearing bank sTESRITREAM
and other borrowings BEm = (135,469)
Decrease in total current liabilities mBRERERD (124,098) (202,006)
Increase in net current assets mENE EEFEG N 209,914 112,132
Impact on net assets and equity HEEFENERNT 49,258 =

TERTAEERAA

i B



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSU RES (continued)

(b)

(continued)
The Group recognised the initial investment in the joint
venture as at 1 January 2012 at the aggregate of the
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities that the Group
had previously proportionately consolidated including any
goodwill arising from acquisition.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s unrecognised
cumulative losses of the joint venture were
RMB49,258,000 (1 January 2012: Nil). The Group does
not have legal or constructive obligations in relation to the
negative net assets of the joint venture and accordingly
the Group did not recognise the corresponding liabilities
but adjusted it against the retained earnings.

22ETHERBEZEE @)

(b) &)

REBE A 2 AZLL A& B ER A E
(@%H&ZE%EEE’\JEM%%) FREEZ

HEREE—T-——_F—A—HRA
**ﬁ%ﬁ’)%ﬂﬁﬁxﬁ

R=-FE——F+-A=+—H A&£H
MABREECERFTEBERAARE
49,258,000t (ZFE—=F—H—H :
#) AEEHSGECENAEEFE
jr,ﬁi/féﬂﬁi = E - At AEEWR
ERERBEASE  MZRBFEEH W 1E

Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows: HiFEeHanEaRNTE
2012
T4
RMB’000
AREBTTT
Decrease in net cash flows from KEEBFEANFRERERD
operating activities (125,412)

7

Decrease in net cash flows used in BEESMTANFHRSRERLD
investing activities 3,504
Decrease in net cash flows used in BEEEMANFESRERD

financing activities 133,394

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re RIS EEYHINFEE 11,486

(9] ll‘%ﬂﬁ%#&m/ A 125 S AR T2

(c) IFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for

subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured Al AERH  BEARREEEER
entities previously included in IAS 27 Consolidated and E’JTBZE%%EE ZE T A BIEE R R
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 31 Interests in Joint SR ERE 2754 A KRB L R

Ventures and IAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also IIZ?T“\@E HREINRRE S E
introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for N BB & 5 2R 5 28 SRR & A AT #Y
these entities. Details of the disclosures for subsidiaries, KEA o uxﬁg,ﬁ'JﬁEﬁuxggﬁf%U\ylﬁ
joint ventures and associates are included in notes 23, 24 NBBEAT - EHTRR] a2BER
and 25 to the financial statements. B A 7&@%&@?%1%%%@7@%*&%%3

23~ 24}%25 -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSU RES (continued)
(d) The IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 Amendments clarify the

(e)

(f)

transition guidance in IFRS 10 and provide further relief
from full retrospective application of these standards,
limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information to only the preceding comparative period.
The amendments clarify that retrospective adjustments are
only required if the consolidation conclusion as to which
entities are controlled by the Group is different between
IFRS 10 and IAS 27 or SIC — Int 12 at the beginning of
the annual period in which IFRS 10 is applied for the first
time.

IFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a
single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across IFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is required
to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how
fair value should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted under other IFRSs. IFRS 13 is applied
prospectively and the adoption has had no material impact
on the Group's fair value measurements. As a result of
the guidance in IFRS 13, the policies for measuring fair
value have been amended. Additional disclosures required
by IFRS 13 for the fair value measurements of investment
properties and financial instruments are included in notes
17 and 52 to the financial statements.

The IAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Items
that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at
a future point in time (for example, exchange differences
on translation of foreign operations, net movement
on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-
for-sale financial assets) are presented separately from
items which will never be reclassified (for example, the
revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments have
affected the presentation only and have had no impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
has been restated to reflect the changes. In addition,
the Group has chosen to use the new title “consolidated
statement of profit or loss” as introduced by the
amendments in these financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSU RES (continued)

(9)

(h)

IAS 19 (Revised) includes a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications
and re-wording. The revised standard introduces
significant changes in the accounting for defined benefit
pension plans including removing the choice to defer the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses. Other changes
include modifications to the timing of recognition for
termination benefits, the classification of short-term
employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit
plans. As the Group does not have any defined benefit
plan or employee termination plan and the Group does
not have any significant employee benefits that are
expected to be settled for more than twelve months
after the reporting period, the adoption of the revised
standard has had no effect on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

The IAS 36 Amendments remove the unintended
disclosure requirement made by IFRS 13 on the
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit which is
not impaired. In addition, the amendments require the
disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or
cash-generating units for which an impairment loss has
been recognised or reversed during the reporting period,
and expand the disclosure requirements regarding the
fair value measurement for these assets or units if their
recoverable amounts are based on fair value less costs of
disposal. The amendments are effective retrospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
with earlier application permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also
applied. The Group has early adopted the amendments
in these financial statements. The amendments have had
no impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group. Disclosures about the Group’s impaired non-
financial assets are included in note 21 to the financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSU RES (continued)

(i) Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle issued in June
2012 sets out amendments to a number of standards.
There are separate transitional provisions for each
standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies, none of
these amendments have had a significant financial impact
on the Group. Details of the key amendments most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

e |AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional
comparative information and the minimum required
comparative information. Generally, the minimum
required comparative period is the previous period.
An entity must include comparative information in
the related notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information beyond
the previous period. The additional comparative
information does not need to contain a complete set
of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning
of the preceding period must be presented when
an entity changes its accounting policies; makes
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications,
and that change has a material effect on the
statement of financial position. However, the related
notes to the opening statement of financial position
as at the beginning of the preceding period are not
required to be presented.

e |AS 32 financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity
holders are accounted for in accordance with IAS
12 Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing
income tax requirements from IAS 32 and requires
entities to apply the requirements in IAS 12 to
any income tax arising from distributions to equity
holders.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

IFRS 9

IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39
Amendments

Financial Instruments?

Hedge Accounting and
amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7
and IAS 393

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS

(Revised) Amendments

IAS 19 Amendments

IAS 32 Amendments

IAS 39 Amendments

IFRIC - Int 21
IFRS 14

Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

12 and IAS 27 (Revised) —
Investment Entities’

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee
Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions?

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting’

Levies'

Requlatory Deferral Accounts*

Amendments to a number of
IFRSs?

Amendments to a number of
IFRSs?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for

adoption

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

The Group is in the process of determining whether these
new and revised standards and interpretations will have any
material impact on the Group’s results of operations and

financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHERE

POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that
are not classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The results of associates and joint ventures are included in
the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s investments
in associates and joint ventures are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportional share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not
within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with
the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the disposed operation and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its share options, certain available-for-sale
equity investments, biological assets and derivative financial
instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The depreciation
rates of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and structures 5% to 8%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Office equipment 10%
Motor vehicles 10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plants and properties
under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment
properties. The depreciation rates range from 2% to 4%.
Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing
use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.
All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.

Computer softwares

Acquired computer softwares are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms of 50 years.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except
in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value with positive net changes in fair value presented as
other income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends
or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets
in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those
which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated
as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income
and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale assets in the near term are still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade
these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has
the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable
future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to consolidated statement of profit or loss
over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost
and the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset
is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

136 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013

RIEBERATRMEE

TREE(K  WER  —HEREEN B
DR—HEBEUSHEEN D) EZE TS
BRI R IEER (AR EBLRE F RN
RBRR)

o WHZBEEMBREMENENED
JEm ¢ 3K

o AEBCEFHUDZEBEEMFRZ
MERERN - HRIB[ETF | L HRELE
BEEARRTRE=FE2HNEZ K]
ReRENEME: R@QAKEEERE
ERAE Rk KB - S(b)ANEE AL
BEESREEENBA D RO
W EREREEREE -

HAKED ERTEEERIRS REMNERN
HERIVEF L - A HESEERE
BEMABENERKLEIHRY LZE o I E
ERIRBEEBAS YRR KLER - TE
ERAEMZGIE  ARAKERE2ERE
ERFERAZEEREE - HIIBERT - K
SESEREAENAE CEBEERAH
BEUAAEERE RN ERE SERET

HE -



Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments (continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount
recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as
the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the
reduced carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income
is recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses
on debt instruments are reversed through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss if the subsequent increase in fair
value of the instruments can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, financial guarantee contracts, interest-bearing
bank loans, other loans, bonds payables and other financial
liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative as defined by IAS 39 is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity
contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the
purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage
requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

e Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current
(or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Current versus non-current classification (continued)

e  Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

e Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can
be made.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares)
are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and
the consideration is recognised in equity.

Biological assets

Dairy cows

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of
an asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance
costs and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is
determined based on their present location and condition and is
determined independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until such
time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Milk

Agricultural produce represents milk. Milk is recognised at the
point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. The fair value
of milk is determined based on market prices in the local area.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials - cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods - cost of direct materials and labour and a
proportion of manufacturing overheads
based on the normal operating capacity
but excluding borrowing costs on a
weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Provisions BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or **I;ﬁ&$1§ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁi‘i?&i%j‘%
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is ARERE BB ERINEABNELER -

probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
PO LICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological
asset measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when, and
only when, the government grant becomes receivable. If a
government grant related to a biological asset measured at its
fair value less costs to sell is conditional, the Group recognises
the government grant in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when, and only when, the conditions attaching to the
government grant are met.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal
annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
the payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of
China except for Hong Kong and Macao (“Mainland China”)
participate in a central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in notes 43 and 44 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are fulfilled in
employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 E A HEHEm@m)

PO LICI ES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section
of the statement of financial position, until they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency
and the subsidiaries, established in the PRC, use the Renminbi
(“RMB") as their functional currency. As the Group mainly
operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

PO LICI ES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or consolidated statement of profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or consolidated statement of
profit or loss, respectively).

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of companies
whose functional currency differs from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or on whether certain companies
of the Group is determined to be a Chinese resident
enterprise by the PRC governing tax authorities in the future.
As at 31 December 2013, the deferred tax liabilities arising
thereon amounted to RMB64,429,000 (2012: Nil) (note
26), representing the withholding taxes accrued on profits
generated by certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group in 2013
and expected to be distributed to their holding companies
incorporated outside Mainland China. Management considered
that it is not probable that the Group’s PRC subsidiaries will
distribute additional profits earned on or after 1 January 2008
till the end of 2013 in the foreseeable future, and accordingly
no additional provision for withholding tax was made in 2013.
Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally rewarded, the difference will impact the
deferred tax provision in the period in which the differences
realise.

3.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Operating lease commitments - group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain of
its ranch facilities comprising plant and machinery included
in the property, plant and equipment account. The Group
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties
which are leased out on operating leases.

Operating lease commitments — group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it does
not bear all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
these machinery and accounts for the contracts as operating
leases.

Classification between investment properties and own-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Details
of goodwill are given in note 21 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

3.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits, which affects the probability of utilisation and
the tax rate to be used in the calculations. Details of deferred
tax assets are contained in note 26 to the financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value
is determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs
such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. In
the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. The
determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates,
among other factors, historical share price movements and the
duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is
less than its cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based
on the credit history of its customers and other debtors and
the current market condition. Management reassesses the
provisions at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of contingent considerations

Contingent considerations, resulting from business
combinations, are valued at fair value at the acquisition date
as part of the business combinations. Where the contingent
consideration meets the definition of a derivative and thus, a
financial liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is
based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions take into
consideration the probability of meeting each performance
target and the discount factors.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details of
share-based payments are contained in notes 43 and 44 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment and investment properties

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment and
investment properties. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges
where useful lives are different to those previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives; actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the
future periods.

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected yield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 27.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

e Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

e ce cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream;

e Milk powder segment — manufacture and distribution of
milk powder; and

e  Other dairy products segment — principally the Group'’s
cheese and trading business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax
from continuing operations. The adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax from continuing operations is measured consistently with
the Group's profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations
except that interest income, finance costs, dividend income, as
well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFTER @)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2013 HE—T—=Ft+-_A=+—HItFE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder  Other dairy

products products products products Total
REDER KM ER MRER HiAER H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTn  ARETx

Segment revenue: AHYA
Sales to external customers HETIHERP 37,902,833 3,023,370 2,177,251 253,454 43,356,908
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 281,572 40,549 38,829 43,066 404,016
38,184,405 3,063,919 2,216,080 296,520 43,760,924

Reconciliation: R
Elimination of intersegment sales HEDPREE (404,016)
Revenue from continuing operations ~ REFELEEK 7 IMA 43,356,908
Segment results LR 2,350,741 51,866 95,413 (22,796) 2,475,224
Recondiliation: HE
Interest income FBBA 359,295
Finance costs BERK (160,377)
Share of profits and losses of associates [E(GE S A RIFIE kSR 153,861
Unallocated corporate expenses AN (623,500)
Profit before tax from continuing REFHEREERY

operations HAIFE 2,204,503
Income tax expense FifEHxd (366,713)
Profit for the year from continuing RERBEERB

operations REFIE 1,837,790
Segment assets AHEE 19,362,089 1,536,988 11,861,065 474480 33,234,622
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables 1357 &5 f fE Wiz (8,618,415)
Unallocated corporate assets N iG] é‘F 14,626,725
Assets related to discontinued &&E%M&%%%ZEE

operations 1,096,464
Total assets BEE 40,339,396
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFTER @)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2013 BEZT—=F1+-"HA=1T—"HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder  Other dairy
products products products products Total
RENER HHER MHER HiARR fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT
Segment liabilities AHEE 15,102,984 1,251,766 2,051,448 482,434 18,888,632
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment payables %35 S EIfER 708 (8,618,415)
Unallocated corporate liabilities THHBHAFEE 11,854,791
Liabilities related to discontinued PRERIHEERK AR
operations 203,250
Total liabilities BaRE 22,328,258
Other segment information: HipHas
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 961,248 112,220 92,535 6,307 1,172,310
Unallocated amounts FHHFHE 45,272
Total depreciation and amortisation WEREHEE 1,217,582
Capital expenditure BARRY 4,547,984 338,550 7,280,321 12,539 12,179,394
Unallocated amounts FHEFE 417,135
Total capital expenditure* BT EE 12,596,529
Impairment losses recognised in PR BRAEAN
the consolidated statement of HEEE
profit or loss 79,750 10,431 1,477 239 91,897
Other non-cash expenses AthIFRETH 15,322 3,755 - - 19,077
Unallocated amounts THHFE 184,413
Total non-cash expenses FREXHEBE 295,387
*  Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase * BARZBERBEVE BERZE - TR

T2 REWE  BVEE  THERE -
EWEERWRER 2 AR F AR P8

R -

of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
investment properties, intangible assets, land use rights,
biological assets, and for the acquisition of associates and
subsidiaries.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BREFTER @
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2012 (Restated) BE_ZT——F+A=+—HLEFEKE
at)

Equity

Liquid milk ~ Ice cream  Milk powder ~ Other dairy  accounting
products products products products  adjustment Total
REfER KDfER  OHER  AtdlSn EReiEE @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT ARBTL ARBTL ARBTT ARETR

Segment revenue: AHYA
Sales to external customers HETIFEE 441,552 130,339 35,999,990
Intersegment sales PEEHEE 51,898 111,526 536,168
593,450 241,865 36,536,158

Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales HESDREE (536,168)
Revenue from continuing operations BECEEEMA 35,999,990
Segment results PHEE (113,579) (30,456) 1,839,216
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FSWA 218,148
Finance costs REAK (39,159)
Share of profits and losses of i E Faehs ke

ajoint venture and associates NG (52,908)
Unallocated corporate expenses R YN (231,434)
Profit before tax from continuing RELSERTANE

operations 1,733,863
Income tax expense s H (245,476)
Profit for the year from continuing BT AR OREF|

operations 1,488,387
Segment assets T REE 274,677 366,459 18,429,823
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment receivables ;ﬁﬁ“*ﬁf‘i JEU (5,424,716)
Unallocated corporate assets AEBEA Tﬁ? 7,910,787
Assets related to a discontinued BRIHEE X BEHEE

operation -
Total assets mEE 20,915,894
Segment liabilities PHEE 315,185 393,189 12,388,989
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment payables ;ﬁé}“* FTEH (5,424,716)
Unallocated corporate liabilities U NG 1 830,514
Liabilities related to a discontinued E%RJH“‘%%WE%ET

operation -
Total liabilities BEE 7,794,787
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

4.

REDHWER =

Year ended 31 December 2012 (Restated) BE_ T —F+_A=+—HULEFEEE
i)
Equity
Liquid milk ce cream  Milk powder  Other dairy  accounting
products products products products  adjustments Total
REfER KDHER hnER  EMAZR ERed#E a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other segment information: HitAHEH :
Share of profits and losses of a joint FlE—HaetzHER
venture R - - (66,763) - - (66,763)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 851,104 90,441 21,572 5,513 (21,572) 947,058
Unallocated amounts AR 48 241
Total depreciation and amortisation WER#HmE 995,299
Capital expenditure* BARREY* 1,819,585 334,865 3,416 5,372 (3,416) 2,159,822
Unallocated amounts AAEFE 103,291
Total capital expenditure BARY 45 2,263,113
Impairment losses recognised in REr R BaRERRNRE
the consolidated statement of [EE
profit or loss 31,396 418 1,142 879 (1,142) 32,693
Other non-cash expenses HiERE S 21,273 3,277 = (380) = 24,170
Unallocated amounts T DEbEIE (4,998)
Total non-cash expenses RS HES 51,865
*  Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase *  BARXBERBEME  BEREKE  EE

of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
investment properties, intangible assets, land use rights,
biological assets, and for the acquisition of associates and
subsidiaries.

Geographical information

a. Revenue from external customers
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in
Mainland China.

b. Non-current assets

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located
in Mainland China.

Information about a major customer
There is no single customer contributing over 10% of the
Group’s revenue.

T2 REWX  BVEE  THERE -

EYEERKBE SR AT RARMIE
i & &
a. REMBEFHVA
90% A E BV U A R B R BT R B )
}5 o
b. FRBEE
AREE 0% A EHSERENE EDNH
B RBE -
FREFER
VEBE-FEFRAALSETEREB10% 2K
)\ o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods
returns and trade discounts, and after eliminations of all
significant intra-group transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains

5.

WA~ Efbi AR W

WARAEENEREE  HOEHEmNHE
SRE - BMBRERELREZINTM - AKEKHE
SENBRARBZEAR SRS -

AEBREFHELEEBHBA - Al

from continuing operations is as follows: RSB DT T ¢
2013 2012
—E—= — T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
g AR¥T T ARETFT
Restated
Revenue: WA
Sale of goods 2 on 8 & 43,356,908 35,999,990
Other income and gains: H A WA B s
Government grants related to T # B &
— Assets other than biological assets — B A W) B EE DASI
EEHH (a) 19,385 19,056
— Income — BRI AF (b) 71,775 136,544
Gain on deemed disposal of REHE —RE
an associate NGl E - 4,384
Gain on disposal of associates B A AlGES - 50,635
Foreign exchange gains, net b 55 W i 5 2R 155,147 =
Others Hi 42,326 38,576
288,633 249,195
43,645,541 36,249,185
Notes: iiEss

(@) The Group has received certain government grants in the form
of property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations
to purchase items of property, plant and equipment. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attaching to these
grants. The grants are initially recorded as deferred income and
amortised to match the depreciation charge of the underlying
property, plant and equipment in accordance with the assets’
estimated useful lives (note 38).

(b)  The government grants in the form of cash donations have been
received for the Group’s contribution to the development of the
local dairy products industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies attaching to these grants.
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6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HittEH
2013 2012
=g—= —=E=—_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®ET T
Restated
(gEEuh)
Donation B 18,634 6,029
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREWE BEX
plant and equipment HiEEE 17,496 5,992
Write-off of inventories MsEEE - 4,828
Write-down of inventories to net realisable {7 & = Al & 30,5 (&
value 277 1,495
Provision for property, plant and equipment %2 - & KRG 9,162 -
Provision for trade receivables and other FEUTER R
receivables H fth fE W GRIB B 81,934 31,198
Educational surcharges and city A B A
construction tax T A R R RN A 194,886 132,738
Foreign exchange losss, net bE 1R 5 - 2,393
Others Hib 37,736 9,138
360,125 193,811
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax from continuing operations is

arrived at after charging:

7. BiAiFE
[ 7 S 42 A A A B TR O o AT R T 44T
% TR IEELE E S -

REE

2013 2012
—EB—=F —E—_—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Restated
(&&Em)
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 31,656,106 27,048,280
Realised and unrealised fair value losses of BRI R AREIROTE SR T A
derivative financial instruments, net (a) NAREEEFE() 3,557 1,712
Cost of sales SHERAR 31,659,663 27,049,992
Employee benefit expense EEENER(TEENES
(excluding directors’ and chief executive’s i EMNES KEZITH
remuneration as disclosed in note 8) N0
— Wages, salaries, housing benefits and —I& - %% EEEF
other allowances PNE=Rith= 1=l 2,331,661 1,707,334
— Retirement benefit contributions —RIRE AR 239,757 172,766
— Share-based payment expense (note 43) — DARR ) BERER T
(FfF5E43) 39,809 16,508
— Restricted share expense (note 44) — PR HI MRS D BB X2
(FfzEa4) 114,321 =
2,725,548 1,896,608
Depreciation of items of property, plant and  #1% - BiE M &EITE
equipment 1,178,923 972,652
Depreciation of investment properties EMETE 1,815 =
Amortisation of land use rights {55 PR AR 6 21,748 14,711
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEfb iR S i 15,096 7,936
Research and development costs BFEMEFEER
— current year expenditure 57,007 55,022
Provision for trade receivables and other e U BR T K2
receivables HAth e Y R IB B 81,934 31,198
Minimum lease payments under operating BEEMETHEERBN
leases on buildings and certain production KEHEREHES
equipment 322,341 212,342
Display space leasing fees BREIZEFEEEE 690,831 590,251
Auditors’ remuneration = EREM B & 4,440 4,220

(@) Since 2011, the Group has entered into various commodity
futures contracts to manage its price exposure to future
purchases of white sugar. A net fair value loss on derivative
financial instruments of RMB3,557,000 (2012: RMB1,712,000)
was charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

8. EERFETHAEHMH

REBSHARZAARAREZ LR
(T EmRA ) RBERFEDIE 161K E

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the MAEEEERTETHASEMOT -
“Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
2013 2012
—_2—= —EF——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Fees e 2,120 1,062
Other emoluments HuE S
— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —HAFHE - FEEA -
allowances and benefits in kind Efh)ZERL R EY = 18,366 8,887
— Retirement benefit contributions —RIRAE R TR 343 334
20,829 10,283
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFETHAETF M@=
REMUNERATION (continued)
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
HERES
EEEA
Hin2EER BIKEF
e ENFR it #Be
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

W&t ARBTR ARBT R ARBT R AR®TR

2013 =2-=f
Executive directors HITES
- Ms. Sun Yiping — BT @) 30 8,155 81 8,266
~ Mr. Wu Jingshui —REKEE 30 2,021 50 2,101
- Mr. Bai Ying —HBEE 30 4,963 81 5,074
— Mr. Ding Sheng -TERE (@) 20 2,867 81 2,968
Non-executive directors EHTES
— Mr. Ning Gaoning —EgELE 150 - - 150
- Mr. Yu Xubo - FlREE 150 - - 150
~ Mr. Niu Gensheng —FRELE 150 360 50 560
- Mr. Ma Jianping -SETEE 150 - - 150
~ Ms. Liu Ding T &+ @) 150 - - 150
- Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen - Tim @rting Jergensen
Ve (a) 100 - - 100
— Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. HansenZt & (@) 150 - - 150
— Mr. Christine Neu — Christian Neust 4 (@) 50 - - 50
Independent BUERTESR
non-executive directors
— Mr. Jiao Shuge —ERELE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt
e (b) - - - -
—Mr. Liu Fuchun -8IBELELE 240 - - 240
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REEDELE 240 - - 240
— Mr. Xie Tao —WHETE (@) 60 - - 60
—Mr. Andrew Y Yan —@nrE (@) 240 - - 240
- Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew —iRBlsg A (a) 180 - - 180
2,120 18,366 343 20,829
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFEMTHAETF M@
REMUNERATION (continued)
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
EA%S
FEEF
Hin28 R RIER
e BNl SR BEe
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

Y&E ARETT  AR®TE  ARETT  AR®T:R

2012 —E—-F
Executive directors HIES
— Ms. Sun Yiping —BiFERt @) 20 2,064 50 2,134
- Mr. Yang Wenjun —BXEREE (@) 17 1,375 46 1,438
— Mr. Wu Jingshui —REKEE 30 1,062 46 1,138
- Mr. Bai Ying —BEELE 30 2,181 73 2,284
- Mr. Ding Sheng —TEEE (@) 30 1,845 73 1,948
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Mr. Ning Gaoning -BEpEgL 100 = = 100
~Mr. Yu Xubo - TR xE 100 - - 100
~ Mr. Niu Gensheng —FRERE 100 360 46 506
- Mr. Ma Jianping -SRTEE 100 - - 100
— Mr. Fang Fenglei - FRELE () 58 - - 58
— Mr. Ma Wangjun -S5TELE () 33 - - 33
- Mr. Tim @rting Jargensen - Tim @rting Jergensen
e (a) 42 = - 42
— Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansen4t 4 (a) 42 - - 42
Independent BUFNTES
non-executive directors
— Mr. Jiao Shuge —EELE (b) = - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt
e (b) - - - -
~ Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REEDEA 120 - - 120
— Mr. Liu Fuchun —2BERE 120 = = 120
~ Mr. Xie Tao —HERE () 120 - - 120
1,062 8,887 334 10,283
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes: P eE -

8. EERFETHAEFHFM @

Mr. Ma Wangjun and Mr. Xie Tao resigned as directors on 12
April 2012 and 1 April 2013, respectively. Mr. Yang Wenjun and
Mr. Fang Fenglei resigned as directors on 30 July 2012. Mr. Ding
Sheng and Mr. Tim @rting Jgrgensen resigned as directors on 1
September 2013. Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew
and Mr. Christian Neu were appointed on 12 April 2012, 1
April 2013 and 1 September 2013, respectively. Mr. Tim @rting
Jgrgensen and Mr. Finn S. Hansen were appointed as directors
on 30 July 2012. Ms. Liu Ding and Mr. Andrew Y Yan were
appointed on 10 January 2013.

Ms Sun Yiping is also the chief executive of the Company since
12 April 2012.

During 2013, the two directors agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB300,000 (2012:
RMB230,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned, there
was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year.

As of 31 December 2013, certain directors were granted share
options in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set
out in note 43 to the financial statements. In accordance with
IFRS 2, share option benefits represent the fair value at the grant
date of the share options issued under the share option scheme
of the Company amortised to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year disregarding whether the options
have been vested/exercised or not. During the year, the share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to Mr. Wu
Jingshui, Mr. Bai Ying and Mr. Ding Sheng were approximately
RMB3,429,000 (2012: RMB2,787,000), RMB4,572,000 (2012:
RMB3,035,000) and RMB4,572,000 (2012: RMB3,832,000),
respectively. In addition, during 2012, there was a reversal of
share-based payment expenses of RMB6,990,000 relating to the
share options granted to Mr. Yang Wenjun in prior years but
lapsed as a result of his resignation in July 2012. Share option
benefits relating to the share options granted to the directors are
not included in the above analysis.

As of 31 December 2013, Ms.Sun Yiping was granted restricted
shares in respect of her services to the Group under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 44 to the financial statements. In
accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payments benefits represent
the fair value at the grant date of the restricted shares amortised
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
disregarding whether the restricted shares have been vested/
exercised or not. During the year, the share-based payments
relating to the restricted shares granted to the director were
approximately RMB36,787,000 (2012: Nil).
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—A+HEERE-
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R-ZE—=FF MUEERENEHES
e £FEAHEARE300,000T(=F—=
F : AR®230,0007T) ° BRATILE SN © ANE
JE 3 4% A {R] 75 B 2 =5 HREE B[R] 2 T EE A 1A B
SRILHE °
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TR FIE R AN A R BB AR AT 8 AT B2 1T O BB IR
ERAREBHNAAE  FRAEBERGLER
KATAEE  MTAmZERRESERES
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Three (2012: four) of the five highest paid employees were
directors whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining two (2012: one) non-
director, highest paid employee, who is neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company as follows:

Basic salaries, housing benefits,
other allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement scheme contributions

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

AfuEREHES
HfuGeEHFEEEE=((ZT——F: @
MEF FREESAMSENER EXH
B AEEXNTARBESK-U(ZF—=
F:()FEF  ZRIFREECGFEEFTHA
B)MBEIT

2013 2012
-—g—= — T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT

AEXHFE - FEBEF
H A2 A0 R BV &= 6,655 1,788
RIRERFTEIE IR

67 73

6,722 1,861

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

MEI AN THERNOGESFIFEFTEENK
Banh -

Number of employees

EEEA
2013 2012
—E-=F “E-——F
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/87C%2,500,00078 75 - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 023,000,000 7T - =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 C%3,500,0007% 7T - =
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 024,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/47C24,500,00078 7T - =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/ 725,000,000/ 7T 1 =
2 1

During the year, share options were granted to two (2012:
one) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out
in note 43 to the financial statements. During the year, the
share option benefits relating to the share options granted to
the non-director, highest paid employee was approximately
RMB3,572,000 (2012: RMB1,942,000) in aggregate. The share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to this
non-director, highest paid employee is not included in the
above analysis.

EFRN ME(ZE——F: —Z)Ho#Hk=
EREREMEUAEENRGEREIRE (R
EIEEM SRR E43RHEE) - FRN A
MRZtxesEEEEEREBRIENE
fEEERNE £ B ARK3,572,0000(=F
—— & : AR¥1,942,0007T) o Fat o AT
mAEREUENZERe T FESESRDE
AR iRy BE AR AR I o
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B E KA
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as KEBEREEBHRERANDITAT :
follows:
2013 2012
—=E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBTT
Restated
(z«< )
Interest on long term payables RHEFE FRIBF B 11,659 15,913
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ARAFAZEEED
within five years RITES ﬂ 123,114 18,419
Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% bond BE350% N _F—/\F
due 2018 FI|H3,2500,000,0003 7T
BEHZ R 10,392 =
Increase in discounted amounts of BRI 55 D 7 1 3 A sk A R(B
contingent consideration arising from MITIREE
the passage of time 15,212 4,827
160,377 39,159
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FRrBEHZ W
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Corporate BIEPEARLMBECERESEA(THED
Income Tax (“PRC CIT law"), except for certain preferential EREFE])  BRTITAEE-_+—RE (=%
treatment available to twenty-one (2012: eighteen) of the ——F: +)\[E)FRAESE THREER
Group's subsidiaries, the entities within the Group are subject S REEETHCXEREEZTRAME
to the PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") at a rate of 25% (2012: SRR A EIR25% ( —FE——4F : 25%) 2
25%) on the taxable income as reported in their statutory MBS MNP BRDERER ([REMRER])
accounts which are prepared in accordance with the PRC JEERR B RIRBP B R R E R R
accounting standards and financial regulations. -
2013 2012
—E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTFT
Restated
(gesEat)
Current income tax BIHAATS
Current charge for the year RERBNEAST 385,903 255,739
Adjustments recognised in the year for FARTFL BT
current tax of prior years TR H) (9,.224) (4,919)
Deferred income tax EEFTEH
Relating to origination and reversal of tax BABEEELEREER
losses and temporary differences (note 26) B2 A K B (P 7E26) (9,285) (5,344)
Relating to origination and reversal of BRET TR TEIK
withholding tax of the undistributed AMBERIBHR A EE KR
earnings of certain subsidiaries (note 26) o] 4 (M45126) (681) -
366,713 245,476
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax

1. 88X @
EFERN - BB AIMERE TSR Rt
ENMEHRSTE  BRBAEBRERAEH

expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the year is MEAEMREHRH - e -
as follows:
2013 2012
—_Eg—= —T——%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bf & ARET T AREET T
Restated
(&)
Profit before tax from REFECEEB 2
continuing operations 5 A A 2,204,503 1,733,863
At CIT rate of 25% (2012: 25%) H25% (—F——4 :
25% ) EFTISHE
R 551,126 433,466
Non-deductible items and others, net AAHENFENIEE &
Hi(Fza) 25,085 23,203
Adjustment recognised in the year for  FRNgiEFE H
current tax of prior years FriS i HeE R ) o 2 (9,224) (4,919
Effect of preferential tax rates BERERNTE (a) (66,081) (64,900)
Effect of tax exemptions T b= (a) (159,879) (124,540)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the FAAEBEETHEFA
distributable profits of the Group's AN EERAEPAS %
certain PRC subsidiaries RMH TR S22 (681) =
Tax losses not recognised RERB R 26,367 3,948
Utilisation of previously unrecognised {5 B S R R FERR Y
tax credits HBE L - (20,782)
At the effective income tax rate of 116.63%
16.63% (2012: 14.16%) T ——F:
14.16% ) ER
TS Rt & 366,713 245,476
Notes: Pt ot -

(a)

Twenty-one (2012: eighteen) subsidiaries were subject to tax
concessions in 2013. The total taxable profits of the subsidiaries
that are subject to tax concessions amounted to approximately
RMB745,140,000 (2012: RMB723,966,000) in aggregate. Out of
the twenty-one subsidiaries, eleven (2012: nine) were granted tax
concessions by the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC
CIT law and the corresponding transitional tax concession policy
and “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation
of the western China development strategy”. Eighteen (2012:
fifteen) subsidiaries were granted tax concessions in accordance
with the policy of “The notice of preferential tax policy for
preliminary processing of agriculture products”.
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(a)

RZE—=F  —+—RH(ZFT—=_F:
TN\ FRAZEZFBERR - ZZERE
WA TARNERRABEBEETOA
R#¥745,140,000 . (T ——F : AR¥
723,966,0007C) - —+— M TFARF - F
+—f(ZF—ZF : L@ FRARERRE
BRI TSR E AR BESEMERRE -
BRAFRWERBEBR KR REAE AT
K P B A A T AR BOR R R A 3B DR BUR
BB TN\B(ZE——F : +Hf)FAT
RSB R A AR BHZZDEMSHESR
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11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) The share of tax attributable to a joint venture and associates
amounting to approximately RMB12,010,000 (2012:
RMB8,613,000) is included in the share of profits and losses of
a joint venture and associates on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Plan to disposal of dairy farming business
On 25 November 2013, Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming
0., Ltd. (“Fuyuan”), Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Hehe"), Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) and certain
third parties entered into a series of agreements in order to
better finance Fuyuan’s business expansion. In accordance
with the agreements, third parties will inject additional capital
to Fuyuan, consequently resulting in the dilution of Hehe’s
equity interest in Fuyuan from 100% to around 43%. Fuyuan
engages in the dairy farming business. The deemed disposal of
Fuyuan is due to be completed in 2014, upon which Hehe will
lose the control of Fuyuan. As at 31 December 2013, Fuyuan
was classified as a disposal group held for sale.

Acquisition of a subsidiary exclusively with a view
to subsequent disposal

On 29 August 2013, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding
Industry Management Co., Ltd. (“Founding”) acquired an
additional 64% equity interest in Chengdu Mengniu Dairy
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Sales”) exclusively with a view to
subsequent disposal within one year. Prior to the acquisition,
Chengdu Sales was a 36% associate of Founding. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash of
RMB5,763,000 paid on the acquisition date. Chengdu Sales
engages in the dairy products trading business. The subsidiary
was acquired for the purpose of the Group's distributorship
reorganisation. The Group expects to complete the subsequent
disposal by 30 June 2014. Upon the acquisition of Chengdu
Sales by the Group and as at 31 December 2013, the net assets
of Chengdu Sales have been classified as a disposal group
and as a discontinued operation in the consolidated financial
statements.

11.
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88 H )

b) AELERBEAAEEHBENAAR
#12,010000 L (=T ——F : AR¥
8,613,0007T) ' BEFFAMREERRNENLSE
BhERBENRFEREBEA -

12. DR IR EE
HEEEREEY
W-—ZE—=E+—A-+FR ASHEE
HEARECATNEER]) - IEHAMNE
BEREEARRM])  AEHELUL

(RE)RHOBERAR([ARRF)EETE

=HENERGE  EEBERERSN
BENABEREL - BEZSHE  £=7
FRBEREATEIINER  AMBRARNRE
TRHRAER 100% #58 £ K4743% - BRE
EEBEER RIERBEEREN - —NUF
SERK  ERARMERELE R ZIEHIE - B
—E—=F+ZA=+—8 " BRIEAF
BHENEER -

UEBERERBNNFLAIWE

RZZE—=FEN\A=-1+NH AFEHEEFH
SREXTEAREEAR( H 5]
SEIEEEARETAR([KEBHEE )
6A%MEIE  HH AT 2R —FREEZS
fEHE o ARUBBRT - AKEPSHE BH 51536%
HOBE & QA o WIE R (E A K% 5,763,000
TLRUEE B TR & S - CEREH S E AL &Y
WMEZER - WEZTARZENREAA
SEEHCHMER AEEEARERS
T—NENA=THERKEBRERESE - K
SERENSBHERRNR_E—=F+=A
=+t—HB KEHEENEEFEECHELE
Bl WREGRETBHREATIELS —HE K
IEERE TS o

TERTAEERAA
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 12. ERLREXEm
Acquisition of a subsidiary exclusively with a view DREBREAENNFARWE @)
to subsequent disposal (continued)
The Group has not recognised any impairments loss in respect INER B = IR S B R BH 4 MR AR
of Fuyuan and Chengdu Sales, neither when the assets and iR THEZSESNEENBB® YA
liabilities of the operations were classified as held for sale nor EEEEER SN HmERR -

at the end of the reporting period.

The combined results of discontinued operations (i.e., Fuyuan ER KR (AERNMKEBIES ) ANFH
and Chengdu Sales) for the year are presented below: EHEEZROT
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E—_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Revenue WA 43,081 1,084
Net expenses FXFEE (18,650) (655)
Finance costs B E A (233) =
Profit before tax from REBKRIEREHERE 2
discontinued operations I RIbE 24,198 429
Income tax expense FriSHisz i - -
Profit for the year from REBRIREER 2
discontinued operations R F 24,198 429
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations (i.e., Fuyuan and Chengdu Sales) classified as held

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

12. BRIBEEE @)

Rt -A=+—HERLEEEEHANERE
REBHE) DR ATENTEEERARE

for sale as at 31 December are as follows: BRI -
2013
—E-=fF
RMB’000
AR®T T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NERE 275,126
Construction in progress EETRE 67,624
Land use rights 4 b {55 P A 6,522
Other intangible assets HmEpEE 2,676
Biological assets A EE 495,568
Inventories FE 74,102
Trade and bills receivables BRI M 2= 12,711
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FEFR ~ Hd [ H fih g Uk 7018 390,376
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTETF 56,299
1,381,004
Less: Intra-group receivables B S EIAA B EGRIE (284,540)
Assets classified as held for sale SREARERENEE 1,096,464
Liabilities =8
Trade and bills payables FER R R R 54,320
Other payables and accruals Hith B IB R TERE 663,705
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 52 E1T M EMEE 30,000
748,025
Less: Intra-group payables B SR EAA R IR (544,775)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets BN AFAFENEEEZABNEE
classified as held for sale 203,250
Net assets directly associated with R B HE AR FEE
the disposal groups 893,214

TERTAEERAA
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continuea)

The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations (i.e.,
Fuyuan and Chengdu Sales) are as follows:

12. BRIEREEE @

ERIEEEEB(AEREKEHE) ELDN

FREMEFEMT ¢

2013 2012

—_E—= —T——%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Operating activities IR ST (167,712) (29,725)
Investing activities HEEE (487,142) (111,852)
Financing activities BEEH 667,297 183,550
Net cash inflow RERAFE 12,443 41,973

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from

REERUIEGEXRHG 2 BRERNRETRT

discontinued operations are based on: ZETEEENT
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E——F
Number Number
of shares of shares
RGO EE aarid=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders KB 2 4R IEESEK 2
of the Company from discontinued NATFEBRES A
operations JEAE A 24,198 429
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &t& &M EARZF|FTH A
for the purpose of the basic earnings per TRATNNRE T
share calculation (note 14) (Mf7%14) 1,804,966 1,767,801
Weighted average number of ordinary shares stESIEEEZEFETHEA
for the purpose of the diluted earnings @A hnAE 5 Er
per share calculation (note 14) (PfF5E14) 1,820,397 1,767,966
Earnings per share: BB
Basic, from discontinued operations 2R REBHKIE
4R W B 0.013 =
Diluted, from discontinued operations E 0 REBERIE
PR S 0.013 =
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14.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2013 2012
—E—= —E——4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt et ARET T ARKETTT
Declared and paid during the year KFEE RS
Equity dividends on ordinary shares TEATAR B 290,488 350,009
Proposed for approval at the AGM ZEHIEZ R AFE
AEHE
Equity dividends on ordinary shares: R R, -
Proposed final — RMBO0.20 R EAR AR B
(2012: RMBO0.16) per ordinary share —FREmER
AR#0.207T
(ZB—C—%F:
ARH0.167T) (a)/(b) 367,053 282,917
Notes: PaE
(a) The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the (@) BWERFEBRRRSEBRADBNREEERE
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming REBERE(RRBFERG DHE - 2F
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM"). This dividend was not BREWARE—ZT—=F+=-A=+—HHE
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements B mREARAE  BEERBMRBEC
as at 31 December 2013 but was reflected as an appropriation of T—NE+ZA=+—RHIEFENRSEFHE
retained earnings for the year ending 31 December 2014. e °
(b)  The proposed final dividend for the year is appropriated from the (b) BEREEHIRR SRR A A 9 IR G 5
Company'’s distributable share premium. B -
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE M ARFEBRETABENER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 27
COMPANY
The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by REENERERRBATIBBEFARRR] L
dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity BRER ARG BRAFRNBETEBR
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ROINBETFHEEE -

ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

TERTAEERAA
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during that year, as used in the basic earnings
per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options
during the year pursuant to the contingent ordinary share
provision in IAS 33 Earnings per Share.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used
in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amount is

4. AP EEREEAELNER
B @

BRESRANIRBEFARRA L BRES
AFEAE R ERR A B ERT B SR ER BN AR
FEERE BT E BB IR KRR
MPTA BRI TE Y RIBEIFR &5 £RS
BRERBFORAEBRBRERERER
TR E BN RGETHE -

A E SRR E AR K #E B N PR i A A
BB FEI T

as follows:
2013 2012
—E-—=£F —E——F
Number Number
of shares of shares
RGEE aard=
‘000 ‘000
TR FH&
Weighted average number of AEEREARET AN
ordinary shares for the purpose of TEAR DNAE 8
the basic earnings per share calculation 1,804,966 1,767,801
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, {Ez%%4F NPT/ BE A%
assuming issued at no consideration on BT IREREETZ
the deemed exercise of all share options TRATNNRE
during the year 5,271 165
Adjustments for restricted share award A BER ) 1 A S R £ L 8 10,160 =
Weighted average number of TR EREERT TR
ordinary shares for the purpose of T AR NN T 2K
the diluted earnings per share calculation 1,820,397 1,767,966
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BEKRE
Movements of the Group’s property, plant and equipment NEEBNE  MENREEHRANE NS S0
during the year are as follows: T
Buildings Plant and Office Motor
and structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
FEREEY  HERHZE BARRE "B @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTr  ARBTR  AR%®Tx  AR%Tn

At 1 January 2013 R=E—=#-f-H

Cost WAE 3,541,571 8,588,889 529,686 100,955 12,761,101
Accumulated depreciation 2:HiTE (757,786) (3,927,624) (286,031) (50,401) (5,021,842)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,783,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259

At 1 January 2013, net of accumulated R=Z—=%—F—8§"

depreciation M ZHTE 2,783,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) I —% 7/ & (Hi5E45) 642,107 431,019 26,822 15,932 1,115,880
Additions =i 181,074 250,995 112,123 17,788 561,980
Transfers from construction in progress EEEHETE

(note 16) (Hf16) 492,717 825,506 15,896 4,080 1,338,199
Assets included in a discontinued AERERIHERER L

operation (note 12) & (M12) (179,421) (85,717) (9,708) (280) (275,126)
Transfers to investment properties Er e EURIN)

(note 17) (2,008) - - - (2,008)
Disposals RE (1,852) (38,185) (3,059) (894) (43,990)
Impairment A 58 (9,318) - 98 (9,162)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ER{TER (206,888) (871,962) (82,862) (17211)  (1,178,923)
At 31 December 2013, net of RZE-=%F1+_F

accumulated depreciation =+—RB MRZHE 3,709,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
At 31 December 2013 R-EB-=£+-A=1—H
Cost PAE 4,799,192 10,204,561 714,189 174,655 15,892,597
Accumulated depreciation and LEE

impairment (1,089,6200  (5,040,958) (411,322) (104,588)  (6,646,488)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,709,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuea)

15. 9% - BERRZRE®

Buildings Plant and Office Motor
and structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
FEEREEY TR R HORE E a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2012 RW-E-—#-f-H
Cost FXAME 2,881,209 7,369,218 425,097 87,597 10,763,121
Accumulated depreciation 25HTE (598,757) (3,248,258) (230,597 (49,588) (4,127,200)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,282,452 4,120,960 194,500 38,009 6,635,921
At 1 January 2012, net of accumulated RA=Z——F—F—H"

depreciation MRRTE 2,282,452 4,120,960 194,500 38,009 6,635,921
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45)  IEE—F T2 7 (Hizt4s5) 8,323 5,784 148 15 14,270
Additions byl 192,127 307,126 106,618 20,976 626,847
Transfers from construction in progress & B R TI2 (M3 16)

(note 16) 457 501 996,894 12,528 5,352 1,472,275
Disposals RE (1,066) (33,505) (1,857) (974) (37,402)
Depreciation provided during the year — FRITERE (155,552) (735,994) (68,282) (12,824) (972,652)
At 31 December 2012, net of WZZE——%+_R

accumulated deprediation =+—R  WREHHE 2,783,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259
At 31 December 2012 R-B-—£+-A=1—H
Cost HAE 3,541,571 8,588,889 529,686 100,955 12,761,101
Accumulated depreciation 2:TE (757,786) (3,927,624) (286,031) (50,401) (5,021,842)
Net carrying amount EFE 2,783,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259

(a) All of the Group's buildings are located in Mainland China.

(b) Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with a
net book value of approximately RMB253,407,000 (2012:
RMB271,327,000), RMB7,836,000 (2012: RMB8,047,000) and
RMB14,723,000 (2012: Nil) have been pledged to secure the
long term payables, short term bank loans and other loans,
respectively, details of which are set out in notes 37, 35 and 36

to the financial statements.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@)

The Group leases its ranch facilities included in property,
plant and equipment with a net book value of approximately
RMB 193,395,000 (2012: RMB233,971,000) to certain dairy farm
companies under operating lease arrangements, with lease terms
ranging from five to eight years (note 48(a)).

As at 31 December 2013, the Group is in the process of applying
for the title certificates of certain of its buildings with an aggregate
book value of approximately RMB14,018,000 (2012: Nil). The
directors are of the view that the Group is entitled to lawfully
and validly occupy and use the above mentioned buildings. The
directors are also of the opinion that the aforesaid matter does
not have any significant impact on the Group's financial position
as at 31 December 2013.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

15. W% - BMERRE @)

(0

REBRBSEHRELZHRETRBISA A
HEEIAME - BEREEHHISREN
BREFEL AR 193,395, 00075(—?*
& AR#233,971,000T)  HEAHRSFE
= )\F (fI7E48(a)) °

R-ZE—=F+=-A=+—H XEEEA
EETEFREAELNAARE14,018,000
(ZT—ZF &) BFEEBE-EFR
B AEEBREEARERMEARERE
MEF - BEBNRAELMEEISUHAEE
R-E—=%F+=-A=+—HHHBRRE
W%/;B°

H I

Movements of the Company's property, plant and equipment RATHME  BEREEB(EHEHAK
during the year, which comprise only office equipment, are as BRAFREBINT ¢
follows:
Company
PN
2013 2012
—=E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
At 1 January ®n—HA—H
Cost IP&N 463 188
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (121) (160)
Net carrying amount AREDFHE 342 28
At 1 January, net of accumulated n—A—A8"
depreciation MR 2T E 342 28
Additions N 72 363
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERME (61) (49)
At 31 December, net of accumulated R+=—HA=+—8"
depreciation MR E 353 342
At 31 December R+=ZHA=+—H
Cost BXANME 535 463
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (182) (121)
Net carrying amount REFE 353 342
PERFAEERAT —=%4%% 185



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EEIRE
Movements of the Group’s construction in progress, all of ARE B 2SR B R RE R T A2 & S an
which are located in Mainland China, are as follows: T
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—EF—= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FEIREREE 596,812 886,674
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) U B8 72 7] (Bi7E45) 355,952 45
Additions during the year FE RN 1,735,259 1,187,834
Assets included in a discontinued operation  BERERIFELEKAZ
(note 12) EE(HizE12) (67,624) =
Transfers to property, plant and equipment  EEEYE « BE LR E
(note 15) (Fft5E15) (1,338,199) (1,472,275)
Transfers to other intangible assets (note 20)  #2#¢Z H fih #7125 B
(KtzE20) (6,325) (5,466)
Carrying amount at end of year FRRERTE(E 1,275,875 596,812
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REW=E
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
At 1 January, net of accumulated R—HA—H  HREFAHE
depreciation - =
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) Wi —fEF 22 B (P 7E45) 115,623 -
Transfers from property, plant and HEBEAYE  BENEE
equipment (note 15) (M$7%15) 2,008 =
Depreciation provided during the year FRTERME (1,815) -
At 31 December, net of accumulated Rt+—A=+—8 1k
depreciation ZEIE 115,816 -
At 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—8H
Cost B AN 128,836 -
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (13,020) =
Net carrying amount BRTHFE 115,816 -
The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by KEMEZAABEBR_ZE—=F+_H
directors of the Company, based on market approach with =+—H#HEAAEARK175,866,0007T -
reference to market transactions price of similar properties, THEARRESRIEM S ERSZHUNE
taking into account of other factors i.e., characteristics of NTERSEREE - WEFREMEE
the properties, locations, is estimated to be approximately BV B N B o

RMB175,866,000 as at 31 December 2013.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 17. REY =m0
Fair value hierarchy NREEZER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREVEAAREBREMEZ AR ETE
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties: =

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2013 using

RIE-=E+-A=1-REAZLAEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
EXTEER EXTAER
ERM G2 HE BAHE BAHE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B-8) (B=R) (E=8)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Fair value measurement for: OIS EZ AR ERE -
Industrial properties IRYE - - 49,211 49,211
Commercial properties ElikIES - - 126,655 126,655
- - 175,866 175,866
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FRN - B-RARB_H2EBELILEFE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers Y MEEAE=HEF=LED -
into or out of Level 3.
The carrying value of investment properties comprises REVEEERABEBE T
properties:
2013 2012
—E—=F —ET——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
In the PRC under a medium-term lease RAERERHEERB 114,427 =
In the United States of America on REBZBHG M
self-owned land 1,389 -
115,816 -
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18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. T ih{F FA#E
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—EF—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYHEREE 818,689 591,256
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) ¢ SNSICIETLY) 290,265 5,448
Additions during the year NN 6,556 236,696
Amortisation provided during the year F AN (21,748) (14,711)
Disposal HeE (16,098) =
Assets included in a discontinued operation  BERERIFKLEKAN 2
(note 12) BE(MiE12) (6,522) =
Carrying amount at end of year FRIREE 1,071,142 818,689
Current portion included in prepayments, BUERER S (BT ARBY B EEH
deposits and other receivables under AR Rike R E gL
current assets (note 31) I (FIEE31)) 22,329 17,498
Non-current portion FERNERES 1,048,813 801,191
1,071,142 818,689
(@) The leasehold land is held under a long term lease of 40 or 50 (a) FELTHLA40S0FRBAERE @ IRF
years and is situated in Mainland China. B A o
(b) As at 31 December 2013, certain land use rights of the Group b)) RZZE—=F+ZA=+—H A5EEKH
with a net book value of approximately RMB2,469,000 (2012: FELOBARE2,469,000L(ZF—=4F ¢
RMB2,530,000) have been pledged to secure the short term AR#2,530,0007T) 8% T+ s AR
bank loans of the Group, details of which are set out in note 35 RASBEHRITERNER - BEFEH
to the financial statements. REATSHRFRMIFESS -
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19. GOODWILL 19. B8

Group

AEE
2013 2012
—=E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January m—H—HBrEREE 482,436 482,436
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) WehEF 2~ A (FsE45) 5,220,347 =
Transfer (note 45) 8 | (Ffi7E45) (7.845) =
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—AMRHEE 5,694,938 482,436

During 2013, the Group acquired a 49% equity interest in
Mengniu Arla. The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill
of RMB272,760,000. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 45 to the financial statements.

During 2013, the Group acquired a 89.82% equity interest
in Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashili”). The business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB4,947,587,000.
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 45 to the
financial statements.

During 2012, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in
Shijiazhuang Taihang Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Taihang”). The business
acquisition did not give rise to any goodwill.

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the goodwill was tested
for impairment (note 21).
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. Hb B & &
Movements of the Group’s other intangible assets are as REBWEMET SESFHNT
follows:
Patents Computer
and licences  Trademarks software Others Total
BRIRITE G By Hitr st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR®Tn  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR

(a) (b)
Cost at 1 January 2013, net of W=F-=-f-H"

accumulated amortisation BRAE 218 3,548 180,939 37,785 1,956 224,228
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) B —F F 2 &) (HizE45) 17,500 1,366,000 6,645 - 1,390,145
Additions b=yl - - 9,669 - 9,669
Transfers from construction in progress  E#& B R T ([f{516)

(note 16) - - 6,325 - 6,325
Disposal [ty (271) - (31) - (302)
Amortisation provided during the year ~ F ;1R ESH (5,491) (1,560) (7,383) (662) (15,096)
Assets included in a discontinued ARNBR FEEERR 7

operation (note 12) BE(MF12) - - (2,676) - (2,676)
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=4+tZA=1+—H 15,286 1,545,379 50,334 1,294 1,612,293
At 31 December 2013 RZE-—=£+-A=1—H
Cost WAE 53,503 1,555,909 86,028 9,503 1,704,943
Accumulated amortisation R (38,217) (10,530) (35,694) (8,209) (92,650)
Net carrying amount ERFE 15,286 1,545,379 50,334 1,294 1,612,293
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of R-Z-—-F-F-R"

accumulated amortisation N EREI): S 3,818 182,499 34,508 2,617 223,442
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) Uil —5 FA = (fft5E45) = = 30 - 30
Additions b=yl 251 - 2,975 - 3,226
Transfers from construction EREERTR(F16)

in progress (note 16) - - 5,466 - 5,466
Amortisation provided during the year  F ;1R ESH (521) (1,560) (5,194) (661) (7,936)
At 31 December 2012 R-E——&E+-A=1+—H 3,548 180,939 37,785 1,956 224,228
At 31 December 2012 RZZE——F+-A=1—H
Cost KA E 6,664 189,909 56,480 9,503 262,556
Accumulated amortisation e (3,116) (8,970) (18,695) (7,547) (38,328)
Net carrying amount RERE 3,548 180,939 37,785 1,956 224,228
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@) There were three trademarks: a trademark acquired in
2007 at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at
cost less any impairment losses and was amortised on
the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
10 years; two trademarks acquired as part of business
combination in 2010 at RMB174,219,000, and in 2013 at
RMB1,366,000,000, respectively, which were regarded as
having an indefinite useful life because the trademarked
product is expected to generate net cash inflows
indefinitely. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the two
trademarks were tested for impairment (note 21).

(b) Others mainly represented the exclusive right of
distribution channels and a right to receive dividends
acquired as part of a business combination in 2010 at
RMB2,195,000 and RMB1,326,000, respectively. Their
useful lives ranged from 3 to 10 years.

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND
TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives acquired through

business combinations have been allocated to the following

cash-generating units (the “CGUs") for impairment testing:

— liquid milk products excluding CGU of Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”);

— ice cream products CGU;

—  milk powder products CGU; and

—  Junlebao CGU.
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILLAND 21. BERERFEHEENRERR
TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE LIVES ()
(continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks with

PEEERSELEMEHERERAEH

indefinite useful lives allocated to each of the cash generating FHIRgREMEmEN T
units are as follows:
Liquid milk products
excluding Junlebao Ice cream products Milk powder products Junlebao Total
RETER
(BLRRM) EMRER AR PEEd-| @t
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

“E--f -F-—&# -E--fF -F-—F -F--f -—FT-—F C-BE-=f -T—F ZBE-=—f -—FT-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARMTRE ARETT AR®TR ARETR ARETr ARETT ARETR ARETR

Goodwill (5 167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 5,220,347 7,845 283,293 283,293 5,694,938 482,436
Trademarks [ - = - - 1,366,000 = 174,219 174219 1,540,219 174,219
167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 6,586,347 7,845 457,512 457,512 17,235,157 656,655

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined ZREELEEVMAINRODSBIAEESHRE

based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior
management covering a five-year period. The growth rates
used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period
are based on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking
into account the industry growth rate, past experience and the
medium or long term growth target of each CGU. The growth
rates for these CGUs are higher than the respective average
industry growth rates. Senior management believes such
growth rates are justified because:

— the growth rates of these CGUs have significantly
exceeded those in the market in the past years;

—  the new product launch and new market expansion have
been successful in the past;

— market share grew continuously in the past years due to
strong brand equity and marketing capability; and

—  expertise on product innovation, portfolio enhancement
and marketing will be further leveraged.

BASHAENTFMBIAENTARNREE
REASRERAFERSNEREET N
BE - AREELAFHNRASRENER
R DAREMNGAERRAELE  IE
BUIRERR  BELRMSREELENM
MR RIABEREEMAERS - WERGE
EEUMEREXSNZTANTFHITRER
X BREBABRGEZFERXEE R
ESp3E

— WERELRCEBESTRBTS
R

- BEELFEREREBFTSE-ETD
X

— ERYMEEBMEHENNEST
BERFEMSOBFEER &

- BEE-—SEBERLF  BLERS
BREHER -
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND
TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE LIVES
(continued)

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-
year period are as follows:

Discount rate

2. BHERERFHEHERNBENSR

(&)

ARRSRERA IR R L AR A FHIA
RIS MEBHEEAIBRET

Growth rate

TRE R R
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F —E—=fF -z
Liquid milk products REBINERRSES
excluding Junlebao CGU B (BEERS
EEBARIN) 14.53% 13.18% 4.0% 4.0%
Ice cream products CGU HKEREMREESE
By 14.17% 13.19% 3.0% 3.0%
Milk powder products CGU M ERBEEEL
By 13.61% 13.06% 5.0% 4.0%
Junlebao CGU BRERCEEBN 14.56% 15.74% 4.0% 4.0%

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of each
CGU for 31 December 2013 and 2012. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margin achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency
improvements and expected increase in production costs.

b) Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

¢) Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to
the actual data of the past year of countries from where
raw materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.
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22.

23.

LOANS TO A SUBSIDIARY/FROM
SUBSIDIARIES

The loans to a subsidiary included in the Company’s
non-current assets of RMB2,476,625,000 (2012:
RMB2,657,176,000) are unsecured and repayable within
twenty years. The annual interest rates had been made by
reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The
carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to
their fair value.

The loans from subsidiaries in the Company’s current liabilities
of RMB531,322,000 (2012: Nil) are unsecured, with annual
interest rates ranging from 1.67667% to 3%, and repayable
within one year. The carrying amount of the loans from
subsidiaries approximates to their fair value.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

2. BR—RFATRE EBENFA

BIFRIE
AARRAIERBEENER —KFAA
RIEARM2,476,625,0007( —F— —4F :
ANER#2,657,176,0007T) BEKE - BAER
ZTFEREE - FHERB2EHBRITRFER
Bt - Bl —RFRARZENEEEEE
NAERE -

KRARREBBERREFRANERAR
#531,322,000( = ——4F : &) 58K
- IREFR1.67667% E£3%:HE - AR
—FREE - RETRARANEREMESRLE
NAEHEE o

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RF R EHRE
Company
P N/NE]
2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Unlisted shares, at cost LMD - EBRAE 11,062,582 4,366,994
Loans to a subsidiary FEU—=RF AT FIAE 718,693 741,197
11,781,275 5,108,191

Loans to a subsidiary included in the investments in subsidiaries
above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, the loans are
considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiary. The carrying
amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to their fair
value.

FRALBRFARNKRENER —RFAF
REREER 2SREEEERA -EF
R ZEBFIARE SRR —RT AR
Ea A - BR—RFRARFENREE
BEAAERE -

TERTAEERAA
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23. RFRAEIHNRE @)
FEFRANFBEHNTX :

Place of
incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered interest attributable to
Name business share capital the Company Principal activities
HERAL/ R B/ REBEED
£ EBBE AR RERAL TERH
Direct Indirect
B G
China Dairy Holdings (i) Cayman Us$214 100% - Investment holding
FREHS Q4ET RERR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) Mauritius Us$100 - 100%  Investment holding
EEEE 100%7C RERK
China Mengniu Investment Company Limited ()~ Hong Kong HK$1000 100% - Investment holding
(PERTREBRAR)) 55 1,007 RERR
China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands HK$9,524,808,204 88.82% - Investment holding
(PERFERARAAN) AERAES 9,524,808,20478 T RERR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) PRC RMB1,504,290,870 8.97% 84.32%  Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited (ii) i AEE1,504,290,8707C dairy products
("Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) EERNEN Hm
(RREFFAX(EE)RHBBRAFi)
(REEEST)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding Industry PRC RMB45,000,000 - 93.29%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. (i) G AE#45,000,0007C REER
(RELF A DEZERERE LR AN
Mengniu Dairy (Wulanhaote) Co., Ltd. (i)(ii) PRC RMB60,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHFAE (SRR BREER)) f AR60,000,0007T dairy products
EERLENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB120,000,000 26.70% 68.38%  Manufacture and sale of
GHIAER)BRE LA i AR H120,000,0007T dairy products
EEREENHm
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Name

£#%

Mengniu Dairy (Dengkou Bayan Gaole)
Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(FFAX(BOEEEH)BREER )
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou
Co., Ltd. (iXii)
(REEFFAXRBEARE LR )

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Keergin
Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(REREFFAXHBOBRRERAN )
Mengniu Dairy (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(R 00 ) BRE LR RN

Mengniu Dairy (Jiaozuo) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(FA4AZ(EE)BRAGN)

Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)
(FEAZZRERER AN

Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(REAZ 08 )AREE ARV

Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
FEAZ(EL)BREEAR)

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
AL/ ERR
E3)8

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

23. RF R EINRE @m)

Issued/
registered
share capital
BB/
MR

RMB70,000,000
AK#70,000,0007T

RMB30,000,000
AK#30,000,0007

RMB50,000,000
AK#50,000,0007

RMB100,000,000
AK%100,000,0007C

RMB120,000,000
AK#120,000,0007C

RMB60,000,000
AK#60,000,0007

RMB56,000,000
ARH56,000,0007C

RMB70,000,000
AK#70,000,0007

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

the Company
REBELN
REFAL

Direct Indirect
EE B
- 93.29%
26.40% 68.66%
- 93.29%
26.05% 68.99%
- 93.29%
26.03% 69.01%
26.06% 68.98%
26.05% 68.99%

HES4AXEERAR —T—=FF8% 197

Principal activities

IREHK

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAHMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNELSMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNEASMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
FERNEASM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERLELSMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAHMm
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Name

R

Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
GEHIE(BRL)ERELARN)

Mengniu Dairy (Shangzhi) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
EFAE(RER)BREFARNN)

Mengniu Dairy (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (i)iii)
(R (BE)BRAR))i)

Beijing Mengniu Hongda Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)ii)(v)
QEREFREA S REREEAE)V)

Mengniu Dairy (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)
(GREILE (4L BR A AN

Hubei Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)iii)
(R ERAFEBRER AN

Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (ii)(v)
(RRERELBAXARAAN)V)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(ARERFEMAZBRAFN )

Mengniu Dairy (Tai Yuan) Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
GEAE(RR)BRRAN

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
HERAL/ R

PRC
if

PRC
i

PRC
if

PRC
if

PRC
if

PRC
i

PRC
PE

PRC
if

PRC
i
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23. RF R EIHNRE @m)

Issued/
registered
share capital
BEfT/
AR

RMB275,000,000
AR#275,000,0007C

RMB80,000,000
AK#80,000,0007T

RMB96,840,000
AK96,840,0007

RMB20,000,000
AE#20,000,0007T

RMB30,000,000
AR#30,000,0007T

RMB70,000,000
AK#70,000,0007

RMB52,351,700
ARE52,351,7007C

RMB150,000,000
AR#150,000,0007C

RMB116,670,000
AE#116,670,0007C

Percentage of equity

interest attributable to
the Company
REBELN

REEA

Direct Indirect

B# B

- 93.29%

- 93.29%

- 93.29%

- 48.51%

- 72.77%

- 93.29%

- 47.58%

- 93.29%

- 93.29%

Principal activities

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAEMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
FERMEIEM

Packaging and sale of dairy
products
BEREEA RS

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
HERHEASMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAEMm

Manufacture and sale of

dairy products
FERHENHm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
FEREEASEMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASEMm



Name

R

Mengniu Dairy (Baoding) Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)
A ZURE) BB AN

Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)iii)
(FFELAEBRAF i

Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)
FEHIE(BERR)BRAF

Mengniu Dairy (Sugian) Co., Ltd. (i)i)
(GFHEAEER)BRAR))

Mengniu Dairy (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (i)iii)
(EHEAE(RE)BRAR))i)

Mengniu Dairy (Yinchuan) Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)
EEAZERN)EBAG )

Mengniu Dairy(Hengshw) 0., Ltd. (i)i)
(FEILE (k) BB AR

Mengniu Dairy (Jinhua) Co., Ltd. (i)iii)
(GHEIAE(RE)BRAF))

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
AL/ ERR
EBBE

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
G

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i
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23. RF R EINRE @m)

Issued/
registered
share capital
BB/
MR

RMB62,000,000
AE#62,000,0007

RMB67,121,418
NEH67,121,418TC

RMB75,000,000
AKH#75,000,0007

RMB110,000,000
AE#110,000,0007

RMB74,000,000
AK#74,000,0007T

RMB170,000,000
AK#170,000,0007

RMB 150,000,000
AK#150,000,0007

RMB172,458,007
ARH172,458,0077

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Company
KEEEELH
RERDL
Direct Indirect

E# R

- 93.29%

26% 69.03%

26% 69.03%

- 93.29%

26% 69.03%

- 93.29%

26% 69.03%

26.06% 68.98%
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Principal activities

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAHMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNELSMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNEASMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAHMm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEAHm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNELSMm

Research and development
of dairy products
gkt
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Name

R

Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment Co., Ltd. (i)(ii)

(ARERMEEARE L))

Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products
Co., Ltd. (i)ii)
(AR LB R H R BRE L))

Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (i)
(R A BB R 2 =)

Yashili International Ltd.(i)
(MBI BRAA))

Yashili International Group Limited (i)

(ELHEREEARAA))

Yashili International Investment Ltd. (i)
(L AERREBRAR))

New Zealand Dairy International Holdings Ltd. (i)
(FEB EERERER AR

Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)

FERELHAZ AR

Yashili (China) Co., Ltd. (i)iv)
(L AI(p &) BB AR

Yashili International Group Limited (i)(iv)

(ELHERREEARRE))W)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
HERAL/ R
EBBE

PRC
hE

PRC
hE
Hong Kong
&R

British Virgin Islands
ABRUES

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
&R

New Zealand

i
New Zealand

am®

PRC
PE

PRC
hE
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Issued/
registered
share capital
BRfT/
AR

RMB200,000,000
AR#200,000,0007C

RMB520,000,000
AK#520,000,0007C

HKS 1
187
Uss1
(Eo
HK$ 1
187
HK$ 1
18T
NZD1
1A T

NZD1,000,000

1,000,004 F R

RMB100,000,000
AE#100,000,0007

RMB826,105,300
AE#826,105,3007T

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

the Company
REBEED
RERAL
Direct Indirect
B 53

- 93.29%

- 93.29%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

- 68.02%

Principal activities

IRREE

Investment holding
RERR

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEASMm

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
REAR

Production and sales of
dairy products
EERHEAEm

Production and sales of

dairy products
FERHENHm

Production and sales of
dairy products
FERHEASM
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 23. R FRARINEKRE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered interest attributable to
Name business share capital the Company Principal activities
MR/ ERR BT/ KEBEELH
1 £ Rl e REE TEER
Direct Indirect
E# R
Scient (China) Co., Ltd. (i)(iv) PRC RMB155,000,000 - 68.02%  Production and sales of
(R (B BRA W) t AE155,000,0007C dairy products
FERNEANZR
Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)(ii) PRC RMB20,080,000 - 68.02%  Production and sales of
(RETHLAZLEBRAGN) H AR20,080,0007 dairy products
EERNEANHm
Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd. PRC RMB250,000,000 - 68.02%  Production and sales of
("Yashili (hengzhou)") (i)ii) H AK#250,000,0007 dairy products
(LA (EM) ERRARA RN EERNEANZR
Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)i) PRC RMB300,000,000 - 68.02%  Production and sales of
(AT FIZL 5B 2w i AE%300,000,0007C dairy products
EERNEAZR
Chaoan Victory Trading Limited (i)(i) PRC RMB5,000,000 - 68.02% Import and export of
(RZ TR E 58 RAR))i) el AEH5,000,0007 dairy products and
related materials
A Sm R
Yashili Dairy (Manashan) Trading Limited (i)ii) ~ PRC RMB20,000,000 - 68.02%  Sales of food products
(EAFLE (BRI ) SHEFR A ) i ARK#20,000,0007 HERm
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

(i)  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited liability
under PRC law.

(iii) The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

(iv)  The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established
in the PRC.

(v)  Since more than 50% of the equity interests of the subsidiaries
was held by either Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) or Inner Mongolia
Hehe Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hehe”) in which the Company
held a 93.29% equity interest, the Company had control over
the subsidiaries even with less than 50% of equity interest held
indirectly as at the end of the reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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(i) REBEBLKEEMEBEAT L KEBRAE
EE ALK B R RIFTEZ

(i)

5 8y
pul

EFRAERBETEEREAMRERAE
=] o

I

(i) ZEFARARBFIBEAZEMBTINGE

AT -

hu)

(iv) ZEFRRYRNTEEMNZENERE -

() RMEHR - ARZEFRARE RS
AERERTAE(EE)BROHERDA (AR
SHDEIRERERMKREEREEART (R
GUDICAWN ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ%)%ﬁ el
ZJK TF'EHK%E —F R - ARBHZ

RAIREE %‘H%E

EERRERFIIZARRFRAEEZLHA
%l$¢§¥%§%ﬁk%% i%ﬁiﬁﬁlﬁ
EFRECERIS - EFRBREHEMTA
BZHBEEFIRARIIE -



23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held
by non-controlling interests:

Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Yashili

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated
to non-controlling interests:

Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Yashili

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests:

Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

Accumulated balances of non-controlling
interest at the reporting dates:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

23. RF R EINRE @m)

AEBRBEAFFERER FTARZHIT
ol

2013 2012
—E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
AR B R A e P AR A 2
AL -
AE=EGE 6.71% 6.71%
FELF 23.42% -
DA E IR R RS 2
ANEFE,(EE) -
NEEE G 95,493 86,639
i 19,301 _
S IR AR R A s AURR B
ARERGF 16,147 19,175
L7 - -
REkE B HA SRR AR R
w2 BEtiEe
PEEE G 540,106 206,716
L F 1,091,766 -

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed

are before any inter-company eliminations:

2013

Revenue

Total expenses

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive for the year

Total comprehensive for the year

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Wees

S AR RR
AREFE
FEHEMEZEY R

FEEEWEARE

mBEE
FRBEE
mBAE
FERBAE

TRERERFRRZMBERMBE - Lt
BREZ2BRAEEARRIEYHHEN 2R

Inner Mongolia

Mengniu Yashili
AEEE Eo L F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
41,857,841 1,499,067
(40,213,702) (1,364,370)
1,644,139 134,697
98,754 3,003
1,742,893 137,700
13,179,552 2,421,668
12,303,927 2,117,886
11,270,704 1,334,994
3,775,139 71,700
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23.

24.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

2012 —F——F
Revenue ez

Total expenses 4858

Profit for the year REF

Other comprehensive for the year Hib2HE K=
Total comprehensive for the year FEEAW=ERE
Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets EREEE
Current liabilities MEEE
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

The Group had a 46.65% interest in Mengniu Arla before 10
January 2013. Under IAS 31 Investment in Joint Ventures (prior
to the transition to IFRS 11), the Group’s interest in Mengniu
Arla was classified as a jointly-controlled entity and the Group's
share of the assets, liabilities, revenue, income and expenses
was proportionately consolidated in the consolidated financial
statements. Upon the adoption of IFRS 11 on 1 January 2013,
the Group has determined its interest to be a joint venture and
it is required to be accounted for using the equity method.
The initial investment as at 1 January 2012 is measured as the
aggregate of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
that the Group has previously proportionately consolidated to
the extent that the Group’s investment in the joint venture is
reduced to zero. The change in accounting for the investment
in a joint venture has been applied retrospectively. The opening
balances as at 1 January 2012 and comparative information
for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been restated in
the consolidated financial statements. The quantitative impact
of the adoption of IFRS 11 on the financial statements is
summarised in note 2.2(b).
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Inner Mongolia
Mengniu
AEERF
RMB’'000
ARETT

Yashili
L7
RMB’'000
AR®ET T

35,999,990 =

(34,504,336) -

1,495,654 -
30,661

1,526,315 =

9,093,120 -
10,675,533 -
7,179,190 =
3,565,345 -

NEELEZIRE
R-TE—=F—AF+HA  AEBHAREH
54-46.65% @ o BIFERE 2RI 31
HINELELEZIRE | (RIBEZE BRI R
SRERNEVI5RAT)  AEEREHSE 2%
wmNBEARREHEERASEBELEE
BE - Wz WA RRASTIRL IR GE B
MRGAAR - R-E—=F—F—BHEHK
BB TR SR EN115818 - AEEETH
AR EE  WAKREZAAR - E:f
BN T ——F—HA—HZOLERER K
EEUZATLLHEHNEELEBEREEZ
MEREECEZIRESHEE  WAZKRESD
BERTEEAR REAZrEZREZ S
SO EYER R=2E—=—E—A—A2
FEGBERBEE T ——F+t-_A=+—8H
FFEEZHBEFERGET B RERES -
FRANBI B B TR 25 2 B B 1 1SR I SRR 2
SR EB AN E2.2(b) °
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24. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (ontinued) 2. REBLEZKRE®@m)

Details of the Mengniu Arla are set out below: Bt R4 2 FIEERSIAT
Particulars Place of Percentage of equity
of issued establishment interest attributable
Name shares held and business to the Group (indirect) Principal activities
1 FEERTRAZEE HRUREEREY AEERERERSL(HER) TEER
2013 2012
—Eg-=F —E-—
Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products  Registered capital Mainland China - 46.65%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. HER ke dairy products
REEEESH IS EREELT RERHET AR
The carrying amount of the Group's investment in Mengniu RBEZEBERIBRELNNE115E - K&
Arla after transition to IFRS 11 is as follows: EREHRE 2R EREERAT ¢
2013 2012
-g—= —E—_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Investment in a joint venture REEREZRE - -
As at 31 December 2012, the Group's unrecognised R-E——F+-A=+—8 AEERAE
cumulative losses of the joint venture were RMB49,258,000. EHEREF 2 AERIZFTEEAARE
The Group does not have legal or constructive obligations in 49,258,0007C - REBH AL EELEEF
relation to the negative net assets of the joint venture and BEXWELITRETET  WASEWERER
accordingly the Group did not recognise the corresponding VEEaE  MEFEEEEAE -

liabilities and adjusted it against the retained earnings.

The Group'’s voting power held and profit sharing arrangement f%;ﬁﬁf&%%&ﬂjﬁ DREHERANE
EEAER

are same with its ownership interest.
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24. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 2. REBTLEZRE W@

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRIREM S Z B EEREEE - JhEis
information of Mengniu Arla extracted from its financial BEMBHRRIEGEVFRR 2EAELZ
statements and reconciled to the carrying amount in the HER -
consolidated financial statements:
2013 2012
—=E—= —E——4F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment L E =Y 305,313
Other non-current assets HMIERENEE 33,794
339,107
Current assets REEE
Cash and bank balance e MIRITHET 52,696
Trade and bills receivables FEUBR R R =4 32,912
Inventories 78 114,451
Other current assets HMREEE 10,189
210,248
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and bills payables ER R R IR 213,542
Other current liabilities HEMREa s 416,828
630,370
Net assets EEFE (81,015)
Revenue g A 801,113
Cost of sales Eisk=WN (593,658)
Other income and gains H bl A KUz 5,839
Selling and distribution expense SHE K IRSEE (406,165)
Administrative expenses THER (31,732)
Other operating expenses H ik & R (7,558)
Interest income T 2 U A 329
Finance costs Bl Bl 2N (5,190)
Share of profits and losses of an associate FEAL — R E A K&
EE 2
Income tax expenses Y=g -
Loss and other comprehensive loss KREEER
for the year Hih2HEEE (237,020)
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

25. REFE QTR E

Group

REEHE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Shares listed in Hong Kong (note iii) NEB LT 2 IR0 (B aEiii) 2,756,365 -
Share of net assets, unlisted B EEFE - 3ELE™ 86,790 77,921
2,843,155 77,921

Company

PN
2013 2012
—=E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT

Shares listed in Hong Kong, REB LT 2D - R

at cost (note iii) (B =Eiii) 2,619,746 =

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Name

R

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (i)ii)
(R EIER R PR IR 2 )i

Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)
(RERFAZBERAA))

Guilin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(EMEEAEHEBRAF))

Particulars of
issued shares held
FisBERT
RABER

Ordinary Share of
HK$0.1 each
FRE{E. BT

Registered capital

Registered capital

iftExR

T ARSI ¢

Place of incorporation/  Percentage of equity
registration and interest attributable
business to the Group (indirect)  Principal activities
MR/ AEBEED
BRREELE RER 2L (BE) TEER
2013 2012

ZE-=fF —T-——F
Cayman Islands 28% 1.08% Production and sale of milk
FHEHS I8mE 5
PRC 26% 26% Trading of dairy products
N AEmES
PRC 37% 37% Trading of dairy products
AR IHmE S

HESFAXERAR —T=FF% 207



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea) 25. REFE R BINRE@®
Place of incorporation/  Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable
Name issued shares held business to the Group (indirect)  Principal activities
FERERT MR,/ KEBEEEN
R R EH BRRERLHN RAER 2t () TERH
2013 2012
“B-=f Z—E--F
Tianjin Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i)~ Registered capital PRC 37% 37% Trading of dairy products
(RERFKEMHERRECRAN) AR hEAR EmES
Nanjing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 2% 42% Trading of dairy products
(ARFFAXHERRAAN) AR EIKE IEmES
Nanchang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 2% 42% Trading of dairy products
(AERFAFHERBALARN) AR EIKE IEmE 5
Hefei Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 3% 43% Trading of dairy products
(FEFRFAXHERRRAN) AMER REIRE AHmE
Shijiazhuang Jinmengyuan Trading Co., Ltd. (i) ~ Registered capital PRC 37% 37% Trading of dairy products
(ERELFREHAREERA)) AMER hE AR A8mESH
Xi'an Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 3% 43% Trading of dairy products
BRFTAFHERRAFN) AMER REIRHE IHmES
Changchun Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)~ Registered capital PRC 46% 46% Trading of dairy products
(REXGAmEEARAR)) AMER B AR J8REH
Xuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 37% 37% Trading of dairy products
(NRFARHEBRATAN) AR EAKE JEmEH
Foshan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 37% 37% Trading of dairy products
(BLPRFAXHERRAFN) HEMER hE AR EmES
Shengyang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)(i) ~ Registered capital PRC 19% 19% Trading of dairy products
(BERRTILFHERRAAN) AR GBS AEmE
Xiangfan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC 46% 46% Trading of dairy products
(ERBREAXHERRRAN) AR EIKHE IEmES
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital PRC 29% 29% Trading of dairy products
(BMTREAEHERRRAN) AR PEIRE A8mESH

208 china Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013



25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

Name

1!

Guangzhou Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy

Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

(BEMTRFAXERNHERRR

Nanchang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(EERFKINBEEERA

Taiyuan Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales

Co., Ltd. ()

RRFFAFERAmEERRAR

Xi'an Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales

Co., Ltd. ()

(ALK

Zhanjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(BEITEFAXHEARD

Dezhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(ENTRFAFHEEERA

Zhaoging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
ERTRTAXHEARD

Quanzhou Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

FRERARHEARLA

A)i)

A)i)

A)i)

A)G)

A))

)G

)G

(FAPRFAFRZHERR RN

Harbin Mengniu Frozen Food Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

(REERTRRRBHERRAAN)

Harbin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i)

(REERFEEARLA))

Xianyang Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

(RERTHRHEARATF))

Particulars of
issued shares held
FsBERT
&R

Registered capital
AR

Registered capital
AR
Registered capital

AfER

Registered capital

AR
Registered capital
AR

Registered capital
AR

Registered capital
AR

Registered capital

iftExR

Registered capital

Fialig=¥

Registered capital
AMER

Registered capital
AMER

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

25. REFE DN TR E @m)

Place of incorporation/
registration and
business

MR/
ERREXRBE

PRC
EAE

PRC
EAE
PRC

PEAKE

PRC
EAE

PRC
REAE

PRC
REAE

PRC
REAE

PRC
PEAR

PRC
EAR

PRC
PEAR

PRC
PEIAR

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Group (indirect)
REBEGN
REE 2 (BE)
2013 2012
ZE-=f —%—-
42% 42%
42% 42%
2% 42%
42% 42%
46% 46%
2% 42%
46% 46%
23% 23%
2% 42%
28% 28%
46% 42%

Principal activities

IRER

Trading of dairy products
L Ji=l 57:%

Trading of dairy products
AEmES
Trading of dairy products

A3mE

Trading of dairy products
AEmES

Trading of dairy products
AEmES

Trading of dairy products
8285

Trading of dairy products

IHmES

Trading of dairy products
AEmE5

Trading of dairy products
A8mE5

Trading of dairy products
A8RES

Trading of dairy products
A8REH

TERFAEERAE —T=FFR
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Name issued shares held business
FisBERT FWERL/
E1 RipER BoREEE
Shenzhen Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC
(MIXFEZERAR) FHRER HEIREE
Beijing Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital PRC
IRRFEFERAR)) FHER hEARE

@)

(ii)

(iii)

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Particulars of

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Since more than 20% of the equity interest of the associates was
held by Inner Mongolia Mengniu, the Company had significant
influence over the associates even with less than 20% of equity
interest held indirectly as at the end of the reporting period.

During the year, the Company acquired an aggregate of
1,296,000,000 shares of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(“China Modern Dairy”), a Hong Kong listed company,
representing approximately a 26.92% equity interest in China
Modern Dairy as at the date of acquisition, at an aggregate
purchase price of approximately RMB2,536,594,000. The
acquisition was completed on 21 May 2013 and since then China
Modern Dairy became an associate of the Company.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year

or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The Group's voting power held and profit sharing arrangement
are same with its ownership interest.

China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material associate
of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group mainly
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of raw milk and is
accounted for using the equity method.
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Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Group (indirect)
REBELH
REFDL(HE)

2013
“E-=fF

Principal activities

FEEHR
2012
—E-——F

37% 37% Trading of dairy products

1HmES

45% 45% Trading of dairy products

1HmES

(i) REEBLKEAMEBHANL K EIRERE
HE MR B RBIPTER ©

(i) MRIMEHR - ARZERE R FE20% A48
HARKERE - #EARRRERFE R
REER20% » ARAEZFHERANEE
REEN -

FR - ARRWEESS EMARFBHREER
WEERERAA([RRBRKE] EH
1,296,000,0008% %1% + i+ BIZR R UL
BERHI%26.92%ME  BEEBHARE
2,536,594,0007T - WEEENR T —=FH
A=Z+—H%ERK ' WERFBRBEARRERAX

AFBEAF -

(iii)

FERA ARSI 2 AL ERLEANEEHAL
EACELABRYE  SERAEEEEFE
ZEARES - EERBIREHMBE AT 2 1S
B HHETBRIE -

AEEREZRERLNB#E D R EER AR
AR -

TRERAABERESAEEEZRZ AR - BN
SETZNERPEERSHEL 2 RIEINF -
WIAEFIEANR ©
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (ontinued) 25. REFE DN TR E @m)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRARTEBRBENTEELREE (8%
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its financial BEB SRR ) MRS IS mAR CERELZ
statements and reconciled to the carrying amount in the HER -
consolidated financial statements:
2013 2012
—E—= —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARKETTT
Current assets mEEE 2,037,061 -
Non-current assets FERBEE 10,456,760 -
Current liabilities BB E 4,483,123 -
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 2,149,964 -
Net assets FEE 5,860,734 —
Less: Non-controlling interests W R AR R R e (117,710) =
Attributable to owners of the Company RN EEE AE 5,743,024 -
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: INE E B N RIS TR IR ¢
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBE A TG LB 28% -
Group's share of net assets attributable to AEE S LB E AT
owners of the associate, BEARGEERE -
excluding goodwiill TEERE 1,607,932 =
Group’s share of net assets of an unlisted REFS(HEZE A TIEA
domestic subsidiary of the associate, —MFELEHFRAIZ
excluding goodwiill BEFE  TREEE 78,720 =
Valuation appreciation, net of HEAE -
depreciation and amortisation HIBR T B R 5 (38,091) -
Goodwill on acquisition Wb 2 P 1,152,066 =
Exchange realignment bE 3, S8 B (44,262) -
Carrying amount of the investment FEHIREE 2,756,365 -
Revenue WA 2,155,935 -
Profit for the year FEFE 437,120 =
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 E e - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FEE2EWSERE 437,120 -
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 25. REFE QA RINIRE @)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRBESANERBE AT (FERmMES X AE
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually KO B ER Bt (i E R KT
material extracted from their unaudited management BRH) :
accounts:
2013 2012
—F—= —E—_4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: {5t ARIMEENEE :

Current assets mENE E 268,684 275,353
Non-current assets ERBNE E 4,677 5,500
Current liabilities mEAE (186,571) (202,932)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - -
Net assets FEE 86,790 77,921
Share of the associates’ revenues DAEEE A R IUA
and profit: KA
Revenues WA 1,587,028 1,769,294
Profit for the year FZ R 29,242 13,855
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEmMWSEE 29,242 13,855
All the above associates have been accounted for using the LA E AR E E AR ERN B H®E
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has NERIE - AREE DK ILEREGE TS
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain NEIRER  BREMEE AR EIREA
associates because the share of losses of the associates REERBE QRN ER - RAFE - K&
exceeded the Group’s interests in the associates. The amounts ERREOZEHEAANEERETE
of the Group's unrecognised share of losses of these associates BB ABARKE17,147,0000 (=& — =4 :
for the current year and cumulatively were RMB17,147,000 AR #22,378,0007T) & A R#62,226,000
(2012: RMB22,378,000) and RMB62,226,000 (2012: T(ZZE——4%F : AR¥53,502,0007T) °

RMB53,502,000), respectively.

212 china Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2013



26. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

26. IEERHE

EREEREEEREBHERNT -

Deferred tax assets: BELEMBEEE :
Group
REE
2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
At 1 January R—A—H 72,093 66,749
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) Wi —EF AR (fI7E45) 74,361 -
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to FRARGEAIBRERTAS
the consolidated statement of profit or loss  (#1k& ) FYIEIEFIE
during the year (note 11) (PfFzE11) 9,285 5,344
Gross deferred tax assets RTZA=1+—HAELER
at 31 December TREERE 155,739 72,093
Deferred tax liabilities: EERIEEE -
Group
REE
2013 2012
—B—= —E—_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
At 1 January m—H—8 33,051 22,830
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) W — 72\ (P 5E45) 65,110 -
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FARAMEHEREN DR
the consolidated statement of EEHmMEELNG,
comprehensive income arising from GrA) e E2mEk=ERA
fair value changes of available-for-sale IR IE (T 5E28(b))
investments during the year (note 28(b)) (33,051) 10,221
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FARGTEIBRRFT AR
statement of profit or loss during REBE(MIEE11)
the year (note 11) (681) -
Gross deferred tax liabilities R+ A=+—HREER
at 31 December HB &R 64,429 33,051
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. IEZE B IE (@)
Deferred income tax assets at 31 December 2013 related to R-E—=F+-_A=1+—HHELZMREH
the following: BEMTYIEEAA :

Consolidated statement Consolidated statement

of financial position of profit or loss
FEPBMR R FEaBEmK
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F - ZZE—= —EF——fF

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®TR ARETRT

Tax losses available for AT SH B 18 FE R AR
offsetting against future FERRIIEEE
taxable profits 10,959 26,268 (15,500) 16,024
Write-down of inventories to W FEZ= A #I15
net realisable value HE - 224 (224) (33)
Provision for trade receivables and  FEURBR R N E 4t
other receivables FEW R IE B 7,750 = 7,750 -
Un-invoiced accruals REBEZRTER
& 102,215 21,797 21,861 (9,062)
Deferred income PRI W 2 34,815 23,804 (4,602) (1,585)
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBE = 155,739 72,093
Deferred income tax expense FIEFTER S
(note 11) (PfFEE11) 9,285 5,344
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be B IR B T B R 2R F [ 8 I Bk i 3R B AR T A
available against which the above tax losses and deductible E - 0] R DA A0 st B TR 5 48 K BT ARk B
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. HER o
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. Eﬁﬁlﬁ(ﬁ)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the EEFIBEEN RS 58 B R :

following items:

Group

rEH
2013 2012
—E-= —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT

Tax losses arising in Mainland R B R B EE A HY
China (i) TRIBEE() 628,024 51,709

Tax credits related to purchases of IR B B NEE B e tiE
domestic equipment (i) (i) - 2,100

Deductible temporary differences AR SR e =R 215,144 134,474
843,168 188,283

(i) The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future () EFHFRIEEEATBUEHEARELEEBRRZ
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a FERTIF &S RF -
maximum of five years.

(i)  Tax credits can be carried forward for five to seven years to (i) MARFEMNHABBEEFEHFR &
offset the tax payables if the future year tax exceeded the base TR A 48 A = F AR BIR o
year tax

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the IRAERIE & BE I MRt i B I8 T AMERR

above items as it is not considered probable that tax profits will ER AR RESE A Eal %188 AR BIE A

be available against which the above items can be utilised or B RSN e g ERNEEE A £

tax authorities should approve the Group to utilise the above AR IR o ol AT HB B R E R o

tax credits or deductible temporary differences.
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

26. IEFER IH (@)

Deferred income tax liabilities at 31 December 2013 related to
the following:

W-ZT—=F+-B=+—8  BmTiAHE
HOMEAE PTG DA 1

Consolidated statement
of financial position

Consolidated statement
of profit or loss

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

FERBHRRR TRBHER FERANER
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
“§--f —%--F CZB-=f —F-—_F CZE-=f —T-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR%Tr ARETr ARETR ARET:
Fair value changes of available-for-sale W ERE
investments INDIEL:: - 33,051 - - (33,051) 10,221
Withholding tax arising from undistributed ~~ REFARADE
eamings of PRC subsidiaries &%‘JEEE’JT&DM 64,429 - (681) - - -
Deferred tax liabilities ERREEE 64,429 33,051
Deferred income tax expense EEFERYH (681) = (33,051) 10,221

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

27.

At 31 December 2013, the Group recognised deferred
tax liabilities for the withholding taxes amounting to
RMB64,429,000 (2012: Nil) which were attributed to certain
of the Group subsidiaries located in Mainland China with
a plan to distribute dividends in the foreseeable future.
No other deferred tax liabilities have been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
other subsidiaries located in Mainland. In the opinion of
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in MainLand China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB5,871,412,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012:
Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

(A) Nature of activities
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are milk production
companies that principally engaged in the production
and sale of milk. Dairy cows are primarily held to produce
milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group and
the output of milk during the year at end of the reporting
period are shown below.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

26. IEERIE (@)

27.

MNZE—=F+-A=+—0  A&=EzE
T AR BE64,429,0007T( —F— — 4 : )
BRELHERE  WHRRASEES T
R B A BE 2 F A RlET 81 A 7§82k 2 R AR
B o R BR AN B A7 7 B A RE R E
A B oK 0B H & F i FE S B TR N FR A RR E Atb
BEHBEE -EERE ' ZSTARRA
B RD RBFAATREEREK - R=ZF—=
F+_A=1+—8 HARBRERFPBEKRET
N2 E R 2 R E REERREL
HIEAGFEAKXHARKS,871,412,0007T (=
T—_F ) o

13 R 7 2 ) 1) L BB BR S A B B 1 B 7 B9 AT
BHRER -

EYEE

(A) RBEMHE
ARBETFRABARFPHEELE =
SNEFPEN - AFEEBTIRHIEE
Pzh - FR - AEERBEHRES
MIFBERENEWT °

Group
A%E
2013 2012
—E—= —ET——-F
Head of Head of
dairy cows dairy cows
24 (5]) FLA(58)
Milkable cows e - 86
Heifers and calves INRF A RGN 2,214 8,923
Total dairy cows 1A ) 2,214 9,009

FERFAEFRAA

—F-=EER 217



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

27. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
(A) Nature of activities (continued)

Milkable cows are those dairy cows that are held for milk
production. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows that
have not reached the age that can produce milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
the heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After
approximately a nine month pregnancy term, a calf is
born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and
the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically
milked for approximately 340 days before a dry period of
approximately 60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce milk, it would be
transferred to the category of milkable cows based on the
estimated fair value on the date of transfer. The sales of
dairy cows is not one of the Group’s principal activities
and is not included as revenue. The sales of dairy cows
are determined based on the actual selling price.

FREYIHE

Volume of sales of milk produced

27. £ MEE @)
(A) ¥BME@
R FEEENRERNILF - NF
RN RRBIEDFRAZLE -

—RERT  PEFREEHTHEHA
REFEITERE - WNEANZEBIZ -
N IFRBRHERY) - WIS
Fth - DT BEESEYH40K - 218
HEAKLIGORIEZFLH o

NEEAFIRE YR - S IRERE A B
AR EEREPNAER - LFHEL
FARKENERFZH 2 — T ANK
A AT HEDRBEEREEME -

Group
M
2013 2012
—E-—=£F —_ET—=
KG KG
Fr Fr
8,307,781 24,320

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does
not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will
decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the
directors of the Company are of the view that there is no
available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price
of the dairy products.
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27. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 27. EMEEm@®
(B) Value of dairy cows (B) A4 HEE
The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting period R EHROIFEE
was:
Group
REE
Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Total
NEERNF 4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AR®T AR®T T

At 1 January 2013 N—E—=F
—H—H 209,679 2,007 211,686
Increases due to purchase Ui B 175,703 - 175,703
Increase due to raising (SRR K
(Feeding cost and others) Hih) 147,894 - 147,894
Transfer i (127,242) 127,242 -
Assets included in a BRERE&KIEEE
discontinued operation BEBNZEE
(note 12) (Bt5E12) (372,840) (122,728) (495,568)
Decrease due to sales mE (6,417) (1,097) (7,514)
Gains/(loss) arising from changes in A {EE BRI HE
fair value less costs to sell PR AN EE A K
Wz (E1E) 9,930 (5.,424) 4,506
At 31 December 2013 R-ZT—=%F
+=A=+—8H 36,707 - 36,707
The Group's dairy cows in the PRC were valued by an AEEBEFRNIAFTEBEIEERSE
independent qualified professional valuer. The fair value FEERMETHE A IRETEE
less cost to sell of the heifers and calves are determined & NEFERNFZARERLE SRR
with reference to the market-determined prices of items TR EFR,  miEREEERRLZ
with similar age, breed and genetic merit, if the market- HE WS EEEE - AREFEST
determined prices are available. Due to the fact that GemmER - HEMEERFREAE
the market-determined prices of milkable cows are not % AETERZERB 2 AR BEREEK
available, the valuer has applied the net present value PN
approach to calculate the fair value less cost to sell of
these items.
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27. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
(B) Value of dairy COWS (continued)

The principal valuation assumptions adopted in applying
the net present value approach are as follows:

e The quantities of the existing dairy cows at the
end of the reporting period will reduce at a certain
culling rate due to the natural or unnatural factors;

e  The culling rates adopted are based on the current
available breeding data of the Group and future

operating plans;

e  The quantities of cows will increase as calves are

born;

e The expected average prices of milk during the
projected period of six lactations are estimated after
taking into account certain percentage growth,
future demand and inflation in the PRC for each

projected year;

e The cash flows for financing the assets and taxation
are not included as required by IAS 41 Agriculture;

e  Costs are average costs based on historical cost

information;

° The discount rate used is 13.04% at 31 December

2013.
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28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 28. Hih e MEE
Group
REEHE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
MiEE AR¥T T AREFTT
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE -
at fair value BARE
Hong Kong listed equity investments BB ETMRARE (a)/(b) 302,049 89,642
Unlisted equity investments FEETRAKRE (a) - 144,201
302,049 233,843
Available-for-sale investments at cost Al HERE - A
Unlisted equity investments JE ETARANIEE (c) 139,597 145,687
Long term unit trust investments RHEABMEFERE (d) - 130,258
Long term unit trust investments due R—FREIHz
within one year REIB((EFEIRE (d) 130,258 =
Short term commercial banks wealth RN ERTYE
investment products WEEmM (e) 220,000 240,000
489,855 515,945
Loans and receivables B R EWEIE
Long term entrusted loans RHZFEER (f) 24,472 EERE2
Long term entrusted loans due R—FERNEHRZ
within one year RZEFTERK () 49,981 41,377
Short term investment deposits AR BT (9) 1,344,508 160,000
Long term pledged deposits RHARESTR 32 150,000 -
Long term time deposits REAE BT K 32 1,083,548 -
2,652,509 254,898
Total other financial assets HihoriEER 3,444,413 1,004,686
Current FE 1,744,747 441,377
Non-current FETRED 1,699,666 563,309
3,444,413 1,004,686

TERTAEERAA

—F-=EER 221



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continuea) 28. Htt € R E E m)
Company
RN F]

2013 2012

—=E—= —F——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBTT

Available-for-sale investments at fair value AIftHERE AL E

Listed equity investments, at fair value: ~ FTARAIZE @ IAAE :

Hong Kong BB (a) 302,049 89,642
Short term investment deposits RER BT (9) 100,000 -
Total other financial assets Hih e pb & =R 402,049 89,642
Current E 100,000 -
Non-current JERE 302,049 89,642

402,049 89,642

(@) During 2013, the Company acquired a 4.41% (@ R-ZZE—=F  ARAIKB—MEE
equity interest in a Hong Kong listed company with BETMRAA4IMN% 2EE - BELD
approximately HK$469,831,000 (equivalent to 469,831,000 % 7t (& K AR
RMB369,396,000). The fair value of the listed equity 369,396,0007T) - FHRAZHFZ A
securities is determined by reference to published REDDEERMIGHR REETE -
quotations in an active market. The above equity FAt R AR E W B B H A g B R
investment has no fixed maturity date or coupon rate and BEAAHIEESHEE R-_T—=
was designated as available-for-sale financial assets. As at FH+ZA=+—0  AHEEREZA
31 December 2013, changes in fair value of the available- AEEHREMEEHKNZERARE
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive 67,347,0000L(ZE—=4F : &) - B5#
income amounted to RMB67,347,000 (2012: Nil), there is EEWETAHIETE -

no tax effect on such changes.
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28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(b)

On 26 November 2010, China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd.("China Modern Dairy”), in whose unlisted domestic
subsidiary the Group held a 2.13% equity interest at the
cost of RMB12,000,000 at that time, was listed in Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Accordingly the fair value of the
unlisted equity investment has been estimated by reference
to the quoted market share price of its holding company,
taking into account the liquidity factors. In addition, the
Company invested cash of approximately HK$151,512,000
(equivalent to RMB128,926,000) into China Modern Dairy
upon its listing, representing a 1.08% equity interest at
that time. The fair value of the listed equity securities is
determined by reference to published quotations in an
active market. The above equity investments have no
fixed maturity date or coupon rate and were designated
as available-for-sale financial assets. Changes in fair value
of the Group’s equity investments in China Modern Dairy
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
RMB51,283,000, net of tax of RMB10,221,000 (note 26),
as at 31 December, 2012. The above investments ceased
to be accounted for as available-for-sale of the Group
after the Company acquired certain shares in the holding
company during the year (note 25(iii)), changes in fair
value of the Group’s above available-for-sale recognised
before the acquisition date in other comprehensive income
of RMB65,283,000, net of tax of RMB33,051,000 (note
26) was reversed accordingly.

During 2013, the Group acquired an additional 26.92%
equity interest in China Modern Dairy and accordingly
accounted for the Group’s total equity investment in
China Modern Dairy as an associate.
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28. Hit € mE E )

(b)

RZZE—ZFF+—H=+/"8  AER
REEZEBRER AR ([P RBFARHE]D
(ERXREMBEATFARERBAASEHS
2.13% I8 #E - BN & AR 12,000,000
TL)BBBAER BT ET o Bt - BfAst
FETRIEBREZRAARE  EHRELRE
EER AR 2RO TE - Wit R
FESHEE o I 0 ARRRFBENR
WHEEMREEERS4151,512,0007%
7T (FHE W AR ¥ 128,926,0005T) * {5
HER1.08% 2 %M - ETiREESZ
NAENR2EFRT S B HEZERE
BEE o LAk EREWEETEIA B
FEAEX  UHEEAIHLESH
BE RZ——F+=-_A=+—H"
AEBRPRRARMEZRBREZA
AEZBHEREMEEREER S5
A AR®51,283,0007T © BHIKRFIIAA
R #10,221,000 7T (fizE26) - FA »
AR B Y B A A B T R (0 1% (B
F£25(ii)) - B ETREARAR
& Al AEE LA EHEEREA
AEZESH(ENWEBBITREMEE
iR ) AR 65,283,000 T (2 1k
B8 A R #33,051,0007T (Ki5E26) ) &
B[ -

RZZE—=F AEEE—FPWEFH
MARHE26.92% I84E - Bt - BEBA
EERFBIRRKREZREREBLEA
Y /NI
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28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

As at 31 December 2013, certain unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB139,597,000
(2012: RMB145,687,000) were stated at cost less
impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of opinion
that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The
Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near
future.

During 2012, the Group, as one of the beneficiaries,
purchased 130,000,000 units in certain unit trusts set up
and managed by an affiliate of a substantial shareholder
and connected party of the Company, at a consideration
of RMB130,258,000. According to the trust documents,
the trust shall apply the entire amount of trust fund
invested by its beneficiaries to finance certain specific
projects owned and operated by an independent third
party. The investments in unit trusts were unsecured with
no guaranteed return amount and with original maturity
of more than one year, which were measured at costs less
impairment under non-current assets because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the directors are of opinion that their fair value cannot
be measured reliably. As at 31 December 2013, the
investments were due within one year.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had short
term commercial banks wealth investment
products of approximately RMB220,000,000 (2012:
RMB240,000,000), which were measured at costs less
impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably.
The investment instruments were unsecured with no
guaranteed return amount and with original maturity of
less than one year.

Entrusted loans represent the Group’s loans to certain
dairy farmers via banks. The above entrusted loans are
unsecured, with annual interest rates ranging from 5.76%
t0 6.90% (2012: 5% to 9.98%). As at 31 December
2013, these entrusted loans are neither past due nor
impaired and have no recent history of default.
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28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(9)

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s investment deposits
were purchased from banks with good credit rating and
were stated at amortised cost. The investment deposits
were acquired with original maturity of three months or
one year and were not allowed to be withdrawn prior
to the maturity date without the bank’s consent. The
investment deposits were unsecured with guaranteed
return amount and had an expected annual interest rate
of 5.28% (2012: 5.05%). An investment deposit of the
Group amounting to approximately RMB64,000,000
(2012: Nil) has been pledged to secure the short term
bank loans, details of which are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.
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29. INVENTORIES 29. 78
Group
REE
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AREEF T
Raw materials R 1,833,768 819,605
Finished goods =K oh 743,310 543,068
Total inventories at the lower of cost and $ Ak 7N B A] A IR S HEE By EE
net realisable value EHENTFELZE 2,577,078 1,362,673

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an
expense was RMB277,000 (2012: RMB1,495,000). This was
recognised in other expenses (note 6).

30. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

BREAIHNGFEMREEAARK
277,000 (=& — —4 : AR#¥ 1,495,000
Jo)  WREME R (M5E6) P iER °

30. EWERR R E#E

Group

AR
2013 2012
=F—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Bills receivable JEW IR 64,628 172,596
Trade receivables FE U BR X 762,577 699,813
Impairment B (72,940) (16,701)
754,265 855,708
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30. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 30. BRI R BB @

The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers AEBRERTEPIHFEEEREE @ WAl £
which is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely BEBE TNETAE - ANEEZYE E#H
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned REBRERR - TR ATl K AREE /) FEUR
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a R VERENRBRHOERLAR @ il E
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant EK{Z%%EPJ_U&? AN 5= B0 A A R UK
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold RAEFEEAEFREMEERA - B
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade LT BR SR 7 R B A LS, o

receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of REREHIR - LHIBR B E A E R R B
the reporting period, based on the invoice dated and net of HHIRBRE: DATRA T -

provision, is as follows:

Group
AEE
2013 2012
—_E—= —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Within 3 months 31E A LAA 635,620 624,808
4 to 6 months AZ61EH 95,743 223,517
7 to 12 months 7212{8AH 11,353 6,788
Over 1 year 18 A E 11,549 595
754,265 855,708
The movements in the provision for impairment of trade FEBR OB SN E ST -
receivables are as follows:
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—=E—= —E=——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
At 1 January R—H—H 16,701 1,844
Impairment losses recognised ERERHREEX 83,762 31,212
Amount written-off as uncollectible & N BT Y [ T il 68 B9 KB (26,478) (16,341)
Impairment losses reversed EAEIVEREEEES (1,045) (14)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 72,940 16,701
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30. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are
not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

30. EWERA R EZ# =)

118 511 =k 48 88 25 15 2 R (8 9 B O 8 U AR 3 K
SERRERONOT ¢

Group
rEH
2013 2012
-—g—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARKETTT
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B HA TR (B 663,488 807,026
Past due but not impaired iR B ARE
— Within three months —318 AR - 10
— Over three months —3fE A E 2,731 =
666,219 807,036

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from associates of approximately
RMB305,692,000 (2012: RMB345,085,000) are included in
the above balances. As at 31 December 2012, the amount
due from a joint venture of approximately RMB97,539,000 is
included in the above balances. These balances are unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and are repayable on credit terms similar
to those offered to other major customers of the Group.

Certain bills receivable of the Group amounting to
approximately RMB50,000,000 (2012: 13,800,000) have been
pledged to secure the bills payable of the Group, details of
which are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

ARG EREZEBRFALRRERTIEX
ETRBNNEFPER  RECOHAER
RFIBELZ L8 °

BHAR B I BB 2 FEUGRIR KR R T 6
—UEBIYEFPER  REEFPEAREANE
RIFMERRE - REBELR - ARAE
ERREFUZFESRAIRBERE - &F
EEEENEANANNEE M ARG BEA
A A S o

T EHRBRERKBE QR REHAR
305,692,000 T (ZFE ——4F : AR#
345,085,0007T) °» LAl BREEES
——F+-_A=1+—HER—FREZEDLER
TH4) AR #97,539,0007T ° | i 4 sk A E K
BReE  EEEEHEATASEEME
ERFHES °

NEB S EL A AREES0,000,000T (==
——% : AR#¥13,800,0007T) 2 & TREKE
BEEEA  (EARSERNEEZER
BRI SRR MIFE3S -
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30. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq) 30. EWERF R Zi5 @)
As at 31 December 2013, none of bills receivable were R-ZTE—=F+-A=+—H8B AEEHE
endorsed by the Group (2012: Nil). BEETMERER(ZE—Z=F &) -
31. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 31. R RE R HEMEWFIE
RECEIVABLES
Group
FEE
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E—_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Deposits e 19,888 8,239
Prepayments SEUNEN 1,685,729 706,409
Value-added tax recoverable KIS (ER 272,934 159,528
Other receivables H b e RIE 337,798 435,645
Corporate income tax recoverable ARG 30,433 14,443
Land use rights — current portion b (s R A — BNERER

(note 18) (FF3E18) 22,329 17,498
Long term prepayments (note a) REATER R (Pt 5Ea) 405,331 341,796
Total prepayments, deposits and other AR~ e REAM

receivables FEWGRIB /B R 2,774,442 1,683,558
Less: Long term prepayments — non-current & : &= EBFENt 3k — FEENERED

portion (note a) 2 (MfEa) (289,145) (299,947)
2,485,297 1,383,611

Notes: Ft5E -

(@) During the year, the Group has entered into various long term (@ FAN - AEERERETREMILF AT LS
raw milk supply contracts with certain milking cow raising DERAFRBENERESL - RIBEZESL
companies. In accordance with these contracts, the Group RARBRAR-ERFENRRENEE -
prepaid for raw milk supplies for the next two to five years.

(b) The amount due from associates of approximately RMB2,000 (b) LB EREKEEATRENARKE
(2012: RMB12,916,000) is included in the above balances. As 2, 00075(_; ——% : AR%12,916,000
at 31 December 2012, the amount due from a joint venture 5E) o TfffﬁJrZﬁE —H - kit
of approximately RMB270,000,000 is included in the above iiﬁ?@%ﬁ'@lﬁl % XREHARE
balances. These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing 270 OOO ,0007T © J: i 4 ﬁ? EEARR
and are repayable on demand. LAREE RS
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31. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

31. AR~ RE R HAEWEIE @)

32. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER

Company
RAF

2013 2012
—_E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETFTT
Dividends receivable FEUS AR B, 224,540 729,756
Loans to subsidiaries FEW—=RF A FIFIA 575,111 72,306
Others Hip 40,814 140
Total WA=t 840,465 802,202

The loans to subsidiaries included in other receivables above
are unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable within one year.
The carrying amount of the loans to subsidiaries approximates
to their fair value.

AT A Lt E A MR A ML — R R AR
BREAR FEAER-—FREE - BK
—EKTRAFANREEELRAERS

RN.ATRBTEEFRRBEER

DEPOSITS
Group
rEH
2013 2012
=-g—= — T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEEY 3,354,590 2,917,541
Pledged deposits REBESTFH 711,709 51,602
Time deposits TEHATF IR 4,830,538 2,834,500
8,896,837 5,803,643
Less: Short term pledged deposits for banking & : $R1TEE 7 R ERRE S
facilities (note 33 and 35) R (MEE33%35) (561,709) (51,602)
Less: Long term pledged deposits for banking & : SR1TREE 2 REFIRES
facilities (note 35) TFRR (K EE35) (150,000) -
Less: Long term time deposits (note a) B REEEE R (MY5Ea) (1,083,548) -
Cash and bank balances in the consolidated 4RA Bk R 2R ® &
statement of financial position RITHETT 7,101,580 5,752,041

TERTAEERAA
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32. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER N.BERBITEERABEER®w@

D E POSITS(continued)

(@) The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at
31 December 2013 varied from 3.3% to 5.6% (2012: Nil) per
annum and will be mature in two to four years.

(@ RIT—=F+"RA=+—8  EHRTF
RZEBRNENFEBFI3%E6%(—F
——F &) URKAMENFAZIH -

Company
P N/NE
2013 2012
—E—= —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Cash and cash equivalents WENIREEEY 245,717 751,922
Pledged deposits REEFR 469,592 -
Less: Pledged deposits for banking facilities & : SRITREZ R BEEX
(note 35) (MF3E35) (469,592) —
Cash and bank balances in the statement of A&k R R N & K&
financial position IR1TETF 245,717 751,922

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank
balances of the Group and the Company denominated
in RMB amounted to approximately RMB6,638,405,000
(2012: RMB5,623,966,000) and RMB147,867,000 (2012:
RMB607,402,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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32. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER N.BERBITEERAEEER@

DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and five years depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective
time deposit rate. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

33. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

RITEARBETEN XL - EHRFHIIE
FAREENANBSREFRMENF—BER
FOTRFRBAFR - A RARIEE BTF A
KB - RITEERRESHERDERRE
B Ry BB IR GLERHOERTT ©

33. B ERF R &

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group, Z]X’E BEMBRA N EFERIFEHZEH B RE
based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT -
Group
3 1
2013 2012
—E2—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETFTT
Within 3 months 3ME B AN 4,199,004 2,884,261
4 to 6 months 4Z6fE A 524,303 729,048
7 to 12 months 72128 A 29,127 12,442
Over 1 year 1F LA E 8,864 3,709
4,761,298 3,629,460

The amounts due to associates of approximately
RMB253,976,000 (2012: RMB8,000) are included in the above
balances. As at 31 December 2012, the amount due to a joint
venture of approximately RMB14,637,000 is included in the
above balances. These balance are with similar credit terms to
those offered by the associates to their major customers.

BB REENBE AR REBEHARE
253,976000ﬁ(::—_¢ A R #8,000
J0) o LB BEEE— S ——F+ A
== Eﬁﬁgﬁ MASDERBEHARKE
14,637,0007T ° ;Z:%%%ZFE,HJ%EM%%“
AREFERFREERE
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33. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

Except for an aggregate balance of approximately
RMB152,325,000 (2012: RMB110,081,000) secured by the
pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to
approximately RMB49,805,000 (2012: RMB49,602,000) (note
32) and certain of the Group’s bills receivable amounting to
approximately RMB50,000,000 (2012: RMB13,800,000) (note
30), bills payable are unsecured. The above balances are non-
interest-bearing.

33.

EAERAREE @
AREENEMBRRAERBLEBNARE

SKEERERE -

A4 AR #152,325,000 (2 ——
£ . AR¥110,081,0007T ) B FE N i 4k 64
THAZR &R B A 249 AR 49,805,000 (=&
—— % : AR#49,602,0007T)ETFER
(F3E32) RAEE &H X AR 50,000,000
TT(ZZ——4% : AR¥13,800,0007T)H)%&
T e 2= 5 (K 7E30) (R IR O - E RS
ZRAERE o iR AERS o

34. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 3. HW BRI RIERTAREH

Group

REE
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E—_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Advances from customers HPETEMR 1,408,658 664,684
Salary and welfare payables EitEHe REN & 597,865 310,961
Other payables Hib e~ 018 2,348,317 1,575,266
4,354,840 2,550,911

Included in other payables is an amount of RMB3,192,000,
which represents unrealised fair value losses of derivate
financial instruments as at 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

The amounts due to associates of approximately
RMB63,405,000 (2012: RMB93,073,000) are included in the
above balances. The balances are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and are repayable on demand.
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35. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 35. 5T ERITREMEE

BORROWINGS
Group
S|
2013 2012
“E-—=F —Z——fF
Fixed  Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate  Maturity rate rate
WA BEEFER FBAE FEMA EEME  OFHAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETR ARETT ARETT
Current BN
Short term bank loans, secured SHRTER
(BiEH) 2014 16,000 4,375,693 2013 16,000 -
Short term bank loans, unsecured RHEIRITER
(i) 2014 1,523,036 2,099,508 2013 77,352 480,425
Current portion of long term bank loans RHFITE R (EE
- unsecured bl 2014 447,269 - 2013 - -
Non-current FEENH
Long term bank loans, secured RERITER
(RHEH) 2015 - 47,084 - - _
Long term bank loans, unsecured RERITER
(EIEH) 2016 178,025 - - - _
Bonds issued in 2013 R-T—=F%72
&% 2018 3,010,426 - - - -
5,174,756 6,522,285 93,352 480,425
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: IRTTEREEROT -
Group
rEH
2013 2012
=F—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARKETTT
Within 1 year —FRA 8,461,506 573,777
1 to 2 years —EMF 47,084 =
2 to 5 years 2= A 3,188,451 =
Total interest-bearing bank loans FTRIRITERERE 11,697,041 573,777
Less: Amount due within one year included & : B3FERRBIAEGER 2
in current liabilities —FREHFOE (8,461,506) (573,777)
3,235,535 -

TERTAEERAA
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35. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWI N G S (continued)

35. 5 EHRITREMEE@®

Company
b
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—CF
Fixed  Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate  Maturity rate rate
AMA  ETEAE  FEA= WA ETFER  OFEFAE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETR AEETT ARETT
Current BN &R
Short term bank loans, secured EHRITE R
(BHE#) 2014 - 3,839,907 = = =
Short term bank loans, unsecured RHERITER
(mER) 2014 - 1,954,508 2013 - 405,425
Non-current FEENE
Bonds issued in 2013 RIE—=F%{77
&H 2018 3,010,426 - - - _
3,010,426 5,794,415 - 405,425
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: RITERREFENT -
Company
P N/NE
2013 2012
—E2—= —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Within 1 year —FR 5,794,415 405,425
1 to 2 years —ZEMF - _
2 to 5 years MERE 3,010,426 -
8,804,841 405,425
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35. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured as
follows:

(i) a short term bank loan of approximately RMB60,574,000
(2012: Nil) was secured by an investment deposit (note 28)
of the Group;

(i) certain short term bank loans of approximately
RMB475,212,000 (2012: Nil) were secured by certain
pledged deposits (note 32) of the Group;

(iii) certain short term bank loans of approximately

RMB16,000,000 (2012: RMB16,000,000) were secured by

certain land use rights (note 18(b)) and property, plant and

equipment (note 15(b)) of the Group;

(iv) certain short term bank loans of approximately
RMB3,839,907,000 were secured by a pledged deposit
(note 32) of the Group and an aggregate of 2,420,906,271

shares in Yashili, the Group's listed subsidiary; and

(v) a long term bank loan of approximately RMB47,084,000
was secured by certain pledged deposits (note 32).

As at 31 December 2013, except for certain short term bank
loans of HK$1,411,500,000 (2012: HK$500,000,000) equivalent
to approximately RMB1,109,764,000 (2012: RMB405,425,000)
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, certain short term bank
loans of US$1,041,697,000 (2012: US$6,216,000) equivalent
to approximately RMB6,799,595,000 (2012: RMB38,852,000)
denominated in United States dollars, and a long term bank
loan of US$36,971,000 (2012: Nil) equivalent to approximately
RMB225,109,000 (2012: Nil) denominated in United States
dollars, all the Group's interest-bearing bank loans were
denominated in RMB.

During the year, except for certain short term bank loans of
RMB154,464,000 (2012: Nil) and a long term bank loan of
RMB47,084,000 (2012: Nil) of which the annual interest rates
had been made by reference to the London Interbank Offered
Rate at LIBOR+0.7% and LIBOR+0.85%, respectively, the annual
interest rates of the short term bank loans and the long term
bank loans varied from 1.17% to 9.47% (2012: varied from
1.11% to 7.22%) and 2.09% to 2.70% (2012: Nil), respectively.

On 27 November 2013, the Company issued five-year bonds due
2018 with an aggregated principal amount of USD500,000,000
at 99.456% of the face value. The bond will bear interest from
and including 27 November 2013 at the rate of 3.5% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 27 May and 27
November in each year.

35.

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

FFERTREMEE @

it

(a)

HTAEEZRITREMEREMBERLNT -

() —Z2EHETEFHAREE0,574,000
ﬁ(J@*E ﬁ)mﬁéflﬁhﬁ
TEak (P sE28) 1R

(i) &ETRHBTERHARE

475,212,000c( =2 ——F : )UK

SEETRFSTR(MIEE32)MEER

& TEERITERL AR 16,000,000
TT(ZZ——%F : AR#¥16,000,0007T)
IARNEEE T Lo fE AAE(HE18(b))
R - BE R EE (K E150)) (B
s

(iii)

ETEHRERITERHDARE
3,839,907,000 7 AR EBEREFEE TR
(H3E32) RAEE EH FRARHELFE
+£2,420,906,27 1 IEI& 0 1EHEAR + &

(iv)

(v) —ERHRITEZRYARKEA7,084,000
TLAE TRJBSFR(MI7E32) (EIIF -

%*Tf—iJr A=+—8"
T 42 B8R 17 & 3¢ 1,411,500,0005& T ( = =
— — 4 : 500,000,000/ 7t ) (HHER L A
Eﬁ@1,109,764,0007u(f7ﬁ*f¢ A
E%405425 ooo%))u%futﬁﬁ&%
?%ﬁﬁfﬁ % 1,041,697,000= 7T ( — &
—F 6216000%71:)*@ R AR
¥ 6,799,595000 L (— T ——F : AR
# 38,852,000t )) *+ MR RHETER
36,971,000E( 0 (ZF—=F : &) (HER
ANR##9225,109,0007c( = ——4F : #))
INETLABEMIN - ARERTETBERITER
TIAANRME ABEAL -

BT HE

FR ETEHRTERARE
154,464,00070( =5 — — 4 : ﬂ&)&ﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
TERAR®A7,084,0007C( =B — —4F :
E)NFRERE DR R HEHH%?J%%VE
H o FEFE 5B ALBORIN0.7% X LIBOR N
0.85% ° BRIt Z 4N - MERRITE R R KEAR
TERZFEFMEDRINTF1.17%%E9.47% (=
szi )\?1 11%%E7.22%) [%2.09% =
270%(ZF——4F : &) -

RZE—=F+—A=+tBAEAQAET
—E- N\FRHHzAFES  ASBEAR
99.456 % [l {& = 500,000,000 T ° &% %
H-TE—=Ft+—A=t+tHB(EEZH)L
ST ERE3IS%ETE REA=ttBAR+—
AZ+EBBEFRE—IX -
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36. OTHER LOANS 36. HttE M
Group
ArEH
2013 2012
—E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Short term loans REEHN 92,565 24,915
Except for an other loan of RMB33,500,000 with a fixed B H fth B 5 A R # 33,500,000 (A& F
interest rate of 5.76% per annum which was secured by ¥ - B REEERRME150)))ZEE
certain property, plant and equipment (note 15(b)), other loans FFE576%T BN - HthERAEER R
are unsecured and interest-free. There was no repayment RB o RAREHAME TR FIEFE -
terms for the Group’s other loans.
Other loans were all granted by local government authorities HtwEREHFHPE T BNE BAZIFA
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group's SEEREZE S REEERE MXL °
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.
37.LONG TERM PAYABLES 37. REIE IR
The Group's long term payables represent the amortised costs REENRPBRNFIEEARBEEERE
of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase of DHA T RIBEEHRCR - BEERANE
production equipment. The effective interest rate used for AR ATSHE - BEASRRERRNT
the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The
balances are repayable as follows:
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFT
Within 1 year 14561 58,915 51,536
1 to 2 years 1824 51,300 48,859
2 to 5 years 2FESF 49,378 95,734
Over 5 years SEE - -
Total long term payables RHEAFE N FIB AR EE 159,593 196,129
Less: Amount due within one year included in 3§ : st AREI B &S H i fE
current liabilities under other payables T FRIE R — & A E 21
RIE (58,915) (51,536)
100,678 144,593
Certain long term payables are secured by the Group's ETREABRNRENRNEENYE  BE K
property, plant and equipment (note 15(b)). A VEE AR (BT EE15(b)) o
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38. DEFERRED INCOME 38. IR W=
Various local government authorities have granted certain ZEBHABFE BEERNAETERTETY
property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil ¥ BMELZE  WURESBEI AR RANE
consideration and provided finance to the Group for the EiZftpE  FAEBEEETYWE  BE
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment by way of X ME  BERZERFEDSEYH
a cash donation. Both the property, plant and equipment and A ARETER - DWW SR AR
grants are recorded initially at fair value. The grants received W REW SR IEE  BE MR ED
are regarded as deferred income, which is amortised to match {EEt Al E B FH Y - RS IR T
the depreciation charge of the property, plant and equipment EVME BEKREBENINEER - FAZKLE
granted or purchased in accordance with their estimated FREVEEIINT
useful lives. Movements of the balances during the year are as
follows:
Group
AEEE
2013 2012
—E—= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
At beginning of year ==)| 234,796 253,852
Received during the year FRUER 4,304 -
Amortisation during the year (note 5) F NS (FIEES) (19,385) (19,056)
At end of year FR 219,715 234,796
Current portion BIERER 19,389 19,056
Non-current portion JEBNHAEL o 200,326 215,740
219,715 234,796
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39. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 39. Hth e m A E
Group
REH
2013 2012
—g—= —_=F2—=-
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bf & AR®T T AREFTT
Contingent consideration HAR(E (a) 134,605 101,486
Present value of considerations to be B —F &I Z2RE
paid beyond one year HE (b) 17,259 -
Present value of redemption amount for A]8EUREE AT A& FEIER%
potential acquisition of puttable MR O &
non-controlling interests RE (c) 512,095 443,372
663,959 544,858
Notes: Mt -

(a)

During the year, the Group has agreed to pay on demand the
contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000 arising from the
Group's acquisition of Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Junlebao”) in 2010. The amount has therefore been reclassified
to other payables and accruals. As at 31 December 2012, the fair
value of the contingent consideration was RMB95,887,000.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of R\MB6,025,000
arising from the Group’s acquisition of Shijiazhuang Junlebao
Leshi Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Leshi”) in 2011 was remeasured to
RMB5,940,000 as at 31 December 2013 (2012: RMB5,599,000).

The fair value of the contingent consideration arising from
the Group's acquisition of Mengniu Arla is RMB120,131,000
at the acquisition date of 1 January 2013 and re-measured to
RMB 128,665,000 as at 31 December 2013.

The fair value of the considerations of RMB40,000,000 to
be paid in the coming four years arising from the Group's
acquisition of Mengniu Arla is RMB36,696,000 at the acquisition
date. Included in the amount was an amount of RMB20,000,000
to be paid within one year which is reclassified to other payables
and accruals. The remaining balance of RMB20,000,000 to be
paid beyond one year is remeasured at RMB17,259,000 as at 31
December 2013.

According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among
the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling shareholders of
Junlebao, the Group granted a put option to the non-controlling
shareholders under which the non-controlling shareholders have
the right to sell, and the Group has an obligation to buy the 49%
equity interest in Junlebao after 2016. At 31 December 2013,
the Group derecognised the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests of RMB324,804,000 (2012: RMB276,137,000) and
recognised a financial liability at the present value of the amount
payable upon exercise of the option of RMB512,095,000 (2012:
RMB443,372,000) and accounted for the difference in equity.
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40. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE HELD FOR 40. PR 7 Kz i BR &l 1 B R 2R B =t &l i

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME B G

2013 2012
—2-= —TF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Authorised: JETE
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 3,000,000,000/% &A% &
HK$0.1 each 0. 18T EmAx 319,235 319,235
Number of
ordinary shares
ZERHAE
Note ‘000 RMB’000
et TR ARYET T
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 January 2013 WR-_E—=F—H—H 1,768,232 181,151
Shares issued under the equity-settled  #R 15 LA B& (D Sz 1< #Y B A%
share option scheme EETEIR 1T D (a) 67,031 5,325
At 31 December 2013 RZTE—=F
+—A=+—8 1,835,263 186,476
Number of
ordinary shares
T E B
Note ‘000 RMB’'000
B R Fhx ARKETTT
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—HF—H 1,767,440 181,087
Shares issued under the equity-settled  #R 15 LA B& 19 2457 #Y i A%
share option scheme WEET ST AR (D (a) 792 64
At 31 December 2012 R-IE——F
+—RA=+—H 1,768,232 181,151

Note: B 5E -

(@) Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share (@) AAAERER S RBERZTEEITHER
options issued under the scheme are included in note 43 to the R FHIEE SN SRR I FE43 -
financial statements.

(b) During the year, the Restricted Share Award Scheme (note (b) FARRGIMERZREE S (M FE44)BRBR
44) acquired 16,215,000 of the Company’s shares (2012: Nil) Hm5EE16,215000 A QA alfxkH (= Z
through purchases on the open market. The total amount paid ——F:E) HRNBEEZERNHNENS
to acquire the shares during the period was HK$501,279,000, KE 4R 20 /%501,279,0008 T (HHE K AR
equivalent to RMB394,121,000 (2012: Nil). 394,121,000 L) (ZT—=4F : &) -
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41. RESERVES
(A) Group
The movements of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 6 to 7 of the financial statements.

Movements in the other reserves of the Group during the
year are as follows:

41. #E
(A) &EME

AEENFBERAFEREFENRHEE
e FNMBRERFEFTANER
BamEEHRA -

FEA  AEBENEGBREERZESIT

Available-  Share option
for-sale reserve/
Curency  investment  Restricted

Share  Contributed ~ Statutory ~ translation  revaluation  Share Award Other
premium surplus—reserves differences resenve Teserve reserve Total
Ttk BhERE/
g% HERE RAMERR
REE  EHES  AEER  BEEE EMER  2EER  AbEE @it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Note (a) Note (b) Note 28
MiE M) fi3k28
At 1 January 2012 R-E-——F-f-H
As previously reported bE] 6327501 200 1LATTI5 (89169) 9404 80259 (142456) 8215634
Prior year adjustment LERE (25,000) - - - - - - (25,000)
As restated HELY 6,302,591 232000 1475715 (489,169) 9404 802529  (142456) 8,190,634
Other comprehensive income for REEMHEENG :
the year:
Change in fair value of EHERENGERY
available-for-sale investments, NBHE
net of tax - - - - 49,226 - = 49226
Exchange difference on translation of - 885 2B 28
foreign operations - - - 474 - - - 474
Other comprehensive income for the year £Z X 2N - - - a4 49226 - - 49700
Shares ssued under equitysettled  BEMROEMMERETE
share option amangements 2k 12,063 - - - - - - 12,063
Equity-settled share option amangements LR e RiERE:
(note 43) (Kiita3) - - - - - - 19m
Transfer to statutory reserves ERTETHE = - 23563 = = = 235,636

Acquisition of non-controllng interests B SRR ERE A = -
Derecognition of puttable non-controling £ |FREERAAE 3EH R

interests (note 39) RER (f1:839) = -
Transfer of share option reseve upon 17 (PR ERE B R E
exercise of share options Fl 4,285 -

- - - 2,346) (2,346)

- - - (135%8)  (13559)

= = (4,285) = =
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41. RESERVES (continued) 41- ﬁﬁ(g)
(A) Group (continued) (A) zk%(ﬁ)

Available- Share option

forsale  reserve/

Currency investment  Restricted

Share Contributed ~ Statutory translation revaluation Share Award Other

premium  surplus  reserves differences  reserve reserve  reserve Total

Tl BRERE/

K% HERE BUHRR
RHEE BAER TRk MEEE  EMER  RERE  RLRE it
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTZ ARMTR ARBTR ARETZ ARMTR ARETR ARETZ

Note(a)  Note(h) Note 28
W@ Wb iit28
At 1 January 2013 R=5-=f-A-H 6,318,939 232,020 1711351 (488,695) 58,630 817416 (158,360) 8,491,301
Other comprehensive loss for REEMARER:
the year:
Reversal of change in fairvalue of AR EREDAELTAR
avalable-for-sale investment, ThkrE
net of tax - - - - (58,630) - - (58,630)
Change in fair value of THHERENAERE)
avallable-for-sale investments, MeHE
net of tax - - - - (6734 - - (67,347)
Exchange difference on translation of - BN ERMEN 25
foreign operations - - - (45969) - - - (45969)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ £E 2412 EE R - - - (45969)  (12597) - - (11,96
Shares issued under equitysettled  BEMRAIAMERERE
share option arrangements L0 123311 - - - - - - 1231
Equity-settled share option arrangements JAR(AS EIBRER
(note 43) (Kisk3) - - - - - R - R
Transfer of share option reseve upon ~ REREX VA EREELD
forfeiture or expiry of share options ~ EfRERE - - - - - (9549) - (9549
Restricted Share Award Scheme Rl 2 Pa)
(note 44) - - - - - 151,108 - 151,108
Disposal of equity interests in HEFRARIE
asubsidiary without loss of control ~ (FEKEEIE)
(note () (Hiet(e) - - - - - - 689529 68959
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ AERZFE R RER - - - - - - (5708) (5,708
Transfer to statutory reserves BRTTTRE - -3 - - - - 312,301
Derecognition of puttable RIS ERRR
non-controlling interests (note 39) 1 (339) - - - - - - (1810 (18,710)
Transfer of share option resene wpon ~ EEREBEERERE
exercise of share options 587,616 - - - - (587,616) - -
At 31 December 2013 RZE-—=EtZA=1t-F 8129932 22020 2023652  (534664)  (67347) 337,798 506,751 10,628,142
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41. RESERVES (ontinuea) aA1. & @
(B) Company (B) &XAF]
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the FERN - ANATIHREZEIT
year are as follows:
Available- Share option
for-sale reserve/
Curreny ~ investment Restricted
Share  Contributed ~ translation ~ revaluation Retained ~ Share Award
premium surplus differences feserve eamings reserve Total
At BRERE/
g% HERE RHlRS
RihaE  EMRR @ REER  EfGE At REEE ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETn ARETR ARETT  ARETR
Note (3) Note 28
Hfit(a) 28
At 1 January 2012 RZE-—%-H-H 8,676,644 387,574 (1,153,021 (54,490) 198,703 802529 8857939
Profit for the year (note (d)) AR () - - - - 259,846 - 259,846
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AFE 2 ENE |
Change in fair value of available-forsale  TEHERENLEES
investments, net of tax blls 38 - - - 20,622 - = 2062
Exchange difference on translation of RERNEBOEL 2%
foreign operations - - 1637 - - - 1637
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE2 AREAE - - 1637 20,622 259,846 = 282,105
Shares issued under equity-settled RENROANERERE
share option arrangements ¥1kia 12,063 - - - - - 12,063
Fquity-settled share option arrangements — MRGXEERERH
(note 43) ({iRTE) - - - - - 19172 19172
Transfer of share option reserve upon fiFERERE ERERE
exercise of share options 4,285 - - - - (4.285) -
Final 2011 dividend declared PER-E——FHKkE - - - - (350009 - (350009
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41. RESERVES (ontinuea) a1. & @
(B) Company (continued) (B) ZKQ?J(,%E)
Available- Share option
for-sale reserve/
Currency  investment Restricted
Share  Contributed  translation revaluation ~ Retained Share Award
premium surplus  differences reserve  earnings reserve Total
ft BhEGE/
g% LERE RAktRS

RfeE  REB®  AEEE  EfGE  REEY  2AGH it
RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMB000

ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTZ ARBTR ARMTR

Note (a) Note 28
Hi(a) its

At 1 January 2013 R=E—=%-f-A 8,692,992 387,574 (1,151,384) (33,868) 108,540 817416 8821210
Profit forthe year (note () RERR (M) - - - - 1168 - 1
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ AEEMAEEIE

Change in fairvalue of avallable-forsale AR EREALERS

investments, net of tax M8 - - - (3349 - - (33419
Exchange difference on translation of AENERAEL R
foreign operations - - (288,632) - - - (288,632)

Total comprehensive incomeloss) FERENG/(BR)EE

for the year - - (288,632) (33.479) 121,657 - (200,454)
Shares issued under equity-setted RENRDXANERE

share option arrangements ZHEIRG 123311 - - - - - 123
Fquity-settled share option arangements  MRGXAERERH

(note 43) (Hz43) - - - - - 52382 52382
Transfer of share option reserve upon BRI RRERE

exercise of share options 587,616 - - - - (587,616) -
Transfer of share option reserve upon BREXVERE

forfeture or expiry of share aptions St ERERE - - - - 95,492 (95,492) -
Restricted Share Award Scheme (note 44) R #1212 (Hfza) - - - - - 51,665 51,665
Final 2012 dividend declared BER-E-ZEBRRE - - - - (290,488) - (290488)
At 31 December 2013 R-E-=#+-f=1-H 10,503,985 387,574 (1,440,016) (67,347) 35,201 238355 9,657,752
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41 . RESERVES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

42.

Contributed surplus

The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued
in exchange therefor, and the excess of the amount of capital
injected by the minority shareholder over its additional interest in
the subsidiary’s net assets attributable to the Company’s owners
was recorded as contributed surplus of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net assets value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in
exchange therefor.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10% of their
profit after income tax, as determined under the PRC accounting
standards and financial regulations, to the statutory common
reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common reserve may be
used to offset against the accumulated losses, if any.

Distributable reserves

Under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium and contributed surplus of the Company
are distributable to shareholders, provided that immediately
following such distributions, the Company is able to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2013 dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company was RMB102,883,000 (2012:
loss of RMB6,795,000), excluding the dividend income from
subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB224,540,000 (2012:
RMB266,641,000).

On 11 November 2013, the Group disposed a 13.24% equity
interest in Yashili to independent third parties. The disposed
was accounted for as an equity transaction, which resulted in
the Group's equity interest in Yashili from 89.82% to 76.58%
without loss of control. As a consequence, the difference
between the disposal of non-concurring interests and the fair
value of the consideration received was recognised directly in
equity as a revenue.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During 2013, the Group purchased property, plant and
equipment by means of long term payables with a total
contractual amount and a total amortised cost of approximately
RMB24,282,000 (2012: Nil) and RMB22,533,000 (2012: Nil),
respectively.
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42.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLAN 43. LR A ER I F5T 2

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company's directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods
or services to the Group, customers and any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological support
to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval and adoption of the Scheme provided that the
Group may at any time seek approval from its shareholders
to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of approval by the shareholders in a general meeting
where such limit is refreshed. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
20 business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than seven years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

ARRRY 2 BRETEI([518]) - BRA
HMEHAREEXERIELERNAERS
HE - WAREFLRE - 5 ENE EHE
2EERRARRER(BREBLIFNITE
) AEEZEMES AEBZERHR
HHER  BEFARAAKERHETE -
B RMSEOEMALRER - 3R
EZRFRNATNBER - BAEBURK
E5T5 » BRIRZBE+FRBR -

BRI A TRE 2 BREKITREEA
TERITHRNEE RZHENARRELE
KR EIE BEBITRMNBEZ10% @ HE
AR5 B R BE B EOR AR SR L/ S EFR R R
RERNERELREFFORRAE LR
BRIAEE R ZEHITRMZ10%  REM
ToEAREA - RIFEAER] T TS
NEUEERSEE ZRNHBE RZ ANE
AERFFEARFDBETROLEZ1% - LEE
HAERBHE LR BE - BAKKRRE
BERARE EHEE

MARFES  TETBRABREZRES
HEZEMBEAR N Z BN ALE
EBMITE S FLHE o AN RER+=1E
BHAREA - RAAR R EZE R SOB7 IEH
TEBUREZEABHEAR L 2 ERER
EBEAEARREARF BTG5 20.1%
RBEEEREBHAR ARG 2 KT ER
&) 5,000,000/8 7T - MERLRERIERR
ARG EBhAbE o

AT R AR 3 B A2 20 1B 2 B
PO SRR E A $ 18T Bt -
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h K — B R4 AR 3 7 TR B R B
REALE ARHBEHE (UREEA
)R -
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLAN (continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

43. LR A ER N I 58 )
BREZITEERESET @ ETAHER(G)
AR IREEREREZ BES 5
ERXGIARAR (TP ) PRz Wm
B (VAR AIRmMREEEZERHBHA R
i % B =B R ATk 2 WM E ¢ Kii)
R EEZREE °

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends R HE 2 A N EREE R B SRR A
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. HIRE o
Particulars of share options RS
Weighted
Exercise price average fair
Exercise period of share options per share value per
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) option (note f) share option
BHREREN SHEREN
R B BRENTEH(BEEEMA) TEE (S  MEFEARE
(HKS) (HKS$)
(&) (B7T)
26 October 2006 26 October 2007 to 25 October 2012 (note a) 13.40 4.82
ZEERF+AZ1NH e W By =Y
—E——F+A-+HH(K7Fa)
9 November 2007 9 November 2009 to 8 November 2013 (note b) 32.24 10.61
—EE+F+—ANB —ETNFT+—ANBE
—2—=F+—A//\B(K3kb)
18 August 2008 18 August 2010 to 17 August 2014 (note b) 22.03 7.60
22N NFNA+NH —2-ZFEFENA+NBZE
ZZE—EFENA TR (FFb)
23 November 2009 23 November 2011 to 22 November 2015 (note ¢) 24.40 8.50
“TTHF+—A=+=H —T——F+—A=-t+=HZE
—Z—AFt+—A=+=8 (K7
6 December 2010 6 December 2012 to 5 December 2016 (note d) 22.80 7.25
—Z-ZF+ZHKAH “T-ZHTZHAHZE
—E—R"E+=-ARHE (M)
10 October 2011 10 October 2011 to 9 October 2018 (note e) 24.10 8.37

—2——%+A+H —2——%tATAE

—ZE—)\F+ANB (Hiite)
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLAN (continued)

Particulars of share options (continued)

(a)

The share options will be vested in four equal batches
with 25% of the share options granted vesting on the
first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if
and when the pre-set performance targets of the Group,
the division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will
lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will
lapse.

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted vesting
on, respectively, the second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the date of the grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the
grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted, in
aggregate, 20,116,500 share options are granted in
exchange for and replacement of the outstanding share
options previously granted on 9 November 2007 to better
achieve the objectives of the Scheme (the “Replacement”).

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted vesting
on, respectively, the second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the date of the grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the
grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.
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Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLAN (continued)

Particulars of share options (continued)

(e)

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and

43. LR A ER N I 58 )
BRREFEE @

(e)

BRESSRB D AMED © 50%K50%
FERHE D RIS AR I B 58 O % T f
EFERE - Lo - HEEBIAREE &
RAFBRPREARAZEERE A

when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the 2 BIEEEIRESERE ° MikseE
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. B2 EIE - AAABERERE
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will WL o

lapse.

(f) The exercise price per share option was the average () BSHERENTEEDEER LB A
closing share price for the five business days immediately AELEENTEERMETESET A
preceding the grant date or the closing price of the share HARIRE D U (B o
on the grant date.

(g) Except for the options granted on 10 October 2011, (9 BRTRZZE—F+AT+ERENER
which have a contractual life of seven years, the BEEANFEHALFI - LpTIREER
contractual life of the above options granted is six years. ENEXHNFHRANTE - LUlFERERN
All the above options granted have no cash alternatives. BRI EmI S B RSE o

Movements of share options BRESE

2013 —E-=F

Exercisable

As at Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired As at at

1 January during during during during the 31 December 31 December

2013  theyear  theyear  theyear year 2013 2013

R=B-=F

R=B-ZF t=A

R=B-ZF t=A =t-H

Date of grant R AH -RA-H FRRE  EROE FRRK  FRAER =1-H qiTfE
26 October 2006 “EENET AR - - - - - -

18 August 2008 ZEENFNATI\A 37,290,904 - (36,908,601) - - 38303 382,303

23 November 2009 ZEENET—AZT=H 68,297,395 - (29,548,134) (7,995,559) (27,061,450) 3,692,252 3,692,252

6 December 2010 —E-ZE+-AKA 4,070,000 - (574,000) - (2,308,000 1,188,000 200,000

10 October 2011 —Z——F+A+H 53,000,000 - - - (8,900,000) 44,100,000 -

Total fast 162,658,299 - (67,030,735) (7,995,559) (38,269,450) 49,362,555 4,274,555
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLAN (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

43. LR B ER W I 5 8 )

Movements of share options (continued) RSB (&)
2012 =4

Exercisable
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited Expired As at at
1 January during during during  during the 31 December 31 December
2012 the year the year the year year 2012 2012
RZE-——F
RZFE-—ZF TZA
3 A =t-H
Date of grant R A —A-B #RRE  ERGfE FRRK fREWR  =t-H CIEGi 3
26 October 2006 “EERETAZTAA 212,108 - (12,108) - - - -
18 August 2008 “ZE\FNATAR 37,870,494 - (579,590) - - 37,290,904 37,290,904
23November 2009  ZEEAFT-AZT=R 74,698,868 - - - (6,401,473) 68297395 41,236,595
6 December 2010 “E-ZF+-ARH 4,370,000 - - - (300,000 4,070,000 814,000
10 October 2011 “2—%+A+H 65,000,000 - - - (12,000,000) 53,000,000 -
Total st 182,151,470 - (791,698) - (18,701,473) 162,658,299 79,341,499

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, out of the total
outstanding share options of 49,362,555 (2012: 162,658,299) as
at 31 December 2013, none (2012: 28,688,800) share options
had lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions.

The Group recognised an expense of RMB52,382,000 in 2013
(2012: RMB19,172,000) (note 7 and note 8).

The 67,030,735 share options (2012: 791,698) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 67,030,735 (2012:
791,698) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB5,325,000 (2012: RMB64,000) and share
premium of RMB1,223,377,000 (2012: RMB12,063,000), as
further detailed in note 40 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$27.10 (2012: HK$23.40).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 4,274,555
(2012: 79,341,499) vested share options outstanding under
the Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 4,274,555 (2012: 79,341,499) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of RMB336,000 (2012: RMB6,433,000) and share premium
of RMB80,703,000 (2012: RMB1,488,948,000) (before issue
expenses).

R-E—=F+-fF=+—HHNLEREE
5149,362,555( (=& — —4F : 162,658,299
MIBRESEGS - BEBERE(ZZ—Z=
F : 28,688,8001n ) A AR E R B IR MR
HHRRIB KRN ©

R—ZZTE—Z=ZF AEEBERARE
52,382,000 AR (ZE——F : ARK
19,172,0007T) (B sE7 K BI5E8) °

67,030,735 (=& — =4 : 791,6981p ) i
fEERFERNITE - BimE #1767,030,735
R (—ZF— 4 : 791,6980% ) A A 7 & @&
f%  EEFIRA A ARKS5,3250005T (=
T—_4F: AR¥64,0007T) @ IRMDEEA
R¥1,223,377,000c( ZF——F : AR
#512,063,0007T) @ EIBEER M SRR M o
40 - ZEBERETE BN NETFHRES
27108 (=T ——4F : 23.4087T) °

ReREEIR - KA A £H4,274,55515 (=
T — —4F : 79,341,499 ) st 2B THE 8
BARITERERE - AR A B 2 BALZL
T 2EITE S ERE S BEE N
174,274,555 % ( =& — — 4 : 79,341,499
[ AR REEBAE R ARE336,000T(=F
—— 4 : AR#6,433,0007T ) 58 9K AN K2
AR #80,703,000/t(ZF——_F : ARK
1,488,948,0007 ) i 0@ (B (PR 31T E A
Al °
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44. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME 44, RHIMREZR BT E

The restricted share award scheme (the “Restricted Share
Award Scheme”) of the Company was adopted by the board
on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the
Restricted Share Award Scheme is an incentive to encourage
the participants for the continual operation and development
of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
and the Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an
offer to any eligible person it may in its absolute discretion
select to accept the grant of an award over such a number of
shares as it may determine. Existing shares of the Company
will be purchased by the trustee of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme from the market out of cash contributed by the Group
and be held in trust for the relevant Participants until such
shares are vested with the relevant Participants in accordance
with the provisions of the Restricted Share Award Scheme.
The shares of the Company granted and held by the trustee
until vesting are referred to as the Restricted Share and each
Restricted Share shall represent one ordinary share of the
Company. Shares will be acquired by the independent trustee
(the “Trustee”) of the Restricted Share Award Scheme on the
market out of the funds contributed by the Group and be held
in trust in accordance with the provisions of the Restricted
Share Award Scheme.

No shares shall be purchased pursuant to the Restricted
Share Award Scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee
for the purpose of making such a purchase, if as a result of
such purchase, the number of Shares administered under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme shall exceed 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company, and the maximum number of
Restricted Shares which may be granted to a Participant at any
one time or in aggregate may not exceed 0.5% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by
the board, the Restricted Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of five years commencing on the
Adoption Date.
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44. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 26 April 2013, a total number of 17,569,400 restricted
shares, representing 0.99% of the issued capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date, were granted to the
selected participants. The Selected Participants are persons who,
in the opinion of the Administration Committee, contributed
directly to the overall business performance and will contribute
to the sustainable development of the Group. Out of the total
shares granted, 8,425,800 Restricted Shares were granted to
the Chief Executive Officer, who is also an executive Director
of the Company, which would vest in five tranches each on the
first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the Grant
Date in accordance with certain vesting conditions (including
the Group’s performance targets), subject to the publication of
the full-year results of the Company for the relevant financial
year. The grant of Restricted Shares to other directors, senior
management, heads of departments and other employees of
the Group shall vest in full on 31 March 2014 in accordance
with the vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets), subject to the publication of the full-year results of
the Company for the relevant financial year.

The fair value of the Restricted Shares granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s shares at the
respective grant dates. No dividend will be considered.
The weighted average fair value of the Restricted Shares
granted during the year was HK$21.65 per share. The Group
recognised the Restricted Share expenses of approximately
RMB151,108,000 (2012: Nil) into the consolidated statement
profit or loss during the year.

During the year, based on the Company’s instructions, the
trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme has purchased
a total of 16,215,000 ordinary shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of approximately
HK$501,279,000 equivalent to RMB394,121,000.
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013:

45. 27556t
(a) REB—=FREFLAT :

Acquisition of Mengniu Arla

On 10 January 2013, the Group acquired a 49% equity
interest in Mengniu Arla from the joint venture partner.
Mengniu Arla is mainly engaged in the production of milk
powder. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share of milk powder in
the PRC. Pursuant to the original joint venture contract
entered into in 2006, except for Mengniu Alar, the Group
was not allowed to establish or set up other entities to
run the milk powder business in the PRC. Subsequent to
this business combination, this restriction was void.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB60,000,000 paid at the acquisition
date, an aggregate of RMB40,000,000 paid equally in
the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
acquisition date, and the remaining RMB 150,000,000 as
a contingent consideration, which is to be paid if certain
operating results criteria can be achieved or by the Group
over the subsequent years.
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Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued)

45. 2755 8t
(a) R=ZE—=FWEFLT : (&)

Acquisition of Mengniu Arla (continued) U B Bt B4 (/)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities RERBERE 2@ EERBE
of Mengniu Arla as at the date of acquisition were as ZAREIT
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
RUKB RN
D fRfE
RMB’000
ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment W BERFE 335,508
Land use rights + b {5 P AE 12,796
Other intangible assets Ht & = 20,996
Trade and bills receivables FEUEE R R B & 32,912
Investment in an associate REEE R R E 2
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE{Hk « 24 M H i fE U BR X 10,189
Inventories FE 114,451
Cash and bank balances R RIBITER 52,696
579,550
Liabilities 8fE&
Trade and bills payables ERBEREER (213,542)
Other payables and accruals H i T FE R TEIR B B (416,828)
(630,370)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR EFIRZ TSR BEERTE (50,820)
Less: Non-controlling interests’ proportionate & : 332 IR AR B HE 25 42 EL Bl 91k 2
share of identifiable net liabilities Al#AFAE (508)
Less: Goodwill previously allocated to W ERISRERHRFREE
Mengniu Arla 7,845
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 19)  fi : Yk = A ARG E (Fizx19) 272,760
Purchase consideration at fair value RAREBEFTEZWERE 214,603

TERTAEERAA

—T-=#F% 253



Notes to Financial Statements BA 73R R HizE

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(@) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued)

45. £ 8 5t
(a) R=ZZE—=FWBEFRAT : @

Acquisition of Mengniu Arla (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as the
gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables which amounted to RMB32,912,000 and
RMB6,501,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB3,680,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Mengniu Arla for the current period is as follows:

WS4 (|)

P EE B Y FE UK BR 31 R H Atb FE I GRTE A
REDRAANREE32,912,000t AR
#56,501,0007T + £ & Uk AR 30 & H b &
WRIBA HERERE -

AEERZUWBEERIIREAARE
3,680,0007C ° ZER HHAE R E
BmR W AITTRERS o

HRABRBBRERTNREREST
(I

RMB’000

AR¥T R

Cash consideration HERKE 60,000

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FruiEiR & RIRSFEY (52,696)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents PREREZDEENRSRENNIN

included in cash flows from investing activities & &IR&ZEYE R H 7,304
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in BEERL¥KELNR S RENN K

cash flows from operating activities BR SR 3,680

10,984

Since its acquisition, Mengniu Arla contributed
RMB718,700,000 to the Group's turnover and net losses
of 25,913,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the
Group and the profit of the Group for the year would
had been RMB43,356,908,000 and RMB1,861,988,000,
respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013 : (continued)

45. ¥t
(a) RA=ZE—=FWEFLA : @)

Acquisition of Yashili

On 13 August 2013, the Group acquired an 89.82%
equity interest in Yashili from independent third parties.
Yashili is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale
of dairy and nourishment products. The acquisition
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share of milk powder in the PRC. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of
cash, with RMB8,025,882,000 paid at the acquisition
date, and 11.18% equity interest in China Menngiu
International Company Limited, an investment shell
company established solely for the acquisition of Yashili,
in which the Company held an 88.82% equity interest.
The fair value of RMB992,404,000 of the 11.18% equity
interest in China Mengniu International Company Limited
transferred was measured by reference to quoted price
of corresponding Yashili shares. The Group has elected
to measure the non-controlling interest in Yashili at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of Yashili’s
identifiable net assets.

W B i+ A

W-Z—=FNA+=R8 A&EEAB
SN = UL F89.82% % iE o
THREBREAR RN EESRRE N
& o fEHRBEE AL B KR 2 —30
D IBRRFABRIH TS Z M5 - Ik
BEE BENREBURS (RIEB S
2 AR#8,025,832,0007T ) K& A B
SHEBRARAQ R (E AW LA M
R Z B EFZAR  HEARRRE
88.82% M%) 2 11.18% IAESL N - B
EEHRESFBBRERAR11.18%
B #E 2 N B AR 992,404,000 7T 4
BEifE  EHRE2ZHERETFIRDZ
B o AEEE IR A IEIE IR RS FE(L T
THRAIEHRNEEFE LA 2L
FIR% (D 2 FEFE R HE RS ©
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 45. ¥ &t
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013 : (cntinued) () R=Z2—=FWEFLAT : @)
Acquisition of Yashili (continued) G B e == ) ()
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RIEE B E - L F].2 A & 5 Bl & 2%
Yashili as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BERBEZRAEMAT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
WIBRER Z
ARE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment LE =N 780,372
Construction in progress EEIRE 355,952
Investment properties B 115,623
Land use rights T Hb{F A A 277,469
Other intangible assets HitnmEE 1,369,149
Deferred tax assets BT IBE B 74,361
Non-current financial assets FERBTREE 680,000
Inventories FE 843,563
Trade and bills receivables FEU BRI 28,386
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEfT3K - &4 & H b EUBRE R 198,262
Other current financial assets HittmEhe gt EE 214,000
Pledged deposits RBESHFK 452,436
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTEF 550,352
5,939,925
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Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continvedy 45. EHE Bt
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013 : (continued) () R=ZE—=FRIB\FLT @
Acquisition of Yashili (continued) L B 7 = A ()
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUREE B R - MR 2 )& B RIE EF
Yashili as at the date of acquisition were as follows: ERREZRAEMT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
U i R FE R 2
ARE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Liabilities =V
Trade and bills payables FERTERR KR (341,298)
Other loans HAE R (33,500)
Other payables and accruals Hib eI RIERER (526,335)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STEBRTREMEE (404,246)
Income tax payable FE PTG HR (37,373)
Deferred income EAEW 2= -
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIAA G (65,110)
(1,407,862)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RAREBEIEZ LB EEHEEE 4,532,063
Less: Non-controlling interests’ proportionate & : FEF IR HE 25 FE 15 T+ A1 °] & 2 Bl
share of identifiable net assets BEFE 461,364
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 19) A0 : W& E A g (FizE19) 4,947,587
Purchase consideration at fair value BARBEIEZBERE 9,018,286
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 45. £ 8 5t
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013: (continued) (d) R=ZE—=FWEFAT : (@)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as the
gross contractional amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables which amounted to RMB28,386,000
and RMB 105,566,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB42,038,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Yashili for the current period is as follows:

FA UK B B HA A e UK AR SR e L A R R GR IR
NAED R A ARE28,386,0007T & A
K #105,566,000 T @ EEfEUWBR T & H
MFEFIR G KV BFEEE o

AEERERKBEEEEARK
42,038,000TC Z R ZKAK o ZER F K
KB R IBm K M KT AT
i o

MNAHME > BRI EEEZ RS
MO RFIET

RMB’000

AR®T T

Cash consideration HERE 8,025,882

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BRERERASEEY (440,852)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents SIAREERDEENRERECH SR

included in cash flows from REEBYRHFE

investing activities 7,585,030
Transaction costs of the acquisition included — FFAKLEEBEANRSREZ WES

in cash flows from operating activities THRZ SRR 42,038

7,627,068

Since its acquisition, Yashili contributed RMB1,499,067,000
to the Group’s turnover and RMB128,615,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2013.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue and the profit of the Group for
the year would have been RMB45,756,462,000 and
RMB2,168,573,000, respectively.
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45, BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012:

45. ¥t
(b) AZZE——FWE—XFAT :

On 11 April 2012, the Group acquired a 100% interest
in Taihang from independent third parties. Taihang is
mainly engaged in the production of dairy products. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share of dairy products in the PRC. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB5,200,000 paid at the acquisition date,
and the remaining RMB7,800,000 to pay when Taihang
completes certain business administrative registration
procedures.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Taihang as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RZZE——FWA+—8  ALEBEMEE
VEZHWEARITHI00%EE - ATT
FEREAEINDR - ZWBAEAEE
BAHR B & G5 D ER RN
—BH c ZREHNBEREFR AR
#5,200,000t A WEE R AR € X
- E gk A R# 7,800,000 7T #% 7K 1T
e TEEERE D TFER L -

REBRARITHRAI A EERBENRD
AEWOT :

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
RUE RN
ARE
RMB’'000
ARET T

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MR 14,270
Construction in progress EETRE 45
Land use rights + 3 s A4 5,448
Other intangible assets Ht & = 30
Trade and bills receivables FEURBR TR R B4R 391
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B3k - &4 K& H b U BRE 1,290
Inventories FE 33
21,507

Liabilities =N
Trade and bills payables FERTBRR R 25 (3,526)
Other payables and accruals Hig N 7IE N TEIRE B (1,230)
Other loans HiER (3.416)
Income tax payables FER FTSHR (335)
(8,507)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARESRZ A E#RAFEERTE 13,000
Goodwill arising on acquisition WIEEERHE -
Purchase consideration BERE 13,000
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 45. ¥EKE Bt
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012: (continued) (b) A=E——FWBE-—XRFAT : (@)
The fair values of the trade receivables and other UGBS B Y FE Uk BR 7k Kz b JE U I A
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as the RED R A ARE391,0007T & A REE
gross contractional amounts of trade receivables and 70,0007 * 2 8 Y BR R N E A JiE U 3 I8
other receivables which amounted to RMB391,000 and B X AT -

RMB70,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB45,000 AEBRZBUEBEEERFIHAARE
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been 45,0007C ° ZERXRHKAEREGEERE
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in RY T ATTHRER -

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition ERWERITHRESRESTWT ¢
of Taihang is as follows:

RMB'000
AREFT
Cash consideration HWERKE 5,200
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FREIR & RIS HEY -
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BREERERELRN
included in cash flows from ReEMmEARRE R
investing activities ReEEWFRL 5,200
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in BIEER L EKELNIE S REANNU
cash flows from operating activities RS 45
5,245
Since its acquisition, Taihang contributed nil to the BEWER  KMIANSEBRZE_ZT——F
Group's turnover and net losses of RMB3,327,000 to T AT B UEFENERERESFE
the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December DRIERZ KR EEARE3,327,0007T °
2012.
Had the combination taken place at the beginning BRERAHNENELE  AEEREBEE=F
of the year, the revenue and the profit of the Group ——F+-_A=+—HILEFEHRARFHE
for the year ended 31 December 2012 would have 29 5 & AR 35,999,990,0007T & A R
been RMB35,999,990,000 and RMB1,487,990,000, 1,487,990,0007T °

respectively.
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46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Aside from the disclosure in note 39, the Group had

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

46. ARG

BRIMRE3OPTINEEE SN - AEBENHE R RAE

contingent liabilities not provided for in the consolidated IREMBREANZ RBHIABBEYIEAT
financial statements at the end of the reporting period as

follows:

2013 2012
—F—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Guarantees given to banks in connection A TATERRE

with facilities granted to: mRRITHRAER

Third parties E=H 114,000 -
47. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 47. EEER

Details of the Group’s bills payable, bank loans, other loans
and long term payables, which are secured by the assets of the

EREASBNEEFERNASERMNER
B RITER - Rt ER R RHBAENFRIAF

Group, are included in notes 33, 35, 36 and 37, respectively, 1B 2RISR BEHREME33 - 35 36 &
to the financial statements. 37 °

48. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 48. KEHERH
(a) As lessor (a) EEBHBEA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total

RMEMK » XEBERBETAEHLE

future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable HE  BRIBHEKEHFARERES
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: #EET
Group
KEH
2013 2012
-—g—= — T4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Within one year 1R 24,754 15,415
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2 FE54F
(BREERMFEAN) 77,185 64,442
Over five years SEFELALE 39 -
101,978 79,857
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48. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
(b) As lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

48. BEHE LT H@m)

(b) EREEA
RBERR - AEEZREERETE
ERENTAIEHEEMERN AR

operating leases in respect of buildings and certain N REHESEZENT
production equipment as follows:
Group
E3
2013 2012
—_E—= T4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Within one year 1 91,985 88,758
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2 &5
(BEEEMEEN) 119,020 190,748
Over five years SEFLALE 31,945 3,425
242,950 282,931
49. COMMITMENTS 49, FIE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 53, the Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting
period:

Contracted, but not provided for BETAEREME

BT RES3R A MR B ME RIS RS
R AEEEEBENARZYE BFE R
REBENEAAFELWT

Group

rEE
2013 2012
—E—=F —ET——%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREFT
974,968 427,877

Subsequent to the end of the reporting date, the board of
directors approved the capital expenditure (not contracted
for) amounting to approximately RMB4,246,276,000 (2012:
RMB2,276,557,500).

The Company did not have any significant commitments at the
end of the reporting period.
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50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances which are
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with its

Notes to Financial Statements Bt &Rtz

50. AN T 5Z
() BRAMBREEMEEFRENZH R
BN REEBEBENF - KRFE
E 8 R A B A LT TR EAR

associates, a jointly-controlled entity and other related 5 o
parties.
Group
REHE
2013 2012
—E—= —ET——4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FffE AR®T T ARET T
() Sales of liquid milk products to  [AB#& A T HEE R
associates BIEM (i) 4,665,579 4,261,668
(I Sales of ice cream products to  [AIEE4E A &) 85 & Ik
associates LW (i) 268,510 243,711
(I Sales of other dairy products to  [AJH 4 A &84 & H
associates hFL B R (i) 30,181 10,634
(IV)  Sales of raw materials to a joint [A1& & HER
venture et (i) - 338,607
(V) Purchase of raw materials from [R&ZPEESR
a joint venture IR (ii) - (225,582)
(V) Purchase of raw materials from [AIEEA A T E A28
associates B R (i) (2,372,938) =
(VIl)  Purchase of ice cream products  [AjHf# & A &6 Bk
from an associate SELMEE TR (i) (87,350) (8,394)
(VII)  Purchase of raw materials from [RIANAG—EEHK
affiliates of a substantial RAVEE A R iE
shareholder of the Company BIRM# (i) (325,155) (408,977)
Notes: BIsE -

(i)  The considerations were determined with reference to the
prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged to
third parties.

(i) These transactions were conducted at cost, which
approximated to the prevailing market prices of the
materials.

(i) EBREE2EERNSER BERKRE
= REREE -

(i) WERXPIERAAMERIBREM L Z T E)HET
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50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

(b) Other transactions with related parties

51.

(c)

During the year of 2012, Inner Mongolia Mengniu sold
32,000,000 ordinary shares in Saikexing, an associate of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, to a former executive director
and chief excutive officer of the Company at the price of
RMB101,760,000. The consideration of RMB101,760,000
was arrived at after negotiation taking into consideration
the appraised value of the shares prepared by an
independent valuer.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 8 and
9 to the financial statements.

Except for (a VIII) and (b), the above transactions did not
constitute connected transactions as defined in the Listing
Rules.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

50. BEEE A X 5 @)
(b) BHEEBATETHEMRZS

(c)

REZZT—=FF  ARRFRARDA A
HITESRBRILEASTTRFNEE R
a] E R E #932,000,000 % E B - 1E
BAR%101,760,0007T - LIBARE
101,760,000t J3 & % 5 %8 57 (LB RD FT
EEMRMNDHEER  KENEERE
E{] o

FEENETEEEASNRM

FEEIE A BN RE SN B SRR M
FE8 K FIEE9 ©

B T (a VI K (b)Fh » Eili 22 530 A EAK
EWRAFTRENBEERS -

51. ZERIE T EMIT A
RIBEEF - S EDENS BT ANERE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as /N
follows:
Financial assets SREE
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E--f
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loans and financial Loans and financial
receivables assets Total  receivables assets Total
XK THEHE Bk AfHE
EhZE  SREE @ EUEE SREE 5
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Trade and bills receivables ERERRER 754,265 - 754,265 855,708 - 855,708
Financial assets included in prepayments, AERBMNT
deposits and other receivables &e REMEK
FAMeREE 337,798 - 337,798 435645 - 435645
Other financial assets Hit e RAEE 74,453 791,904 866,357 94,898 749,788 844,686
Investment deposits REGR 1,344,508 - 1,344,508 160,000 - 160,000
Pledged deposits RESTER 711,709 - 711,709 51,602 - 51,602
Cash and bank balances Be RFTET 8,185,128 - 8185128 5,752,041 - 5,752,041
11,407,861 791,904 12,199,765 7,349,894 749,788 8,099,682
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51. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

51. REREI T HWEM T Em)

Financial liabilities A=k
Group
AEH
2013 2012
—E—= —E——4F

Financial Financial Financial Financial
liabilities liabilities at liabilities  liabilities at
at fair amortised at fair amortised
value cost value cost
RARE R BARE L
SIEBREY  ERARFIBREY FIEREY  RCARFIERAY
cRBE ol =R eEAE ERAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TRT ARBTT ARETT
Trade and bills payables BB R RIR - 4,761,298 - 3,629,460

Financial liabilities included in BIEREM BRI

other payables and accruals BRIERERZ
SRAE 3,192 2,286,210 - 1,523,730

Interest-bearing bank loans FFERITERK

and other borrowings HithEE - 11,697,041 s 573,777
Other loans HA S - 92,565 - 24,915
Long term payables R EARE T R0IE - 159,593 - 196,129
Other financial liabilities HEhoriBE - 663,959 = 544,858
3,192 19,660,666 - 6,492,869
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51. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 51. RERIE P WERE T B @)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHRR  FEL BN T ANKREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as O
follows:
Financial assets cWMEE
Company
b
2013 2012
—E-ZF “2——F
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loans and financial Loans and financial
receivables assets Total  receivables assets Total
BNk AfEE ERR  AIfHE

BhSE  EREE it BUE SRAE it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETL ARETR

Loans to a subsidiary (note 22) BN —FRFREZE
(MzE22) 2,476,625 - 2,476,625 2,657,176 - 2,657,176
Financial assets included in prepayment BEREBAT  BER
deposits and other receivables Ht TR 2R
BE 615,925 - 615925 72,446 - 72,446
Cash and bank balances RERBTER 245,717 - 45717 751922 - 751922
Investment deposits RERR 100,000 - 100,000 = = =
Pledge deposits RESER 469,592 - 469,592 - - =
Other financial assets AthemEE - 302,049 302,049 - 89,642 89,642

3,907,859 302,049 4,209,908 3,481,544 89,642 3,571,186
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51. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements B 73R 2R izt

51. REREI T HWEM T Em)

Financial liabilities A=k
Company
P N/NE|
2013 2012
—=E—= —E——4F
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
RS A LSRR
JIERMEmMAE JRNERARE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Loans from subsidiaries FRARIER 531,322 =
Other payables and accruals Hit B IB R IFBRE R 49,552 1,629
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2 R1T R HibEE 8,804,841 405,425
9,385,715 407,054

5. TR TECAAREBERAREEBR

[NE
TREENBBEZAABUZITAR BRG]
HMETBRBET IR CRAFFEHER
SN AR 2 B RRARR

52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate T X ES AR ERTA R BT AR
the fair values:

RekBReEFEMNRAE  RESEXRD
BNEAER Sy - EMRH - BNERARRE - &
EREMR - BEREMEREETNERBE
E - BEREMEMNIE - FRAERKE
REANGRAE ABDABRTERLHE
fofE &S T AREHAE M RKRE 2 RE
ERE -

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, loans from subsidiaries and accruals, current interest-
bearing bank loans, other loans, approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value (continued)

The fair values of other financial assets, loans to a subsidiary,
the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans, bonds
payables and long term payables and other financial liabilities
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments on similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
qguoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-
sale equity investments have been estimated using a valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and
that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
established commodity trading exchanges. Derivative financial
instruments are measured using market quoted prices. The
carrying amounts of the commodity futures contracts are the
same as their fair values.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and
the Company’s financial instruments, other than those with
carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values,
are as follows:

52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 52. €T EZAAEBERAAEESR

(&)

A REE

HEteMEE BER—XKFRAEAE 8
RITIEE  BNESERBBMNRENIER
FHMOUREMERAENRIABIRAE
PR - EERRMARTIHBENTARE
AESHNEFRBHRKREREN TR
ETBRARENAARBIHERTISRE ° 3F
EHAMHEHERARENAABERERY
BEABEEMSERIMNEIHHNRROMEE
BATEITER - EFREGHERMAERD
et AR BE(EIIAZEFBARREK) KRR
ENHRZS (R ALMEE KRS BEBE
B WARRERRNKEE[E -

AEBEHERIWARE DR B LITE
TRIA -TESRMIANERATS®RE
E -BniEanNREEERENAAE
R e

AEBEARRZ eI A(REREREERR
BEEEMEEZERMIAIN ZREAERAR

ERNNE

Group rEE
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ARE
2013 2012 2013 2012
—¥-=F —T--F —¥-=F T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®TR AR®TRT

Financial assets EHMEE
Other financial assets HEthemaE
- non-current portion - IERENER D 466,118 563,309 466,212 563,811
Long term pledged deposits RERBESFH 150,000 = 148,572 =
Long term time deposits RHEHTR 1,083,548 - 1,031,305 -
1,699,666 563,309 1,646,089 563,811
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52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 52. €T A AABERAAEBEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ()
Fair value (continued) //:\\JLI?:E(:{?‘E)
Group (continued) zlxﬁ(,fg)
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ARE
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—= —E——F ZE-—Z=Hf —T—_F
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETRT ARETT
Financial liabilities cHaE
Other financial liabilities EfhemBalE -
— non-current portion FEMENEB D 663,959 544,858 663,959 544,858
Interest-bearing bank loans and SHEIBTERN
other borrowings — non-current EMEE -
portion EMENEB 3,235,535 - 3,235,535 —
Long term payables R HFES 708 100,678 144,593 100,678 144,593
4,000,172 689,451 4,000,172 689,451
Company YN
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ARE
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—= —E——-F —B—=HF =—T——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT AR®BTRT AR®ETT
Financial liabilities tEaE
Interest-bearing bank loans and FESRITER K
other borrowings HufE s 3,010,426 - 3,010,426 -
3,010,426 - 3,010,426 -
Fair value hierarchy NAREER

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

fair values measured based on quoted prices

ZOUAV

E—A

(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities

Level 2:

fair values measured based on valuation techniques

E

for which all inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3:

fair values measured based on valuation techniques E=4

for which any inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

AEBERBUATERAEELKECHIA

REMFAEEXAERART SR
BECREHABR)AEAAE

RAEERGERME - B2E
BTSN AR BEREEARENS
ABBERAERARZEREE

RAEERGERME - BEM
BN AR BEREEARENS
ABBRRYIFENAIBRNT IS
ECEABREAZIE)
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52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 52. €T EZAAEBERAAEESR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREERE
Assets measured at fair value: BAREENEE :
Group
REE
2013
—g-—=
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—& F= wEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT AR®T

Available-for-sale investments At ERE 302,049 - 302,049
Company
¥iN/NE|
2013
—E—=
Level 1 Level 3 Total
EF— E=MH et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Available-for-sale investments A ERE 302,049 - 302,049
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52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 52. ¢ TEZAAREBERAAEESR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREERE)
Assets measured at fair value: BAREFEZEE .
Group
REE
2012
T4
Level 1 Level 3 Total
F—1 E= RET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETT ARETIT

Available-for-sale investments At ERE 89,642 144,201 233,843
Company
IN/NE]
2012
== =rF
Level 1 Level 3 Total
F—H E=4 @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETIT ARETT

Available-for-sale investments ot HHERE 89,642 = 89,642
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52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

SREMIECAABERAABER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ()

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during

the year are as follows:

DNREBRE
BARBEFEZEE | (#)

FRE=RAAEFENEFHUT :

2013 2012
—_E2—= —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Available-for-sale investments — unlisted AHEERE LT
At 1 January w—H—H 144,201 103,319
Total gains/(losses) recognised in T EL At 2 T M e R R Y
other comprehensive income Wiz, (B518) 1858 (144,201) 40,882
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H - 144,201
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAARESENERS
Group
REH
2013
—E—=fF
Level 1 Total
K st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Other payables — derivative financial HtENFIE - RANE
instruments at fair value SEMTESRTA 3,192 3,192
Liabilities measured at fair value: BRAARBEFENEE :
Group
REE
2012
T4
Level 1 Total
F— BT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
Other payables — derivative financial HtENFE - RANE
instruments at fair value AENITESRTA = -
The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at RZE—=FR=_F——F+=ZA=*+—
fair value as at 31 December 2013 and 2012. B ARRTEF(RAABEFENESHE
f& o
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and payables, other receivables and payables,
balances with related parties, interest-bearing bank loans,
other loans and long term payables. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts. The purpose is to manage the
commodity risks arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. B E b B B 12 R BUE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Financial risk management (continued) B 75 L B ' 2 ()
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FI=REBEE)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRIREMEEMESRERFTIEZNE
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other AR FIERalgeHIR S B EFE AER
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax HMAAE(EAETEEENTE) Y
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings): z .
Group
AEE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit
points before tax
FIRERIEM,  BiATFEE M,
(R 2) (R4
RMB’000
AR¥T T
2013 —E-—=5F
RMB AR 50 (317)
RMB AR (50) 317
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (7,860)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 7.860
United States dollars Ep 50 (6,520)
United States dollars E (50) 6,520
2012 —E——4F
RMB AR 50 (2,797)
RMB AR (50) 2,797
Hong Kong dollars BIT 50 (1,901)
Hong Kong dollars BIT (50) 1,901
United States dollars EYi 50 -
United States dollars ET (50) -
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Financial risk management (continued) B 75 ) B B B ()
(ii) Foreign currency risk (i) MR

53. A MEERERBE @

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions are
conducted in RMB, except for the purchases of imported
machinery and equipment and sales of dairy products
to Hong Kong and Macau. As at 31 December 2013,
substantially all of the Group’s assets and liabilities
were denominated in RMB except for the cash and
bank balances of approximately RMB244,157,000
(2012: RMB327,503,000), RMB193,832,000 (2012:
RMB12,565,000), RMB2,024,000 (2012: RMB23,000),
RMB9,960,000 (2012: Nil) and RMB13,202,000 (2012:
Nil) which were denominated in United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand dollars and
Danish Krone, respectively, the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB1,109,764,000
(2012: 405,425,000) and RMB10,035,130,000 (2012:
RMB38,852,000) which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars, respectively, and the
long term payables of approximately RMB50,447,000
(2012: RMB79,867,000) which were denominated in
United States dollars. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
Group’s results of operations. However, in the opinion of
the directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is under
management’s control.

AREBREBETEMRNPREAE B
Tﬁ%%&m&ﬁ%& % LA K [\ & 7B A
B HEZR BRI BALHOR S
LAAE’%#%& SHk o RZE—=F
+-—A=+—8 AEENEEKERE
B BT A ARY244,157,000
T(ZZE——F : AR%¥ 327,503,000
7T) ~ AE#193,832,000c(=ZFE—=
£ AR#12,5650007C) kA R#&
2024000 (=T ——_F : AR¥
23,0007t ) * AR ®9,960,0007T( ==&
——F )R AR®13,202,0007T(=
—FBNBEe MRTETD R
M%E‘@E*@ﬁ*%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂ
BRPAREN  TERITRHEMEER
H AR #1,109,764,000 0 ( — & ——
F : AR#405,425,0007T) R4 AR
#10,035,130,000 (= E—=—F : A
R #38,852,0007T) T35 Rl LA T ;o 36
TLABM  UWERERHEMFEHAR
#50,447,000 (B ——4F : AR
79,867,0007T ) JHASE T A BE L LA SN -
BRIEDEUARE BEMN - AR,
INERIEBE RS - AJREEAEE
RCE L - BEERBIINERBEE
BIEMEs] 2 H o
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate as
compared to United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars,
Euro, New Zealand dollars and Danish Krone with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities) and equity:

2013 —E—=F

2012 —E——F

53. i EMEE B ERBEKm

Bt 75 [ B B B (43

(i)

shus MR (a0
TERIREFA B8 B 55T 8 s
AT ARBEET BT BT
T 7T B 25 S B 0 R AT A R A
ABED(AEEEEREBNAAE
BB 4 7K o ) R TR A
s |

rE

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease) in
RMB rate before tax equity
ARMEZR HAr R E REZIE M,
EFHCFEE) i CRD) Om2)
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% AR®TR AR®TR

5 (257,726) (75,755)
(5) 257,726 75,755
5 55,505 (191,943)
(5) (55,505) 191,943
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)

(iii) Credit risk

(iv)

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group'’s sales are conducted on a cash
basis. The Group has implemented policies to ensure that
sales of products are made to distributors, who wish to
trade on credit terms, with an appropriate credit history
which is subject to periodic reviews. Receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading over
a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by performing
periodic reviews and evaluations of its liquidity with
regard to the industry characteristics, market conditions,
business strategies and changes in the Group's state of
affairs and adjusting the current and non-current portions
of the Group's debt portfolio on a proper and timely
basis. In addition, the Group aims to ensure a continuity
of funds and flexibility through the use of various means
of financing and by keeping committed credit lines
available.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. EREEEERBE@®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued
Financial risk management (continued) B 75 L B ' 2 ()

(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group'’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2013 based

(iv) 7B (80)
TREIR_F—=F+-_A=1+—H
REAVNETMENZINAEESRAE

on contractual undiscounted payments.

BRI EIER -

2013
Z8-ZF
Less than More than
On demand 1year  1to5years 5 years Total
REX —EHR -Z1f RENE b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARBT T
Interest-bearing bank and other SRROIREMEES
borrowings - 8,696,648 3,714,867 - 12,411,515
Other loans EEH% 92,565 - - - 92,565
Trade and bills payables ERETRER - 4,761,298 - - 4,761,298
Financial liabilities included in other ~ BERE M EMZUERTE
payables and accruals, excluding ~ RERz4BER T
current portion of long term DERBEMTIENED
payables oA - 2,289,402 - - 2,289,402
Long term payables REER R - 67,414 108,557 - 175,971
Other financial liabilities AthepafE - - 1,026,388 - 1,026,388
2012
“2——F
Less than More than
On demand 1 year 110 5 years 5 years Total
REX —EUR —E0F RENE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETT
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTREMEE
borrowings - 581,925 - - 581,925
Other loans HUER 24,915 = = = 24,915
Trade and bills payables EREFRRE - 3,629,460 - - 3,629,460
Financial liabilities included in other B ERE R FIELTE
payables and accruals, excluding ~ REFRZ&BBE £
current portion of long term BERBEMFIEAE
payables i) - 1,523,730 - - 1,523,730
Long term payables RAERZUE = 60,330 162,127 - 222,457
Other financial liabilities EeRAE - - 647,113 309,275 956,388
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)

(v) Equity price risk

53. A MEERERBE @

Bt 75 [ B B B (48
(v) BAEERER

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as available-for-
sale investments (note 28) as at 31 December 2013.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors

A& (B % B B 5 % 22 4 BUK T K (8 B &
HFEEELHBHRABLFARE R
B e RZFE—=F+=A=+—H
REBEE CBRAERRRBRIREDEA
A ERE (M 5E28) 2 @RI IR A%
ﬁ o

TRETEEMAA N ZERRER I
BRFFAEMAHRBEZEZERT - BA
REZDAAREES%EBRZHRE -
THEBRARENREHRR 2 REER
o RADTME - BRAIHHERA
KE  SAAYAHLEREEMHFRE
REE  UEARAEFEFRABER
MEZE - flERME

such as impairment which might impact the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Carrying

amount of
equity Change in
2013 investments equity

R ER
—E—=F BRMEE JiR 7 4% B
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARET T

Investments listed in: SIAATIEE KA :

Hong Kong — available-for-sale FE-—AHEE 302,049 15,102
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. M EMREEREREBEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Financial risk management (continued)
(v) Equity price risk (continued)

Bt 75 [ B B B (43
(v) BRAEREER(E)

Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2012 investments equity
&N =)
=== FRE(E AR 8
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBET T
Investments listed in: HIALATIEE HIRE
Hong Kong — available-for-sale BE—AMEHE 89,642 4,482
Unlisted investments RAREFTER
at fair value: FELEMIRE -
Available-for-sale Al & 144,201 7,210

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December
2012.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank loans and other loans, trade,
bills and other payables, accruals and customers’ deposits,
bonds payables, long term payables, other financial liabilities,
less cash and bank balances and long term time deposits, and
excludes discontinued operations. Capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as
at the ends of reporting periods were as follows:

53. A MEERERBE @

BEXREE (®)
AEBUEARGELREZER - EXREE
LR FEERUNERNBE N EFAGZ
Mo FABRIETEBETERMEMEE -
IR - BN EEREMEMNIE - BIR
ERAREFR € BNES  REBEMKIE
URHEMEMBESFEELN  BREK
WRITHEFEARESRTR U TNEEERLE
KBTS o BARZIEAN NGBS AEBIGAHE
= MIEHAMEAABLLRMNT

Group

rEE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTFT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B RITREMEE 11,697,041 573,777
Trade and bills payables JETBR R RIE 4,761,298 3,629,460
Other payables and accruals Hitn eI 5IB RIBRE R 4,354,840 2,550,911
Other loans HAnE 5K 92,565 24,915
Long term payables REAEN TR 100,678 1144, 561
Other financial liabilities Hivept B E 663,959 544,858
Less: Cash and bank balances B BRE RIRTTER (7,101,580) (5,752,041)
Less: Long term time deposits B KHIE BAfE R (1,083,548) =
Net debt FRE 13,485,253 1,716,473
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KA &l#G AE(GEZS 15,360,918 12,489,245
Capital and net debt = NEE = 28,846,171 14,205,718
Gearing ratio BARAGEL X 46.75% 12.08%
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54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

55.

56.

On 5 January 2014, the Company and WhiteWave Foods
Company (“WhiteWave”) entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Yashili (HK) and Guangdong Yashili Group
Company Limited to purchase 100% of the equity interests
in Yashili (Zhengzhou). The acquisition was made as part of
the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of beverage
products in the PRC. The acquisition will be in the form of
cash, with RMB376,660,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$482,900,000) paid at the acquisition date. The purchasers
will acquire Yashili (Zhengzhou) through a new incorporated
subsidiary of the Group, which will be held as to 51% by the
Group and 49% by WhiteWave.

On 12 February 2014, the board of directors announced
that, Danone Asia-Pacific Management Co., Ltd. (“Danone
Asia), COFCO Dairy Investments Limited (“COFCO Dairy
Investments”) and the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to issue and allot 121,236,357 shares (representing
approximately 6.2% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the issue of the Subscription Shares)
to COFCO Dairy Investments, a joint venture company which
upon Subscription Completion will be beneficially owned as to
approximately 31.4% by Danone Asia, approximately 51.7%
by COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited COFCO (HK) (“COFCO (HK)")
and approximately 16.9% by Arla Foods Amba.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
due to the adoption of revised IFRSs during the current year,
the accounting treatment and presentation of certain items
and balances in the financial statements have been revised
to comply with the new requirements. Accordingly, certain
prior year adjustments have been made, certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with
the current year’s presentation and accounting treatment, and
a third statement of financial position as at 1 January 2012
has been presented. In addition, the comparative statement
of profit or loss has been re-presented as if the operation
discontinued during the current year had been discontinued at
the beginning of the comparative period (note 12).

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2014.
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55.

56.

RZFE—HWmFEF—HAR  &x2a Kk
WhiteWaveFoodsCompany ([ WhiteWave |)
BT (FB) RBELF(ER )T IREE
Eipe 0 LAEBEHELF (EBIN)100% A -
WEEE AL BERE 2 —3 5 @ IEAHE
RABEERATISNEE - WBESEEURE
MR ET - AR¥376,660,0007T (HHE R
49482,900,0007% ) E A UES B B -
BH B BEBANEBH MK 2 TARIKRE
FEF (BB ) » FEA A (BRI ) 4 R AN B
WhiteWave 7 Bll#F B 51% &k49% o

R-ZE—NFEF-_A+—H EBEFEE5/M
Danone Asia-Pacific Management Co., Ltd.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

The following is a summary of the audited financial statements of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries for the respective years.

RESULTS
2013
—E-=F
RMB’000
AR¥ET R
Revenue WA 43,356,908
Profit before tax from REFELEEL 2
continuing operations 54 B AI)E 2,204,503
Income tax expense FTiSHi %z b (366,713)
Profit for the year from continuing? B B &4 275 2 K
operations EFE 1,837,790
Profit for the year from REERIEREREZ
discontinued operations ZREF 24,198
Profit for the year RERMH 1,861,988
Attributable to: DA T7 R
Owners of the Company ZAN/NCIE 2N 1,630,925
Non-controlling interests FErE R AR PR i 231,063
Proposed dividend B R 367,053
Earnings per share attributable to Z/ 7] @ HES AJE
ordinary equity holders of the  {EFRABF (AR
Company (RMB) (note (i) 70) (PRREG))
For profit for the year REF|H
- Basic — &K 0.904
- Diluted — 48 0.896

TIRPERFAXARQB(ARF ) REF
RAR TR EFE 2 RERVEREME ©

E
Year ended
BEt-A=1+—HILEE
2012 2011 2010 2009
T ZT——% ZT-TF ZIZTTHF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETL
Restated
(/&)
35,999,990 37,387,844 30,265,415 25,710,460
1,733,863 2,060,630 1,538,102 1,346,346
(245,476) (276,081) (182,185) (126,240)
1,488,387 1,784,549 1,355,917 1,220,106
429 - - -
1,488,816 1,784,549 1,355,917 1,220,106
1,303,101 1,589,274 1,237,273 1,115,799
185,715 195,275 118,644 104,307
282,917 349,953 278,078 245,465
0.737 0.908 0.712 0.681
0.737 0.905 0.711 N/A
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

EE BENER

At 31 December

R+=B=+-—H
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—%-=f —T-—f —F—F —T-TF —FTNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARET:T
Restated Restated
(&) (&)
Total assets BEE 40,339,396 20,915,894 19,999,679 17,305,841 14,096,126
Total liabilities maE 22,328,258 7,794,787 7,950,859 7,088,332 5,184,432
Equity attributable to ARAEEA
owners of the Company FEIE R 15,360,918 12,489,245 11,471,058 9,758,064 8,575,678
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R A 2,650,220 631,862 577,762 459,445 336,016
Note: BT -
(i)  The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to ordinary () AR A EBAHEA AREER AN O HEEHRN

owners of the Company is set out in note 14 to the consolidated A MR E14

financial statements.
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